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Punch Taverns: Our Punch Taverns leased
estate consists of over 7,500 pubs, which
are leased to our dedicated retailers. We
actively support our retailers, covering all
aspects of running a pub business.

7,561

Spirit: Our Spirit managed estate consists
of pubs which are managed and operated
by a talented team of over 20,000 employees.
The managed estate is divided into four
divisions comprising of Quality Food, Value
Food, City and Locals.

887
Managed pubs

Leased pubs
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Punch is the leading pub company in the UK,
with over 8,400 pubs across its leased and
managed portfolio.

Our vision is to be the pre-eminent pub group in
the UK; lean, innovative and dynamic; constantly
striving to provide a great service to our pubs,
our customers and our colleagues; driven by
a passion for excellence in everything we do.



• We continue to pursue the creation of the highest quality pub estate

Like for like pub contribution for the leased business increased
2.7%; like for like sales for the core managed estate rose by 3.5%

The average profit per pub was up by 11% in the leased business and
up 15% in the managed business

563 pubs transferred from managed to leased in the current year,
in addition to 74, which completed in 2006

The disposal of 986 non-core smaller pubs; 178 pubs acquired
(including 82 Mill House Inns)

A continued investment of £202 million spent on enhancing over
1,500 pubs across the estate

• Integration of acquired businesses completed and synergies extracted

• The Matthew Clark joint venture further expands Group capabilities and
retailer support

• Completion of £825 million refinancing in July at an effective rate
of 6.4%, ahead of current debt market tightening

EBITDA†

2007

2006

2005

281.7

249.6

206.8

2003

2004 156.4

113.3

7,561
2006 :7,846

Leased estate pub numbers

Basic earnings per share†

2007

2006

2005

15.3p

13.4p

11.3p

2003

2004 9.0p

6.5p

#

Key Performance Indicators

Profit before tax†+9%

Full year dividends +14%

Operational highlights

+13%

+13%

† Before exceptional items.
# Subject to approval at AGM.

887
2006 :1,410

Managed estate pub numbers

2007

2006

2005

663.6

606.3

413.5

2003

2004 339.4

234.6

2007

2006

2005

84.4

74.9

66.4

2003

2004 48.8

39.3



G

A

C

D

B

E

J
H

F

L

K

I

Group at a glance

2 www.punchtaverns.com

Punch Taverns leased pubs are all different; our success
comes from finding retailers who are as passionate
about pubs as we are. They bring great local
knowledge about their customers which enables us
to work together to create an individual retail offer
and great customer experience. We strive to make
our pubs the heart of the local community and provide
our retailers with advice and support to help them
grow their businesses and achieve their ambitions.

Leased estate: The quality of our leased estate has
improved with the transfer of 563 pubs from our
managed estate during the financial year. We have
also acquired 85 high quality pubs and disposed
of 933 less sustainable pubs; the overall result is
we have a stronger, leaner more attractive portfolio.

Leased estate

7,561
Pubs in12 regions

Operating regions

% of
Region Pubs estate

A Scotland 457 6

B North East, Yorkshire, Humberside & Lincolnshire 810 11

C North West & Cumbria 558 7

D North Wales, Cheshire & Shropshire 545 7

E West Yorkshire & Manchester 867 12

F South Yorkshire & East Midlands 553 7

G West Midlands to East Anglia 808 11

H South Wales, Cotswolds & South West Midlands 530 7

I Bristol & South West 547 7

J South Midlands & West London to Isle of Wight 808 11

K London 541 7

L Hertfordshire, Essex, East Sussex & Kent 537 7
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Managed estate: We have significantly improved
the quality of our Spirit managed estate, through
the acquisition of 82 pubs from Mill House Inns
and development investment of £44m across
our four divisions: Quality Food, Value Food,
City and Locals.

Locals
Locals are at the centre of the community,
and therefore at the heart of our business.
Similar to the City model our Locals offer
great value food and drink and always
offer a reason to visit.

Quality Food
Catering for the discerning diner, our
Quality Food division is spearheaded
by our Chef & Brewer concept.
These pubs offer a superior dining
experience in distinctive surroundings.

Value Food
An everyday affordable family dining pub,
including our ‘Two For One’ promotional
offer. The Value Food division has over 70
Wacky Warehouse indoor play barns across
the country, including a new Coffee Corner
for parents to enjoy.

City
Urban living meets a traditional offer across
our City division. These pubs tend to be
landmark sites in prime locations in London
and other major towns and cities. These pubs
are a great place to enjoy fine food and drink
and are popular with a varied mix of business
people, tourists and local residents.

150
pubs

198
pubs

184
pubs

304
pubs

* 51 pubs do not fall into our four concepts.
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Smoke free
We hold the view that the smoking ban will have a positive
effect on the industry in the medium to long-term. However, it
is too early as yet to evaluate any impact of the smoking bans
introduced in England and Wales earlier this year.

Our experience from Scotland is that a full year's trading,
including the winter period when the smoking pubgoers’ resolve
will be tested, is needed in order to establish any long-term
trends. Nevertheless, our Scottish pubs have now returned to
growth and we are fully prepared in terms of smoking solutions
in our managed and leased businesses in England and Wales.

The ban has provided the industry with an opportunity to
attract a different customer base which is reflected in the
growth in food sales, up by 6% (to 38% of sales) in 2007
within the core managed estate. Moreover, we have received
considerable feedback from our retailers about the improved
environment and the positive reaction of customers.

Pubs – the home of responsible drinking
The British pub is one of the few remaining components
unique to the UK’s social culture and yet it is constantly being
put under pressure by misguided challenges. We are strongly
of the view that the pub is the best place for responsible adults
to socialise and enjoy great food, drink and entertainment. We
believe that the government should recognise this and make
positive efforts to protect the pub industry.

However, as the largest operator of pubs in the UK, we also
recognise our responsibility to lead on managing issues such

as antisocial behaviour and underage drinking. There is a need
as an industry to ensure that all pubs trade responsibly and we
therefore actively support initiatives such as ‘Challenge 21’,
‘Best Bar None’ and local pub watch schemes. We are also
about to introduce a risk assessment review on a pub by pub
basis, developed by the British Beer and Pub Association (BBPA)
for the industry as a whole, and we will continue to work
constructively with local authorities, police forces, government,
industry bodies and our retailers and pub managers continue
to raise standards within the industry.

Changes to legislation
The Group operates in an industry which is, and may be in
the future, subject to significant changes in many areas of
government regulation and legislation. The Group may be
significantly affected by changes, which may be outside of
its direct control; such as extension of the smoking ban to
outside areas, changes to the legal age of drinking from 18
to 21, introduction of alcohol disorder zones, changes to
licensing regulations or costs and other financial regulation
changes such as rates of taxation. The Group monitors
regulatory developments and works very closely with all
parties to support industry initiatives.

Attracting and retaining the right people
Recruiting and retaining good quality people is fundamental
to the success of the Group. Competition is strong for retailers
with both the financial resources and commercial acumen. The
leased business continues to review ways to attract high calibre
retailers to our business model by offering in-pub support and

Current industry issues

Operating strategy
Our operating strategy
continues to focus upon
delivering a high quality
pub experience to each
of our customers.

HIGH QUALITY PUBS

EFFICIENT
SUPPORT CAPABILITY

WELL
RU

N

PROPERTY

DE
BT

INVESTMENT

Business review
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award winning training. Our managed business, with its market
leading training and competitive remuneration, helps to ensure
our pubs are staffed by highly skilled individuals. Succession
planning and leadership programmes exist within our head
offices to retain the best talent and develop potential leaders
for the future.

Consumer spending trends
The economy has a significant impact on consumer spending
levels and any adverse changes to general economic conditions
may limit the amount of disposable income for leisure activities,
such as visiting the pub. Seasonality and weather also impacts
consumer expenditure in our pubs, with the summer and
holiday periods, including Christmas and New Year, being
busy periods of trading for the Group. Thanks to the quality
of our pubs, we are well positioned to make the most of
difficult trading times.

High quality pubs
We enhance the quality of our customers' environment
by continually investing in our key concepts within the
managed business, whilst at the same time we have a
programme of investment in conjunction with our retailers
in the leased business. We also continue to improve the
overall quality of our estate by acquiring new pubs and
disposing of those that are less sustainable in the long-term.

Well run
We don’t just invest in property, we invest in people and
by recruiting the highest quality Retailers, Pub Managers,
Deputy Managers, Chefs and Team Players we maintain
our competitive edge. We have robust recruitment
procedures and only employ people who share the
same passion for pubs as we do.

Efficient support capability
We provide our teams and our retailers with an extensive
support network through our operations team and central
support services. We offer award winning training and
provide recognition where it is due. In our Punch Taverns
leased business we want to create a shared vision with
our retailers and add value to their business. In our Spirit
managed business we want to drive high standards and
create the most compelling offers for our customers.

Financing strategy
The overriding objective of our financing strategy is to
continue to maximise the long-term shareholder value
of the Group. Our strategy to date of investment and
acquisition has delivered excellent returns for shareholders.
The property component of our business is a highly valuable
constituent of the model and supports the use of long-term
amortising investment grade debt which has continued to
demonstrate its robustness during a period when financial
markets have tightened.

More information on how we manage our business
risks can be found on page 20p20

A smoking solution at The Gateshead Arms, Gateshead.

Hannah, a Team Player at the Fradley Arms, wearing her Challenge 21 badge.
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WE HAVE ACTIVELY PURSUED
OUR STRATEGY TO CREATE A
HIGH QUALITY ESTATE WHICH
IS DELIVERING GROWTH
Giles Thorley, Chief Executive



Operational review
Overview
The financial year ended 18 August 2007 has been one of
significant change and business improvement for Punch Taverns.
We have delivered substantial improvements in quality and
profitability with growth in EBITDA per pub of 11% and 15%
in the leased and managed estates respectively, reflecting the
largest and one of the best quality pub estates in the country.

Delivering this position has required unprecedented levels of
activity. The corporate strategy behind the acquisition of the
Spirit Group has been successfully executed. Of the 1,830 directly
managed pubs acquired, 400 were sold, 637 converted from
managed to leased (including 74 last year and 563 in the current
year), with the remaining 793 pubs retained as managed. In
addition, we acquired 178 pubs (including 82 Mill House Inns),
disposed of 986 non-core smaller pubs and completed over
1,500 individual pub investment schemes, investing £202 million,
to improve the quality of experience offered to our customers.
All this activity has once again enhanced the quality of our estate
leaving us with some 7,561 leased pubs and 887 managed pubs
as at 18 August 2007.

Our strategy remains to assist and support our retailers and pub
managers by maximising the trading opportunity for them and
their pubs. To further improve the service given to our pubs, our
field and central support teams have been completely refocused
over recent months. Furthermore, we have successfully
renegotiated contracts with most of our major suppliers onto
more beneficial terms to reflect our high quality estate.

The reorganisation and integration of field and central support
teams has already resulted in significant cost reductions with
in year managed overhead savings in excess of £14 million.
Further managed overhead savings are anticipated for 2008.

Against this backdrop of intense operational activity, our business
has continued to perform well and all of our key financial
measures have improved, as highlighted on page 1. Across the
year, like for like profits within our leased business were up by
2.7%, and like for like sales within our core managed estate were
up by 3.5%. This level of performance was all the more pleasing
as it was achieved despite a difficult final quarter where
unprecedented poor weather and flooding restricted the trading
for many of our pubs.

Revenue was £1,705 million, representing an increase of 10% on
the previous year. On a pre-exceptional basis, EBITDA was £664
million, up 9%, profit before tax increased 13% to £282 million
and similarly basic earnings per share rose by 13% to 84.4p.

In recognition of these results, the Board is recommending a final
dividend of 10.2p per ordinary share, taking the full year dividend
to 15.3p, an increase of 14% on last year. The final dividend will
be payable on 23 January 2008 to shareholders on the register
on 4 January 2008.

The successful completion of such a demanding level of activity
together with the delivery of an improved business performance
is testament to the hard work and commitment of everyone
connected with Punch Taverns. We would particularly like to
congratulate and thank our pub retailers and managers and all
of our staff and colleagues for their support during the year.

Operating review
Our operating strategy continues to focus upon delivering a high
quality pub experience to each of our customers.

We achieve this through three key attributes:

• Passionate about our pubs: continually enhancing the quality
of our customers’ environment within each pub

• Passionate about our people: attracting the best people to run
our pubs and constantly striving to deliver high standards of
customer experience

• Passionate about service: delivering industry-leading training and
support to our pubs to ensure we provide the best customer service

Passionate about our pubs
We have continued to make significant investment in developing
the quality of our estate.

Over the last financial year we have completed over 1,500
individual pub investment schemes across the leased and managed
estates at a total cost of £202 million. These schemes are designed
to improve the quality of experience and environment enjoyed by
our customers. Much of this activity has also enabled our pubs to
ensure that appropriate solutions were determined on a site by site
basis ahead of the smoking ban, which was introduced in England
(July) and Wales (April) earlier this year.

We do not overtly brand our pubs, our objective being to establish
a true ‘local’ in each of our sites. Our focus on maximising the value
of each site allows us to determine the most effective approach to
operating each pub.

Smaller, lower turnover pubs, which lend themselves to a more
entrepreneurial management style, are independently operated
within our leased delivery model. Larger, higher turnover pubs,
typically taking on average £16,000 per week, lend themselves
to the managed model.

Passionate about our people
Whether a pub is leased or managed, we believe that attracting the
best people to run our pubs is pivotal in determining the delivery of
a high level of service to our customers.

Within the leased estate, we have received enquiries from over
6,600 applicants in the year and have let a record 1,800 pubs
onto substantive agreements, with the transfer to lease process
attracting some particularly high calibre retailers to Punch.

We continue to develop our partnerships with our retailers,
with over 4,000 retailers attending our award-winning training
programmes in the year. Demonstrating our commitment to
sharing the success of our business with our retailers, average
retailer profitability has improved in line with the improved quality
of the leased estate, up by 9%, to an average of c.£38,000 per
annum. Our approach has seen other tangible benefits in terms
of lower overdue debt levels, and rental concession levels remain
unchanged at c.1% of rent roll.

Within the managed estate, we launched an in-house training
academy for managers and every pub manager has completed
an annual personal development programme. We constantly
measure our customer service delivery through independent
mystery customer visits. Across the year, service scores have
improved by 5% and food quality measures have improved
by 10%, all due to the efforts of our colleagues.

Passionate about service
We continually strive to improve the quality of service to our
customers and believe a key strength of our operating approach
is the delivery of industry-leading service and support to each of
our pubs.
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Business review continued

Passionate about
our pubs

CONTINUALLY ENHANCING
THE QUALITY OF OUR
CUSTOMERS’ ENVIRONMENT
WITHIN EACH PUB

Anita Moores, enjoying her afternoon coffee break in the Green Man, London
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Whilst the leased and managed estates are operated separately,
our support teams ensure that best practice, key learnings and
synergy benefits are shared across the Group.

During the year, our field and central support teams have been
completely reorganised to improve the level of service given to
each of our pubs. The next challenge will be to complete the
successful integration of central support functions, such as IT,
to achieve further efficiencies and cost savings.

Consolidation of buying functions across the two operations has
also allowed us to renegotiate virtually all of our major supplier
contracts to reflect our transformed estate whilst delivering
improved service levels and product offerings to our customers.

Finally, during the year we acquired a 50% stake in Matthew
Clark, the UK’s leading independent drinks wholesaler. Working
with our partner, Constellation, we believe we can greatly enhance
the wine offer to our pubs, delivering industry leading product
quality and choice.

Financial update
We continue to see good opportunities for further investment
to improve the quality of our pubs either through acquisition or
investment in the existing estate. During the year, cash generated
from the management of our finances has funded further site
acquisitions (including Mill House Inns and the Matthew Clark
joint venture) to a value of £139 million (net of acquired debt)
and investment in the estate of £202 million.

As part of our ongoing assessment of the quality of our estate,
986 pubs – which we considered to have less sustainable prospects
– were disposed of during the year. The disposal raised proceeds of
£405 million, which was used to pay down bank debt.

Our debt strategy continues to leverage the improved quality of our
pub estate. 94% of our estate is either freehold or long leasehold,

which forms good security for the use of debt finance to efficiently
fund our business. With the improved quality and size of our pub
estate, we have been able to further improve the efficiency of our
debt finance. In July, we successfully refinanced £825 million of
debt at an average interest rate of 6.4%, ahead of the tightening
debt market, which became apparent in August.

Of the £1.4 billion debt taken out to fund the Spirit and Mill House
Inns acquisitions, all but £43 million had been repaid at the year
end date, the remainder having been fully repaid since.

Year end net debt fell to £4.9 billion (2006: £5.1 billion)
representing a multiple of 7.4x (2006: 8.3x) our reported Group
EBITDA. The debt amortises over terms extending to 28 years and
is all effectively at fixed rates of interest. Interest cover maintained
at 2.0x in the year.

A net exceptional credit of £54 million was recorded in the year.
One-off expenditure on the completion of the integration and
transfer programme amounted to £42 million, offset by a reduction
in property liabilities in the acquired Spirit business of £22 million.
Costs of terminating financing arrangements were £11 million
whilst the mark to market of certain interest rate swaps resulted in
a credit of £54 million. The tax effect of these items together with
the release of various tax provisions gave rise to an exceptional tax
credit of £31 million.

The effective tax charge, before exceptional items, was 20% (2006:
22%) and included the benefit of ongoing indexation allowance
taxation credits. Tax paid in the year was £19 million, an effective
rate of 7%.

Operational update and new financial reporting
We will issue our first Interim Management Statement on 16
January 2008, to coincide with our Annual General Meeting.

It should also be noted that financial year 2008 will be a 53
week year.

The Gateshead Arms, Gateshead
The Gateshead has always been
considered a successful pub, but
our aim was to update the site,
whilst maintaining a traditional
drinking atmosphere, without
alienating the ‘locals’. At the same
time we wanted to create a space
that would appeal to a younger
clientele and provide an urban

garden on a piece of wasteland
to the rear of the pub that would
improve the outdoor experience, as
well as offer a unique smoking area.

Since the investment was completed
in July 2007, we have seen a dramatic
impact on the business, with barrelage
exceeding our forecasts and sales up
on last year.

Blue Ball, Sidmouth
Since 1385 there has been a pub at
the site of the Blue Ball, which has
been run by the Newton family since
1912, until a fire burnt the property
to the ground in March 2006. Many
businesses may have counted their
losses and moved on, but Punch
Taverns refused to allow the Blue Ball
to disappear and working closely with
the local authorities we began

drawing up plans to rebuild the Grade
II listed building, thatch roof and all.

After a total joint investment of just
under £2 million and 12 months
of hard work, the Blue Ball finally
opened in September and once again
Rodger and Linda Newton took up
their rightful place behind the bar,
where we hope the family tradition
will continue for many years to come.



Strategy
Our overriding objective is to continue to maximise the long-term
shareholder value of the Group. Our strategy to date of investment
and acquisition has delivered excellent returns for shareholders.

We have always believed that the property component of our
business is a highly valuable constituent of the model. Whilst we
are constantly seeking to maximise the use and the value of the
real estate, we will continue to evaluate other ways (including REITs)
of extracting the best value from our assets and maximising
shareholder returns.

Our current business structure and the use of long-term amortising
investment grade debt has continued to demonstrate its robustness
during a period when financial markets have tightened.

Management changes
Punch continues to ensure that we have a management team of
the highest calibre to match the aspirations for the success of the
business. During the year there have been a number of changes
to the management team.

In January, Phil Cox stepped down as Chairman of the Group. Phil
was involved with Punch prior to flotation in 2002 and has been a
major contributor to the success of the business. He was succeeded
by Peter Cawdron who has been on the Board since 2003 and
brings a wealth of experience as a Director of GCap Media plc,
Compass Group plc, ProStrakan plc, Capita Group plc and Johnston
Press plc. In April, Deborah Kemp took over from Adrian Fawcett
as Managing Director of the leased business and on 8 November
2007 we announced her appointment to the Board. Deborah has
been with the Group since 1998 and has extensive experience of
both the property and operations side of the business.

In September, we announced the retirement of Robert McDonald
as Finance Director. Robert, with 25 years of experience in the
sector, provided the Group with a huge amount of support during
the early years as a public company. He has been replaced by Phil
Dutton, former Chief Financial Officer of Matalan plc, who joined
the Board as a Non-executive Director in January 2007.

Finally, we announced on 8 November 2007 the appointment of
a new Board Director. Mark Pain joins the Board as an independent
Non-executive Director. Mark is currently Chief Financial Officer
of Barratt Developments plc and was previously Group Finance
Director of Abbey National Group plc.

Current trading and outlook
Since the year end and to the date of this report, the managed
estate has traded broadly in line with last year’s sales levels, with
an increased proportion of the sales mix coming from food. In
the leased estate the growth trends seen in the second half of
last year have continued into the current financial year.

Whilst the sector is experiencing a degree of uncertainty and is
not without its short-term challenges, we remain confident about
the long-term future prospects for our business.

Punch benefits from an extremely high quality pub estate and
the Group has never been in better shape to face any future
challenges. Over the last 18 months the quality of our estate has
been significantly transformed, our acquisitions have been fully
integrated and synergies delivered, and there is clear evidence that
the financial health of our retailers remains robust. We continue
to see good opportunities to grow the business and have an
excellent platform in place from which we can further develop
and progress.

Business review continued
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The foundation of our relationship
with our retailers is through our
Business Relationship Managers
(BRMs). To further enhance the
support we provide to retailers in
their pubs we have introduced 26
Operations Managers, the majority
of appointments being made from
our pool of BRMs. The Operations

Managers are responsible for
developing and coaching a team
of five BRMs. The increased level of
support for the BRM will enable us
to deliver greater value as well as
consistent business advice, which
helps our retailers build stronger
relationships and businesses in
the future.

Restructuring our Punch Taverns
leased operations team

Spirit Academy
We have refreshed our whole
approach to Pub Manager
training, developing completely
new courses which are delivered
through our refurbished Learning
and Development Academy
in Northampton.

It takes a manager around six months
to complete the programme.

Managers undergo three levels of
Academy training and in between
courses spend time gaining practical
management experience in the
Spirit estate.

They are required to prepare and
implement a practical action plan after
each level, which is later assessed by
their Business Development Manager.

Michael Bridger accepting this year’s BRM of the Year Award.

Pub Managers graduating from the Academy.



Passionate about
our people

ATTRACTING THE BEST PEOPLE
TO RUN OUR PUBS AND
CONSTANTLY STRIVING TO
DELIVER HIGH STANDARDS
OF CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE

Melanie, one of our Team Players, pours the perfect pint



Business review continued

Passionate
about service

DELIVERING INDUSTRY-
LEADING TRAINING AND
SUPPORT TO OUR PUBS
TO ENSURE WE PROVIDE
THE BEST CUSTOMER SERVICE

Kiernan Lynch, Operations Manager, London



Punch Taverns plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2007 13

Corporate social responsibility
Community responsibility
Responsible retailing is at the very heart of what we do at
Punch Taverns and we aim to ensure all of our pubs provide a
safe and controlled environment in which we sell and monitor
alcohol consumption.

Our Spirit managed pubs embrace the whole ethos of
responsible retailing and have committed to the nationally
recognised ‘Challenge 21’ scheme. All Managers and Team
Players have undergone training and we provide our pub
teams with ‘Challenge 21’ posters and badges.

We have actively promoted the scheme to our leasehold
estate and encourage licensees to always ask for a
recognised form of ID.

Training forms an important part of our strategy on responsible
retailing. We are proud of the effectiveness of our ‘Profit
Through Quality’ (PTQ) course, which is available to retailers
in our leased estate and includes powerful messages on the
need to trade in a professional and responsible manner. During
the last year we held 44 courses and trained 1,166 delegates.

Drinking responsibly also forms part of Spirit’s training
programme, plus we have reviewed promotions and pricing
in all managed pubs to ensure we still offer value for money,
but never encourage excessive drinking.

While this work largely concentrates on alcohol consumption,
we have to recognise that responsible retailing extends to all
parts of a pub business. Our latest awareness drives have been
to highlight the need for responsibility around gaming
in pubs and food offered to customers.

We encourage our pubs to operate the British Beer and Pub
Association’s code of practice on gaming and all machines in
the Punch estate carry both the GamCare gambling helpline
number and a sticker highlighting ‘no under 18s to play’.

Within our Spirit managed estate we are leading the way on
responsible food retailing with the relaunch of a new children’s
menu in our family-friendly pubs. The fat and salt content on
many of our main courses have been reduced and we now
offer Chicken Tikka Masala as gluten free. We have included a
nutritional table on the menu to give parents greater guidance,
our vegetable portion sizes of 85g contributes as one portion
in a child’s five a day and our ‘pick 'n' mix’ and children's meals
selection have no artificial colours, flavours or sweeteners.

The net result of all this work is that our Retailers, Pub Managers
and Team Players are fully aware of their responsibilities to both
customers and the local communities in which they operate.

As a business we have also developed stronger links with our
local community around our head office locations in Burton
upon Trent, Staffordshire. Our charity work has taken on a
new dimension with the creation of The Punch Community
Spirit Project, designed to allocate money raised by our
employees to locally based charities and associations. These
donations tend to be raised by our Spirit managed pubs and
through our Social Committee, ‘After-Hours’.

In addition donations of £25,000 have each been made to
Great Ormond Street Hospital, Breast Cancer Care, the NSPCC,
Comic Relief and Children in Need through fundraising in our
Spirit managed estate. Other local campaigns include the ‘British
Institute of Innkeeping’s’ (BII) Schools Project – an initiative that
educates teenagers to be responsible with alcohol. So far we
have sponsored five school projects in the Burton area.

We play an active role in our industry and we are corporate
members of the BII who are the professional body for the
licensed retail sector. We encourage membership through
funding the first year’s membership fees for our retailers.
We are also members of the British Beer and Pub Association
(BBPA) and actively support the Federation of Licensed Victuallers
Association. The importance of the pub as the centre of the

Profit through quality
We have continued to drive quality
and high service standards in our
Punch Taverns leased estate through
running our successful ‘Profit
Through Quality’ courses. The course
covers retail standards, the perfect
draught dispense and profitable
merchandising, as well as covering
essentials such as responsible
retailing. In the last year 1,655
retailers have completed the course.

Wacky Warehouse
Wacky Warehouse is the UK’s best
known indoor play barn and is part
of our Value Food division. We have
73 up and down the country,
entertaining over four million children
per year between them. To make the
experience as enjoyable for mums
and dads as it is for their kids we have
updated our sites to create an adult
area of the play barn based on
highstreet coffee shop chains.
They feature an array of comfortable
seating from leather settees to soft

armchairs, plasma screens plus daily
newspapers and magazines. The new
adult areas have really added to the
overall experience of visiting a Wacky
Warehouse and provide a great area
for parents to chill out and chat while
their children play.

This year we have created 50 new
adult areas in our Wacky Warehouses.

It was announced earlier this year
that Wacky Warehouse was voted
best Kids Party Venue 2007.
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community should not be forgotten. We have long been
supporters of HRH The Prince of Wales’ ‘Pub is the Hub’ initiative
aimed at using the community pub, particularly in rural areas, as
a focus for local facilities such as shops, post offices and banks.
During the year we contributed £25,000 to ‘Pub is the Hub’ and
are working closely with a number of regional development
agencies to implement schemes around the estate.

People responsibility
Our people are what make our pubs unique and since the
launch of our new values, ‘PROUD to be Punch’, standing for
Pride, Respect, One Team, Understanding and Do It Once, Do It
Right, we have brought unity and continuity across the Group,
reaffirming the integrity we expect from our employees.

It is our strategy to attract the most talented individuals who
are as passionate about our pubs as we are. As a company we
are committed to providing market-leading pay and benefits
packages for our employees, where we aim to link performance
and reward.

Over 70% of our office and field teams took part in our annual
employee opinion survey, the first ever combined Punch and
Spirit survey. We have used this feedback to shape our ‘people’
plans and many of this year’s programmes have been developed
in response to our findings.

During the last year our membership of the Punch Taverns
Share Incentive Plan has had an uptake of 64% of eligible
employees, and more recently we have rolled out the scheme
to over 20,000 employees in our Spirit managed business.

Following feedback from our opinion survey we have rolled
out our popular Spirit discount vouchers to all of our employees,
which incentivise our teams to visit our pubs. We encourage
our employees to make the most of their pub visits by completing
our ‘Customerholic’ feedback forms on the standards within the
pub. We can gain valuable feedback that helps improve our
standards of service and cleanliness.

We understand the importance of regular communication
with our teams and during the year we have simplified our
communication methods and brought together some of the
best tools within both businesses. We held our annual conference
in September 2006, which for the first time brought together
just over 1,000 office and field staff from both the leased and
managed businesses. In October 2006 we also held our first
Pub Manager Conference for all the Spirit Pub Managers.

Our Learning and Development team have expanded the range
of programmes and tools available to help develop our people
and in December 2006 we received a National Innkeeping
Training Award (NITA) for the Best Development Programme

for our coaching scheme, a two year initiative for all managers,
line managers, heads of department and our executive team.
Run in three phases, the programme aims to identify training
needs, coach on the skills required to meet those needs and
finally put them into practice.

One of our learning and development managers, Sarah
Johnstone, was highly commended in the Professional Trainer
of the Year category. The NITAs are organised annually by
professional trade body the BII.

We have developed our succession plans and introduced a
Leadership Framework, designed to nurture the leadership
of our senior team. Already 31 senior managers have attended
our Authentic Leadership programme, which was opened by
our Chief Executive, Giles Thorley.

Within our Spirit managed business we’ve invested £60,000 in
a new Learning and Development Academy, Northampton.

All new Pub Managers undergo three levels of training at the
Learning and Development Academy and in between courses
spend time gaining practical management experience in the
Spirit estate. Since it opened in May the first two groups of
Pub Managers have successfully graduated.

The Learning and Development Academy is equipped with
training rooms with electronic whiteboards, a working cellar,
drinks dispense equipment, an IT suite and training kitchen.

We have also used our opinion survey feedback to review our
recognition programmes and recently we’ve launched our new
Group-wide recognition scheme, ‘PROUD’, which rewards
people for living our values.

This year we have also recognised our Spirit Pub Managers
through a brand new reward and recognition programme,
‘Spirit Stars’. The programme monitors performance of our
managers through set criteria, including sales performance,
customer service, cost control and Team Player training.

When we say we are passionate about our people, we don’t just
mean our employees, we work in partnership with our retailers
who run our leased pubs and we don’t succeed unless they do.

Attracting talented, motivated and customer-focused individuals
to run our leased pubs is about demonstrating our ability to
provide them with the support and experience they need to run
a successful business. During the year we attracted over 6,600
applicants and let 1,800 pubs.

We want our retailers to have the best possible start to their
business and that is why we have introduced a new Retailer
Welcome Pack, which contains all the information they need
to help them through the first six months in their pub.
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Our ‘NITA’ award winning retailer induction programme,
‘Modern Licensed Retailing’, and our ‘Profit Through Quality’
course, continue to dominate our retailer training programme
with over 13,250 training days held in the year.

This year we have been short-listed for Professional Trainer
of the Year, Best Development Programme in non Managed
estates and Best Area Manager / BDM Development Award.

We are committed to communicating openly with our retailers
in terms of the level of support that we offer them and in their
obligations in working in partnership with us. We are proud that
in the last year our new Retailer Charter was one of the first pub
company charters to be accredited by BIIBAS, the British Institute
of Innkeeping Benchmarking Accreditation Services. The Charter
covers all aspects of our relationship with them, from the routes
to applying for a pub, how the rent review process works, to
how to transfer their agreement.

We continue to recognise best practice in our leased estate
through our retailer reward and recognition programme, the
Shine awards. We launched this year’s programme at the end
of the financial year.

Environmental responsibility
We understand that businesses account for around 40% of the
UK’s carbon emissions and we recognise the environmental and
business benefits of reducing energy consumption. This year we
have worked closely with the Annual Carbon Disclosure Project
to improve our carbon footprint across the whole supply chain,
with the intention of an estimated carbon base reduction of
17% by 2010.

This year we have made good progress. In January we appointed a
Carbon Manager, whose role is focused on; reviewing our energy
consumption, understanding our carbon usage, quantifying our
impact on the environment and implementing new initiatives to
reduce our consumption in our Spirit managed pubs. At the same
time the Carbon Manager will also make sure the lessons we have
learnt are applied across our leased estate.

We ran trials across 51 of our pubs, which had ‘smart metering’
installed. These smart meter systems offer a real time view of
water, electricity and gas consumption. Results will then be
analysed to identify exactly where savings can be made before
the scheme is extended to other Spirit pubs later this year. Punch
has invested £133,408 in energy saving solutions, such as
improved insulation, more efficient boilers, heating controls and
low energy lighting.

Managers attended green workshops to learn more about
energy efficient business practices and prepared energy
reduction action plans for their individual pubs.

Initial trials over 51 pubs continue to show savings above the
levels previously reported. This has been driven by behavioural
change activity, Automated Metre Readers (AMRs) installation
and improvements in lighting and controls. Lessons we have learnt
in the managed side of the business from the trials will be shared
across the leased operation. Our effort in this area is helping us
to prepare for future legislation in regard to carbon emissions.

We have also reviewed our energy consumption across our head
office locations in Burton upon Trent. In June 2007 we held our
first Green Week, which was supported by the Carbon Trust and
the environmental consultancy company Enviros. During Green
Week we implemented a number of carbon friendly
programmes across the Group.

In January 2007 the Spirit managed business was short-listed
for the Environment Agency Water Efficiency Awards 2007 in
the leisure and tourism category.

The award recognised organisations that lead by example in
cutting down on the water they use.

Neighbour responsibility
We encourage all of our retailers and Pub Managers to build
good relationships with their neighbours as we understand
that whilst a pub is an important part of the local community,
it operates in close proximity to residential properties.

We investigate any neighbourhood concerns through our
Operations team and encourage our operators to consult
with their neighbours through attending Residents
Association meetings.

We have a documented process for responding to complaints
from members of the public and we handle all complaints
sensitively and with respect. Most issues tend to be resolved
quickly through encouraging dialogue between our Operations
team at a local level. Our reputation as a pub company depends
on developing good relationships with our customers,
neighbours and local residents.

1. Sarah Johnstone NITA Award winner:
‘Best Development Programme –
leased estate’.

2. Deborah Kemp and Karen Caddick
launch our ‘Green Awareness Campaign’.

3. Andrew Knight addressing the
Spirit Conference.
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Core Managed Total
Leased managed transition managed
estate estate estate3 estate

£m Growth1 £m Growth2 £m £m

Average pub numbers 7,873 (1%) 830 – 361 1,191
Year end pub numbers 7,561 836 51 887

£m £m £m £m

Revenue
Drink 577.3 5% 394.4 2% 125.0 519.4
Rent 235.7 11% – – – –
Food – – 261.2 6% 24.3 285.5
Machine income 32.1 8% 18.9 (5%) 10.7 29.6
Other sales – – 18.4 10% 6.9 25.3
Total revenue 845.1 7% 692.9 4% 166.9 859.8
Gross margin
Drink 287.0 9% 299.1 3% 97.4 396.5
Rent 235.0 11% – – – –
Food – – 169.0 5% 12.8 181.8
Machine income 32.1 8% 18.9 (5%) 10.7 29.6
Other sales – – 18.4 10% 5.1 23.5
Total gross margin 554.1 10% 505.4 4% 126.0 631.4
Rent payable (6.8) (31%) (35.9) (3%) (8.6) (44.5)
Managed pub costs (278.6) (5%) (79.9) (358.5)
Other costs (68.1) (6%) – – – (45.6)
EBITDA 479.2 10% 190.9 1% 37.5 182.8
1 Growth measured against last year excluding GRS Inns, sold June 2006.
2 Refers to like for like growth in the core managed estate, covering 755 pubs owned for at least 12 months.
3 Transition estate represents pubs sold/converted in the period together with 51 pubs at the year end that do not fit into any of the four core operating divisions of the Spirit estate.

Results for the year
The financial year comprised the 52 weeks to 18 August 2007.
The Group has returned a strong set of results, building on the
acquisitions made during 2006.

Summary consolidated income statement before exceptional items:

£m 2007 2006 Growth

Revenue 1,704.9 1,546.1 10%
Operating costs (1,042.9) (939.8)

Share of post-tax profit
from joint venture 1.6 –

EBITDA 663.6 606.3 9%
Depreciation and amortisation (56.5) (46.1)

Operating profit 607.1 560.2 8%
Net finance costs (328.4) (312.0)

Profit on asset sales 3.0 1.4

Profit before taxation 281.7 249.6 13%
Tax (57.7) (54.8)

Net earnings 224.0 194.8 15%
Basic EPS 84.4p 74.9p 13%

Operational highlights were as follows:
Leased estate
• Average profit per pub up by 11% to £61k per pub, driven

by organic growth and estate churn

• Like for like profit growth of 2.7%

• Transfer of 563 pubs from managed to leased in the year

• Disposal of 933 non-core smaller pubs

• Continued investment with £117m spent on enhancing
over 1,000 pubs

Pub numbers Leased Managed Total

August 2006 7,846 1,410 9,256
– Acquisitions 85 931 178
– Lease conversions 563 (563) –
– Disposals (933) (53) (986)
August 2007 7,561 887 8,448
– Net change (4%) (37%) (9%)
Average estate size 7,873 1,191 9,064
1 Managed acquisitions includes 11 lease reversions.

The Group operates in two business segments; a leased estate
and a managed estate. Both business segments have performed
strongly in the year and are well positioned to meet the changing
market conditions.

The makeup of the pub estate has altered significantly in
the year following the completion of the lease conversion
programme, the acquisition of Mill House Inns and the strategic
disposal of a number of leased and managed pubs.

Managed estate
• Average outlet EBITDA per pub up by 15% in the closing

estate to £216k per pub, driven by organic growth and
estate churn

• Like for like revenue growth of 3.5%; increased costs
particularly from utilities impacted operating margin with
a like for like profit growth of 1.4%

• Acquisition of 82 pubs from Mill House

• Conversion and disposal of 616 pubs leaving an estate
of 87 managed pubs
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2007

2006

2005

663.6

606.3

413.5

2003

2004 339.4

234.6

Acquisitions and disposals
On 14 September 2006 the Group acquired the Mill House Inns
group, which operated a managed estate of 82 pubs at the
date of acquisition. The consideration for the acquisition was
£164m, which was funded from new short-term borrowings.

On 17 April 2007, the Group completed the acquisition
of 50% of Matthew Clark (Holdings) Limited, the holding
company of the Matthew Clark group of companies. Under
the terms of the arrangement, Punch and Constellation Europe
each own 50% of Matthew Clark. The consideration for
the acquisition was £35m in cash from existing resources.

Two strategic disposals were completed in the year. On 16 May
2007, 869 leased and tenanted pubs were sold to Admiral
Taverns for a total consideration of £328m; for the financial
year ended 19 August 2006 these pubs generated EBITDA of
£30.1m. On 17 September 2006, the Group disposed of its
wholly owned subsidiary Spirit Managed (Old Orleans) Limited,
which operated 31 managed pub restaurants, to Regent Inns
for a consideration of £25.6m.

In addition to these package acquisitions and disposals, we
continue to actively churn the estate through the sale of
individual outlets that are judged to have a less sustainable
future as a pub, and through the acquisition of high quality
individual and small packages of pubs. During the year 85
high quality pubs were acquired for £64m and 86 pubs were
sold raising £51m.

Financing costs
Net underlying financing costs increased by 5% to £328m in
the year, principally due to the increase in average net debt
following the full year inclusion of the Spirit business. The
weighted average interest rate for Group loans and borrowings
on an IFRS basis, including the effect of interest rate swaps,
at the balance sheet date reduced to 6.7% (6.9% in the prior
year) following the successful refinance of £825m of debt
during July 2007.

Interest cover across the year was maintained at 2.0 times,
all at effectively fixed rates of interest.

Taxation
The underlying tax charge of £58m represents an effective
tax rate of 20%, the equivalent rate for the previous year was
22%. The effective tax rate is significantly below the UK
standard rate of 30% due largely to the impact of indexation
allowances on the inherent property gains.

The effective cash tax rate for the year at 7%, based on income
tax payments of £19m, continues to be significantly below that
of the income statement tax charge as we benefit from the
utilisation of brought forward losses.

Exceptional items
In order to provide a trend measure of underlying performance,
profit is presented excluding items which we consider will
distort comparability; whether due to their significant non-
recurring nature or as a result of specific accounting treatments.

Included in the income statement for the year is £42m of
exceptional operating costs largely reflecting the one-off costs
relating to the reorganisation and integration of the Spirit and
Mill House Inns acquisitions, offset by a £22m credit relating to
reduced property provisions.

In addition, there was a financing credit of £43m, of which
£54m arose from the movement in fair value of interest rate
swaps which do not qualify for hedge accounting, offset by a
£11m charge relating to one-off refinancing costs in the year.
Whilst the interest rate swaps are considered to be effective
in matching the amortising profile of existing floating rate
borrowings, they did not meet the definition of an effective
hedge due to the relative size of the mark to market difference
of the swaps at the date of acquisition.

The tax effect of the above items, together with the release of
various tax provisions relating to tax matters which have now
been settled, had the net effect of a £31m exceptional tax
credit in the year.

Earnings per share
Adjusted basic earnings per share rose by 13% to 84.4p,
compared with 74.9p in 2006. Adjusted diluted earnings
per share of 82.6p was 12% ahead of last year.

Basic reported earnings per share was ahead of underlying
earnings at 104.9p, reflecting the impact of the net exceptional
credit of £54m.

Dividends
The Board is recommending a final dividend for 2007 of 10.2p
per share, up 13% on the final dividend last year. Together with
the interim dividend of 5.1p paid on 29 June 2007, this gives
a total dividend for the year of 15.3p, up 14% on last year.

Subject to approval at the AGM, the total cost for the final
dividend will be £27m and the dividend will be paid on 23
January 2008 to shareholders on the register at 4 January 2008.

2007

2006

2005

281.7

249.6

206.8

2003

2004 156.4

113.3

EBITDA† Profit before tax†

† Before exceptional items.† Before exceptional items.

Financial review continued
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Capital expenditure and cash flow
The net movement in cash and cash equivalents before
financing activities was an inflow of £593m. This included a
cash inflow from operating activities of £529m, which included
a number of one-off outflows relating to the integration of
acquisitions; and a net cash inflow from investing activities
of £64m.

Investing activities included £139m on acquisitions net of
acquired debt and £202m of investment expenditure. The
investment programme in both the leased and managed
estates continues apace, with spend of £117m in the leased
estate and £85m in the managed estate.

Net cash flow also benefited from proceeds from the
various disposals in the year, amounting to £405m.
The majority of which has been used towards repayment
of short-term borrowings.

Revaluation of the estate
The leased estate was fully revalued as at 22 August 2004 on
transition to IFRS, pubs acquired since this date are held at cost.

Following the adoption of IFRS it is no longer the Group’s
policy to account for annual property revaluations. The Board
instructed an independent valuer to undertake a desk top
valuation as at the year end date and the estimated value
of the pub estate on this basis as at the year end is £7.0bn.
This compares to the book value of land and buildings,
fixtures & fittings, operating lease intangibles and assets
held for resale of £6.6bn shown in notes 11, 12 and 18
of the financial statements.

Capital structure and resources
At 18 August 2007 the share price was 990.5p compared with
912p at the start of the financial year, an increase of 9%, and
at the year end date had a market capitalisation of £2.6bn.

During the course of the year, Punch issued 1,267,808
of shares, on the exercise of share based awards, for cash
proceeds of £2.3m.

Net debt
Net debt, including interest rate swaps, decreased by £161m
in the year to £4,901m.

Net borrowings at the year end comprise:

18 August 2007 19 August 2006
£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 267.7 562.4

Debt

Bank loans (43.1) (621.9)

Secured loans (4,598.5) (4,364.6)

Convertible bonds (275.0) (275.0)

Nominal value of debt (4,916.6) (5,261.5)

Finance lease obligations (21.1) (26.8)

Fair value of interest rate swaps (96.9) (184.0)

Fair value adjustments
and deferred issue costs (134.0) (152.0)

Net borrowings (4,900.9) (5,061.9)

In order to fund the managed house acquisitions of Spirit and
Mill House Inns, total bank loans of £1.4bn were arranged.
Following the successful completion of the disposals of non
core pubs in the year and the refinancing of the Avebury and
Punch finance securitisations in July 2007, only £43m of these
loans remained outstanding as at the year end date, all of
which have been fully repaid since.

At the year end date the Group had a further £50m of
committed facilities available for drawing.

Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared under IFRS.
New standards and interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), becoming
effective during the year, have not had a material impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

2007

2006

2005

84.4

74.9

66.4

2003

2004 48.8

39.3

2007

2006

2005

15.3p#

13.4p

11.3p

2003

2004 9.0p

6.5p

Basic earnings per share† Full year dividends

# Subject to approval at AGM.† Before exceptional items.



Risk management
Our risk management framework is designed to manage risks
that may have a material impact on the Group’s ability to meet
its strategic corporate objectives rather than fully mitigate all the
risks which the business may face. The Group is not in control
of all risks that are external to the Group and therefore beyond
its control.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s risk
management framework and has a formal policy for ensuring
that the principal business risks faced by the Group are
reviewed on a quarterly basis and for ensuring that these
risks are managed appropriately on an on-going basis.

The Group’s risk framework aims to identify and evaluate risks
based on probability of occurrence and impact on the Group
and then monitor the efficiency of internal controls to ensure
risks are managed appropriately. Dedicated individuals across
the business have been nominated as ‘Risk Owners’ and they
are responsible for risk management activities including
compliance and property risks, health and safety risks and
Group-wide corporate level risks.

The Internal Audit and Risk Management team provide
assurance to the Board on the maintenance of the Group
risk register, controls surrounding identified risks and the
management of these risks by the Executive Management
team. The Audit Committee are responsible for annually
reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management framework.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Financial risks
Punch is exposed to a variety of financial and market based
risks, including exposure to fluctuating interest rates, changing
economic conditions, technological and industry based risks,
competitive environment and regulatory changes, which either
singularly or collectively may affect revenue, cost structure or
value of assets within the business, and all of which are difficult
to quantify.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk and liquidity risk. Policies with respect to these
risks are described below. There is no currency exposure as all
material transactions and financial instruments are in sterling.
The Group has no exposure to equity securities or commodity
price risk and it is the Group’s policy that no speculative trading
in financial instruments is undertaken. There are no significant
concentrations of credit risk within the Group

Liquidity risk
The Group’s funding strategy is to ensure a mix of financing
methods offering flexibility and cost effectiveness to match
the requirements of the Group. The Group is primarily financed
by secured loan notes, with approximately 93% of the capital
balance on these loan notes being repayable after more than
5 years.

The Board continues to review alternative sources of finance.
The Group’s objective is to smooth the debt maturity profile,
to arrange funding ahead of requirements and to maintain

a strong credit rating so maturing short-term debt may be
refinanced as it falls due. Cash balances are invested in short-
term deposits such that they are readily available to settle
short-term liabilities or to fund capital additions.

Interest rate risk
The Group borrows at both fixed and floating rates of
interest and then employs derivative financial instruments
such as interest rate swaps to generate the desired interest
rate profile and to manage the Group’s exposure to interest
rate fluctuations.

The Group has taken out derivative financial instruments such
that 99.7% of all loans as at the year end date were either at
fixed rate or were converted to fixed rate as a result of swap
arrangements, thereby largely eliminating the Group’s exposure
to changes in interest rate.

Whilst cash flow interest rate risk is largely eliminated, the use
of fixed rate borrowings and derivative financial instruments
exposes the Group to fair value interest rate risk such that the
Group would not benefit from falls in interest rate and would
be exposed to unplanned costs should debt or derivative
financial instruments be restructured or repaid early.

Pensions
The Group operates three defined benefit pension schemes
(the InnSpired and Pubmaster schemes having been merged
in the year) all of which are closed to new members. As at the
year end date the three schemes together had obligations of
£373m and assets of £380m, resulting in a net asset of £7m,
compared to a liability of £25m as reported at August 2006.

Operational and business risks
Information systems, technology and infrastructure
The Group is reliant on information systems and technology
for communication, order capture, distribution, accounting
and reporting and many of its internal controls. As with all
organisations, the Group is open to disaster or failure of these
systems causing possible disruption to the business. Steps have
been put in place to mitigate these risks by improving internal
controls surrounding systems and having an up to date and fully
tested business continuity plan for all business critical systems.

Supply chain management
The Group is reliant on a number of key suppliers and
distributors to ensure continuous supply of drink, food and
other services into our pubs. The Group is exposed to the risk
of interruption or failure of suppliers or distributors resulting
in products not being delivered on time or to the standard
expected. The Group attempts to mitigate this risk by regularly
reviewing the disaster recovery plans of its key distributors and
by ensuring that substitute suppliers or products could be used
if required.

Product quality
The Group is exposed to product quality risks in relation to
its drink and food, especially within the managed business.
Safety measures are in place to ensure that product integrity
is maintained wherever possible and that all drink products
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purchased by the Group as well as food products within our
managed estate are fully traceable. The Group also has a formal
food accreditation process based on a programme of robust
supplier audits by an external food assurance company. A crisis
management process exists to ensure that products can be
recalled quickly if required. A policy of providing health and
safety and food safety training to all managed pubs as well
as food safety advice to our leased business is in place.

Threats to our concepts
An incident may occur, which may materially impact or damage
the reputation of one of the managed pub concepts. This
could affect the ability of the concept to attract future
customers or negatively impact the ability of that concept
to generate future income.

Integration of acquisitions
The Group occasionally makes material acquisitions or enters
into joint venture agreements. There is a risk that due diligence
activities or integration plans prepared by the Group may not
highlight all potential problems and that failure to do so may
have an impact on the Group’s ability to meet its objectives
for the transaction in the future. The management team aim
to mitigate this risk by ensuring sufficient due diligence is
performed, a project team works closely with the new business
and that performance is closely monitored from the outset.

Regulatory risks
Health and safety
Health and safety is of primary importance to the Group
and it aims to maintain a safe environment for all employees,
contractors, visitors and our customers. The Group also takes
compliance with relevant health and safety legislation very
seriously and has established a formal Health and Safety Policy
for the Group, as well as a Health and Safety Committee which
meets on a periodic basis and reports on the status of health and
safety to the Board of Directors via the risk management
framework. The Group has a policy of carrying out health and
safety, fire safety and food safety audits within the managed estate
on a regular basis and supports our lessees to understand their
responsibilities for health and safety through award winning
training and support from their Business Relationship Manager.

Litigation
The Group may be subject to legal and regulatory court proceedings
from its customers, suppliers, employees or regulatory authorities
for breach of its contractual duties or other responsibilities. The risk
of this litigation is not likely to be material in value, however may
impact the Group’s reputation or image. The Group works very
closely with local authorities and has in-house and external
specialists to help manage this risk.
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1 3

2 4

1 Giles Thorley Chief Executive
Giles Thorley, 40, was appointed Chief Executive of Punch in January 2003,
having joined Punch as Executive Chairman in December 2001. After
qualifying as a Barrister, his early career was at Nomura International plc.
He successfully led the IPO of Punch in May 2002 and has seen the business
through the subsequent acquisitions including Pubmaster in 2003 and Spirit
Group in 2006. Giles is also Non-executive Chairman of Tragus Limited,
a Non-executive Director of Tui Travel plc and a trustee of the Rona Trust.

2 Phil Dutton Finance Director
Phil Dutton, 46, was appointed Finance Director in September 2007 after
previously holding the position of Non-executive Director of Punch. Phil was
Finance Director of Matalan plc where he had been since 2002. Prior to
this he had worked in various finance and IT roles at Asda, joining them
in 1990. Phil is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales.

3 Jonathan Paveley Group Commercial Director
Jonathan Paveley, 44, was appointed Commercial Director with effect from
May 2004. He joined the Group from Greene King, where he was Strategy
Director, responsible for strategic development and purchasing, during which
time he led a series of acquisitions and major internal change programmes.
Prior to Greene King he was a member of the MBO team at the Gaymer
Group and an investment banker with County Nat West. He joined the
Punch Taverns Board in September 2004.

4 Andrew Knight Managing Director – The Spirit Group
Andrew Knight, 40, was appointed to the Executive Board of Punch in
January 2007 having served as Managing Director of Spirit Group since
its acquisition by Punch in January 2006. Andrew began his career with
Courage Ltd before joining Allied Breweries working within Retail Operations.
Andrew moved from Regional Operations to become a Retail Marketing
Executive for Allied Domecq Retailing. The business was then sold to Punch
Group and Andrew became the Commercial Director of Spirit Group
(formerly Punch Retail), seeing Spirit through a number of acquisitions
and changes, including the acquisiton of Tom Cobleigh and Scottish and
Newcastle Retail, and the sale of Premier Lodge to Whitbread.

Board of Directors



5 Peter Cawdron Non-executive Chairman
Peter Cawdron, 64, was appointed Non-executive Chairman in January
2007, having joined Punch as a Non-executive Director in May 2003.
He retired from the Board of Grand Metropolitan plc in 1997, where he
had held the position of Group Strategy Director for 10 years and Group
Planning Director for 4 years. Previously, he had spent 6 years in the United
States as Chief Financial Officer of D’Arcy MacManus & Masius Worldwide,
Inc., the international advertising agency business based in New York and 7
years at S.G.Warburg & Co. Ltd in London. He qualified as a Chartered
Accountant in 1966 at Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. He is a Non-executive
Director of a number of companies, including GCap Media plc, ProStrakan
plc, Capita Group plc and Johnston Press plc.

6 Fritz Ternofsky Senior Independent Non-executive Director
Fritz Ternofsky, 63, was appointed Senior Independent Non-executive
Director of Punch in May 2002. He was previously a member of the
board of Compass from 1993 to 2000, also serving as Chief Executive
for UK and Scandinavia from 1993 to 1999. He is currently a Senior Non-
executive Director of Care UK plc. He is also Chairman of Close Income,
Growth VCT plc, Kew Green Hotels and Wates Group, a privately owned
construction company.

7 Ian Fraser Independent Non-executive Director
Ian Fraser, 50, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
in September 2004. He is currently Chief Executive of Kwik Fit, having
previously been Trading Director of Safeway Stores plc and Chief Operating
Officer of Orange UK. Ian is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Scotland.

8 Mike Foster Independent Non-executive Director
Mike Foster, 62, was appointed Independent Non-executive Director of
Punch with effect from May 2002. Prior to his appointment he was Chief
Executive of Inntrepreneur Estates from 1995 until 1998, Chief Executive of
Courage Limited from 1987 until 1995, Chairman of Leisurelink Ltd from
1998 until its sale in 2001, Chairman of the British Pub & Beer Association
from 1998 until 2001 and Non-executive Director of Geest from 1993 until
1999. He currently has two other Non-executive Directorships: Roxton Bailey
Robinson Ltd and Innserve Ltd.

9 Randl Shure Independent Non-executive Director
Randl Shure, 43, was appointed Independent Non-executive Director of
Punch in October 1999. Prior to founding CapVest he was head of BT
Capital Partners, which he joined in 1997 after working for 12 years with
Bankers Trust. He was a director of the original Punch Taverns Limited,
formed for the acquisition of the Bass portfolio. He previously served as
a director of Virgin Rail, Vaasan & Vaasan OY, IP Powerhouse, Ubiquity
Software plc and Spirit Group, and is currently a director of FoodVest Limited,
The Mater Private, Young’s Bluecrest Limited and Findus AB.

5

6

7
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1 Deborah Kemp Managing Director – Leased
Deborah Kemp, 46 was appointed Managing Director of Punch Leased
in March 2007. Prior to this she was Operations Director for the south
responsible for all elements of operational implementation and strategy.
Deborah has held a number of senior positions and gained a wealth of
experience within the pub retailing business having joined Punch Taverns
in 1998 as Investment Director and then Property and Development Director
being involved in a number of significant acquisitions and mergers.
Deborah’s early career was at Bass where she held various operational
and property roles.

2 Neil Preston Company Secretary
Neil Preston, 47, is responsible for ensuring that the company meets all our
legal and regulatory requirements as a plc. He is a Fellow of the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants and has held various roles within Punch,
including that of the Finance Director of Punch Group and Punch Retail (now
known as Spirit Group). Prior to this he worked for Allied Domecq and
started in the industry in 1986.

3 Neil Griffiths Property & Development Director
Neil Griffiths, 46 was appointed Property & Development Director with effect
from June 2005, and is responsible for the strategic development of the
estate maximising profitability through acquisition, investment, rental growth
and alternative use development. Neil joined Punch in 2001 and has been
responsible for building the Company's industry leading acquisitions team.
Neil was previously with Warner Brothers where he was international
Property Director responsible for pan-European multiplex cinema
development. Prior to that, Neil held senior positions with Bass plc including
Head of Property and board member of Bass Leisure Entertainments as
Commercial Development Director.

4 Karen Caddick Group Director of Human Resources
Karen Caddick, 38, joined Punch in October 2006 and leads the HR function
across the Punch Group. Karen started her career with Royal & Sun Alliance
in 1993 and performed several HR roles including Head of HR for More
Th>n. Karen then moved to Barclays as Head of Employee Relations & HR
Policy. She also led the HR functions at Channel Five Broadcasting and The
Financial Times prior to joining Punch. Karen is a Graduate of the Chartered
Insurance Institute and a Fellow of The Institute of Personnel & Development.

5 Francis Patton - Group Corporate Affairs Director
Francis Patton, 44, is responsible for the Group's relationships with our key
stakeholders which involves internal and retailer communications, public and
investor relations and political lobbying. Francis began his career with Allied
Breweries and Allied Domecq retailing in Operations. In 1999, when Allied
Domecq sold its pub retailing business, he became Commercial Director for
the Punch Pub Company and as the Company grew this role was split into
Commercial and Customer Services with him taking up the role of Customer
Services Director for Punch Taverns in June 2003.

1 4

2 5

3

Senior Management
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The Directors present their annual report to shareholders on the affairs of the Group and the Company, together with the audited 
financial statements for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007. 

Results and dividends 
The results of the Group for the period are set out in the Consolidated income statement on page 46. An interim dividend of  
5.1 pence per share was paid to shareholders on 29 June 2007. The Directors propose a final dividend of 10.2 pence per share  
payable on 23 January 2008. This will bring the total dividend for the year to 15.3 pence per share.  

Principal activity and review of the business 
The Group’s main trading activities are the operation of public houses under either the leased model or as directly managed by the 
Group. The leased model involves the granting of leases to tenants who operate the pub as their own business, paying rent to the 
Group, purchasing beer and other drinks from the Group and entering into profit sharing arrangements for income from leisure 
machines. Pubs that are directly managed involve the employment of a manager to operate each managed pub and the Group 
receives all revenues generated by the pub and is responsible for costs. 

A review of the year’s activities and future developments, and information on the risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, are 
included in the Business review. The management of business risk is set out in the Corporate governance and Risk statements.  
Key performance indicators (KPIs) are shown on page 1. 

Directors and their interests 
The current Directors of the Company are listed on pages 22 to 23.  

Phil Dutton and Andrew Knight were both appointed as Directors of the Company on 24 January 2007. Robert McDonald resigned  
on 17 October 2007, Adrian Fawcett resigned on 30 March 2007 and Phil Cox and Martin Glenn resigned on 24 January 2007. 

The beneficial interests of Directors who held office at 18 August 2007 in the share capital of the Company are shown below: 

 

At  
7 November

2007
Ordinary 

 shares 

At 
18 August 

2007
Ordinary

 shares 

At 
19 August 

2006 
Ordinary

 shares 

Peter Cawdron 4,850 4,850 4,850 
Giles Thorley 232,234 232,234 154,439 
Robert McDonald 101,260 101,260 69,654 
Jonathan Paveley 10,894 10,894 3,150 
Mike Foster 4,275 4,275 4,275 
Andrew Knight 1,594 1,594  – 
Ian Fraser  –  –  – 
Randl Shure 39,537 39,537 39,537 
Fritz Ternofsky 6,337 6,337 17,337 
Phil Dutton 10,000 –  – 

None of the Directors has any interests in the shares of any other company in the Group. 

Having not yet been approved by shareholders in a general meeting, the appointments of Phil Dutton and Andrew Knight will  
cease and resolutions for their election proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. At the meeting, Jonathan Paveley and  
Fritz Ternofsky will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election in accordance with the Company’s Articles  
of Association.  

A statement of the Directors’ remuneration and their interest in share options of the Company is set out in the Report on Directors’ 
remuneration on pages 32 to 44. 

Directors’ indemnity 
The Group maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and indemnity cover (as defined in section 233 of the Companies Act 
2006) which is provided for the benefit of the Company’s directors and officers by a subsidiary company, Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited. 

Substantial shareholdings 
As at 7 November 2007, the last practical date prior to the printing of this report, the Company has been notified of the following 
substantial interests (representing 3% or more) in the ordinary shares of the Company: 

AXA SA 11.59%
Goldman Sachs 9.48%
M&G Investments 6.95%
Lansdowne Partners Limited Partnership 6.16%
Marshall Wace Core Fund Limited 4.36%
Barclays plc 4.35%
Legal & General Investment Management 4.13%
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Political and charitable contributions 
During the period, the Group made charitable contributions of £59,000 (2006: £6,000). The Group made no political contributions. 

Disabled employees 
The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the requirements of the job can be 
adequately fulfilled by handicapped or disabled persons. Where existing employees become disabled, it is the Group’s policy wherever 
practicable to provide continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training, career development and 
promotion wherever appropriate. 

The environment 
The Group regards compliance with relevant environmental laws and the adoption of responsible standards as integral to its business 
operation. It is also committed to introducing measures to limit any adverse effects its business may have on the environment and  
will promote continuous improvement in accordance with best available techniques. 

Employee involvement 
The total number of employees at the end of the period was 20,918. The Group recognises the value of its employees and seeks to 
create an energetic, dynamic and responsive environment in which to work. It places considerable importance on communications  
with employees, which take place at many levels through the organisation on both a formal and informal level. 

Employees are encouraged to own shares in the Company and the Group operates an Inland Revenue Approved Share Incentive Plan, 
in which 440 employees in total participate. Employees purchase shares either as a one-off amount or on a monthly basis. These are 
then held in trust for a period of three years at which point the Company matches the total number of shares purchased. Under the 
Inland Revenue approved scheme, after a period of five years (i.e. a further two years), the shares are released to the employee free  
of tax and National Insurance. 

Creditor payment policy and practice 
It is the Group’s policy that payments to suppliers are made in accordance with those terms and conditions agreed between the 
Company and its suppliers, provided that all trading terms and conditions have been complied with. 

At 18 August 2007 the Company had nil (2006: nil) days purchases outstanding in trade creditors. 

Financial instruments 
The Group’s policy on the use of financial instruments is set out in note 21 to the financial statements. 

Additional information for shareholders 
Following the implementation of the EU Takeovers Directive into UK law, the following provides the required information for 
shareholders where not already provided elsewhere in this report.  

At 18 August 2007, the Company’s issued share capital comprised a single class of shares known as ordinary shares. The share capital 
disclosures in note 24 to the accounts contain full details of shares allotted or purchased during the year and an explanation of 
movements in share capital during the year. 

In a general meeting of the Company, on a show of hands, every member who is present in person and entitled to vote shall have one 
vote. On a poll every member who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for every share of which he is the holder. The 
AGM notice gives full details of deadlines for exercising voting rights in respect of resolutions to be considered at the meeting either  
by proxy notice or present in person or proxy. 

The Company obtained shareholder authority at the last AGM to buy back up to 26,480,685 shares, which remains outstanding until  
the conclusion of the next AGM. Such authority will only be exercised by the Directors after giving due consideration to the effects on 
earnings per share and the benefits for shareholders generally. At the forthcoming AGM, authority will be sought for Directors to allot 
shares in the Company representing approximately 33% of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue as at the date of the AGM notice. 
Further details of these resolutions are contained within the Notice of Meeting sent to shareholders with this report.  

There are no restrictions on transfer of shares in the Company other than those which may from time to time be applicable under 
existing laws and regulations (for example under the Market Abuse Directive). 

In addition, pursuant to the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, Directors and persons discharging managerial responsibility 
(PDMRs) of the Company require prior approval from the Company to deal in the Company’s securities, and are prohibited from 
dealing during closed periods. 

The Company operates various share schemes that involve employee ownership of Company securities. One such scheme, the Punch 
Taverns Share Incentive Plan (SIP) involves the use of an Employee Benefit Trust, into which employee purchased shares (partnership 
shares) are held on Trust for a qualifying period. During this time, the shares are beneficially owned by employees and attract rights  
in respect of dividends. The voting rights in respect of these shares are not exercised by the employees or trustees. The Company  
also operates a Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSB) for certain senior employees; bonus shares awarded are held in Trust for a qualifying 
period and attract full dividend and voting rights, which are exercisable by employees should they wish. In the event of an offer being 
made to acquire the above mentioned partnership or bonus shares, employees are entitled to direct the trustees to accept an offer  
in respect of the shares held on their behalf. 
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The Company is not aware of any agreements between shareholders that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or  
on voting rights. 

The Company’s Articles of Association may be amended by special resolution at a general meeting of shareholders. 

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information to auditors 
The Directors confirm that, so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware and  
that each Director has taken all reasonable steps to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that  
the auditors are aware of that information.  

Auditors
A resolution to re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s auditors will be put to the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

Going concern 
The Directors consider that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to remain in operation for the foreseeable  
future and have therefore continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparation of the financial statements. 

By order of the Board of Directors 

Neil Preston 
Company Secretary 
7 November 2007
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The Company is committed to high standards of corporate governance, for which the Board is responsible to the Company’s shareholders. 
The Company has complied throughout the financial year ended 18 August 2007 with all the Code provisions set out in Section 1  
of the 2003 and 2006 Combined Code on Corporate Governance. Following the appointment of Phil Dutton as an Executive Director  
on 10 September 2007, and prior to the retirement of Robert McDonald on 17 October 2007, the Company did not comply with  
the provisions of the Combined Code regarding the balance of executive and non-executive directors for this time period only. 

During the year, the Company decided to take advantage of the amendment within the updated Combined Code issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council in June 2006. Accordingly, the Chairman of the Board was appointed as a member of the Remuneration 
Committee from 24 January 2007. The terms of reference for all board committees are available on the Company’s website at 
www.punchtaverns.com. 

What are the responsibilities of the Board of Directors? 
The Board sets the Company’s strategic aims and ensures that necessary resources are in place in order for the Company to meet its 
objectives. All members of the Board take collective responsibility for the performance of the Company and all decisions are taken 
objectively and in the interest of the Company. 

The Board is responsible for satisfying itself as to the integrity of financial information and the effectiveness of the Company’s system 
of internal control and risk management processes and is responsible for ensuring that the Company’s obligations to its shareholders 
are met. 

Whilst the Board has delegated the normal operational management of the Company to the Executive Directors and other senior 
management, it has established guidelines requiring specific matters to be subject to decision by the full Board of Directors, including 
material acquisitions and disposals, investments and capital projects. The Non-executive Directors have a particular responsibility to 
challenge constructively the strategy proposed by the Chief Executive and Executive Directors; to scrutinise and challenge performance; 
to satisfy themselves on the integrity of financial information and that financial controls are robust and defensible; and to ensure that 
appropriate remuneration and succession planning arrangements are in place in relation to the Executive Directors and other senior 
members of the management team.  

How frequently are Board meetings held? 
At least ten Board meetings are scheduled during the year and additional meetings are convened to consider matters that are time-
critical. The attendance records of individual Directors can be found in the table below. The Chairman ensures that, at least annually, 
the Non-executive Directors meet without the Executive Directors present. In addition, the Non-executive Directors meet at least 
annually without the Chairman being present. 

Attendance at meetings 
The attendance by individual Directors at meetings of the Board and its Committees during the past year was as follows: 

 Board meetings Committee meetings 

Director  Audit Remuneration Nomination 

Number of meetings 11 6 5 3 
Phil Cox1  5   1 
Giles Thorley 11    
Robert McDonald2  10    
Adrian Fawcett3  7    
Jonathan Paveley 11    
Fritz Ternofsky 11 5 5  
Peter Cawdron4 11 3 3 3 
Mike Foster 11  5 3 
Randl Shure 10 6   
Martin Glenn5  2  2  
Ian Fraser 11 6  2 
Phil Dutton4  7 3   
Andrew Knight6  7    

1 Phil Cox resigned on 24 January 2007 and therefore attended all Board and Nominations Committee meetings possible. 
2 Robert McDonald resigned after the year end on 17 October 2007.  
3 Adrian Fawcett resigned on 30 March 2007 and therefore attended all Board meetings possible. 
4 Phil Dutton was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 24 January 2007 and replaced Peter Cawdron as an Audit Committee member. Both Directors 

therefore attended all Audit Committee meetings possible. Peter was appointed to the Remuneration Committee on 24 January 2007 and therefore attended 
all Remuneration Committee meetings possible.  

5 Martin Glenn resigned on 24 January 2007 and therefore attended all Remuneration Committee meetings possible. 
6 Andrew Knight was appointed on 24 January 2007 and therefore attended all Board meetings possible. 



Punch Taverns plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2007 329

What are the responsibilities of the Chairman and Chief Executive? 
There is a clear division of responsibility between the Chairman and Chief Executive which has been formally documented  
and approved by the Board.  

The Chairman is responsible for: 

leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness and setting its agenda;  

ensuring, through the Company Secretary, that the members of the Board receive clear, accurate and timely information;  

arranging the regular evaluation of the performance of the Board, its Committees and individual Directors; and 

facilitating the effective contribution of Non-executive Directors and ensuring constructive relations between Executive and  
Non-executive Directors. 

The Chief Executive is responsible for: 

developing strategic operating plans; 

preparing annual budgets and medium term projections for the Company and closely monitoring performance against  
plans and budgets;  

ensuring effective communication with shareholders; and  

overseeing the day-to-day management of the Company. 

How is the Board structured to ensure that no individual or small group of individuals can dominate the Board’s  
decision making? 
The Board is considered to be of sufficient size such that the balance of skills and experience is appropriate to the size of the business. 
Excluding the Chairman, at least half of the Board comprises Non-executive Directors determined by the Board to be independent  
in character and judgement and to have no relationships or circumstances that are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, their 
judgement as Directors of the Company. The Board has reviewed the provisions in the Combined Code and has concluded that,  
under the definitions used, all four of the current Non-executive Directors are independent.  

The Board has appointed Fritz Ternofsky as its Senior Independent Non-executive Director and, on appointment, the Chairman was 
considered by the Board to meet all of the independence criteria set out in the Combined Code. 

How are Directors appointed to the Board? 
The Company has a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors which is based on merit and 
against objective criteria. The Nominations Committee leads the process for Board appointments and for succession planning and 
makes recommendations to the Board. New directors stand for election at the AGM following their appointment. Every Director is 
required to retire by rotation, and may stand for re-election if nominated by the Nomination Committee, at least every third year.  

None of the Executive Directors has more than one non-executive directorship in a FTSE 100 company, nor the chairmanship of such  
a company. 

The terms and conditions of appointment of Non-executive Directors are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office 
during normal business hours.  

Membership of Board committees is reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that members are refreshed and that undue reliance is not 
placed on certain individuals. 

What information is provided to the Board? 
To enable the Board to discharge its duties, all Directors are given appropriate documentation in advance of each Board meeting. This 
normally includes a detailed report on current trading and full papers on matters where the Board will be required to make a decision 
or give its approval. 

What is the role of the Company Secretary? 
The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Board and its Committees. 

The Directors, each of whom has received appropriate training, have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who 
is responsible for advising the Board, through the Chairman, on all governance matters.  

The Company Secretary is also responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed, that applicable rules and regulations are 
complied with and that there are good information flows within the Board, its Committees and between the Non-executive Directors 
and senior management. 

The Company Secretary facilitates the induction and professional development of Board members, all of whom are available to meet 
major shareholders if requested. 

How is the performance of the Board evaluated? 
During the year the Board undertook a formal evaluation of its own performance and that of its Committees and individual Directors. 
The Board considered that the best means of effectively undertaking this process was a combination of self and peer assessment. This 
process was led by the Chairman except in relation to his own performance as Chairman, which was led by the Senior Independent 
Non-executive Director. The results of the review were discussed by the Board and an appropriate action plan was agreed. 



2 www.punchtaverns.com

Corporate governance continued

30 

What are the Company’s main internal controls? 
The Board is responsible for the Company’s systems of internal control and risk management and for reviewing the effectiveness of 
those systems in order to safeguard shareholders interests and Company assets. Such systems are designed to manage rather than 
eliminate risk of failure to achieve the Company’s strategic objectives. It should be recognised that such systems can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Combined Code requires the Directors to review  
the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls. This relates to all controls, covering financial, operational, compliance 
and risk management matters. 

The Company has ongoing processes for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks of the Group in the form of a risk 
management framework (Company Risk Register) which is reviewed and updated by the Board regularly as required. The processes are 
in accordance with the guidance of the Turnbull Committee and have been in place for the whole of the financial year and up to the 
date of this report.  

The key procedures which the Directors have established with a view to providing effective internal control are as follows: 

regular Board meetings to consider a schedule of matters reserved for Directors’ consideration; 

an annual review of corporate strategy, which includes a review of risks facing the business; 

a risk management framework (Company Risk Register) which identifies the key risks facing the business and how these risks  
are monitored and managed on an ongoing basis; 

an established organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and delegation of authority; 

a review procedure for organisational restructuring following Company acquisitions; 

documented and enforced policies and procedures; 

appointment of staff of the necessary calibre to fulfil their allotted responsibilities; 

comprehensive budgets and forecasts, approved by the Board, reviewed and revised on a regular basis, with performance 
monitored against them and explanations obtained for material variances; 

a detailed investment approval process, requiring Board approval for major projects. Post investment appraisals are conducted  
and are reviewed by the Board; 

an Audit Committee of the Board, comprising independent Non-executive Directors, which considers significant financial control 
matters as appropriate; 

an internal audit function which performs continuous assessments of the quality and effectiveness of risk management  
and internal control; 

regular reporting by the Audit Committee to the Board of Directors regarding internal audit and control updates; 

documented fraud and whistleblowing policies and procedures and regular review of current whistleblowing regulations; 

reporting by the Audit Committee to the Board of Directors of any changes to accounting policies and of any accounting  
and legal developments; 

a regular review of treasury policies and activities by the Audit Committee; and 

an established programme of management and staff development and succession planning. 

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control during the year, and has considered any 
material developments which have taken place since the year end. The review was carried out through the monitoring process set  
out above. In the opinion of the Board, the review did not indicate that the internal control system was ineffective or unsatisfactory. 

What is the role of the Audit Committee? 
The Audit Committee is made up of Ian Fraser (Chairman), Fritz Ternofsky and Randl Shure and meets at least four times each year. 
Senior management, including the Finance Director, and internal and external auditors are invited to attend for part or all of each 
meeting. The internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee and its Chairman, and the Head of 
Internal Audit and Group Risk meets at least annually with the Chairman without the presence of management. All of the members  
of the Audit Committee are independent Non-executive Directors and at least one meets the requirement of the Combined Code  
for recent relevant financial experience. 

The Audit Committee considers all matters relating to internal control and reporting, internal and external audits, the scope and  
results of the audits and the independence and objectivity of the auditors. It also establishes that an effective system of internal 
financial control is maintained. 

The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for making a recommendation on the appointment or re-appointment of the external 
auditors. In order to maintain the independence of the external auditors, the Board has determined policies as to what non-audit 
services can be provided by the Company’s external auditors. Under those policies, work of a consultancy nature is not offered to  
the external auditors unless there are clear efficiencies and value-added benefits to the Company. The Audit Committee monitors  
the level of non-audit fees paid to the external auditors. 
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During the year and to the date of this report, the work of the Audit Committee has included consideration of the following matters: 

the financial statements in the 2006 and 2007 Annual Report and Financial Statements and the interim report issued in May 
2007. As part of this review, the Committee received reports from the external auditors in relation to the 2006 and 2007 final 
audits and the 2007 interim review; 

the independence and objectivity of the external auditors; 

the recommendation of the reappointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the external auditors and the approval of the 2007  
external audit plan and fee proposal; 

the evaluation of the performance of the external auditors; 

the review and approval of changes to accounting policies and treatments under IFRS; 

the progress of the internal audit programme and matters arising and the effectiveness and workload of the internal audit 
department and the adequacy of available resource; 

the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls; and 

the Company’s whistleblowing procedures including updates of any whistleblowing or fraud incidents which may occur. 

What is the role of the Nominations Committee? 
The Nominations Committee is made up of Mike Foster (Chairman), Peter Cawdron and Ian Fraser and meetings are held as  
deemed necessary by the Chairman of the Committee. The majority of the Nominations Committee members, including the 
Committee Chairman, are independent Non-executive Directors. 

The Nominations Committee considers all matters relating to the structure, size and composition of the Board and makes necessary 
recommendations to the Board with regard to adjustments and new appointments where deemed necessary. The Committee considers the 
mix of skills and experiences that the Board requires and seeks the appointment of directors to meet its assessment of what is required 
to ensure that the Board is effective in discharging its responsibilities. 

What is the role of the Remuneration Committee? 
The Remuneration Committee is made up of Fritz Ternofsky (Chairman), Peter Cawdron and Mike Foster and meets at least twice  
a year and at such other times as the Chairman of the Committee deems necessary. With the exception of Peter Cawdron, all of the 
members of the Remuneration Committee are independent Non-executive Directors. The Chief Executive and other Directors may be 
invited to attend meetings as considered appropriate by the Remuneration Committee.  

The Remuneration Committee will consider all material elements of the remuneration policy to ensure that remuneration is sufficient  
to attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors and senior management of the quality required to manage the Company successfully. This 
is performed with reference to independent remuneration research and professional advice, which is provided by Hewitt, in accordance 
with the Combined Code. The Remuneration Committee will recommend to the Board the framework for the remuneration packages 
of individual Executive Directors. The Board is then responsible for implementing the recommendations although no Director is involved in 
deciding his own remuneration. The Directors are not permitted to vote on their own terms and conditions of remuneration. The 
Remuneration Committee is responsible for preparation of the Report on Directors’ remuneration which forms part of this Annual 
Report and can be found on pages 32 to 44. 

How does the Company communicate with shareholders? 
Communications with shareholders are given high priority and the Company aims to provide as much information as is commercially 
sensible to both existing and potential investors, recognising that transparency is the best way to develop understanding of the 
Company’s strategy, performance and growth potential. The Company encourages two-way communication with both its institutional 
and private shareholders and responds quickly to all enquiries. There is a regular dialogue with institutional shareholders as well as 
presentations after the Company’s preliminary announcement of the year end results and after announcement of its interim results. 

The Board uses the Annual General Meetings to communicate with private and institutional investors and welcomes their participation. 
The Chairman aims to ensure that the Chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees and the Senior Independent 
Non-executive Director are available at the AGM to answer relevant questions. The Chairman also writes to the top 20 major 
shareholders on an annual basis inviting them to correspond with the Non-executive Directors if they so wish. 
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Opening statement from the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
The Committee’s role is to govern Executive Directors’ remuneration, and to ensure that the Company’s reward strategy helps to drive 
business performance and shareholder value. All the Committee members are independent Non-executive Directors’, or, in the case of 
Peter Cawdron, was independent on his appointment as Chairman of Punch Taverns plc. The Committee is committed to clear disclosure of 
Directors’ remuneration to shareholders; this report details the individual remuneration of Board Directors and explains the principles 
and policies that the Committee has applied. 

The following points provide important context for the Report on Directors’ remuneration: 

the Group has performed strongly during 2006 / 2007, with both profit before tax and earnings per share (EPS) up by 13%  
(pre exceptional items) over the previous year; 

total shareholder return (TSR) for the five years to August 2007 has been 458% compared with 156% for the FTSE 350 Travel  
and Leisure Index, and 66% for the FTSE 100; and 

the Company has entered the FTSE 100 during the last financial year. 

During 2007, the Committee has undertaken a review of reward strategy. The conclusions of this review were: 

that the Company should continue to apply a policy of limiting the fixed elements of remuneration (base salary and pension),  
whilst using the performance-related elements (annual bonus and long term incentive) to drive performance and maintain market 
competitiveness; 

that base salaries should be positioned in a range between lower quartile and median, but that the performance-related elements 
should have sufficient scope to deliver upper quartile total remuneration relative to the market, for upper quartile performance; 

for upper quartile total remuneration to be achieved, this would require an increase to the annual bonus payable for outstanding 
Company and personal performance from 100% to 150% of base salary. One third of bonus is to be delivered in Company shares. 
There will be no matching opportunity on these shares unlike the previous scheme whereby free matching shares were provided 
(subject to a performance condition) on 25% of the bonus earned in the year; 

that the maximum Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) award should remain at the existing level of 200% of base salary (face value); and 

that the LTIP should be linked to total shareholder return and growth in EPS, to focus on both of these important performance 
measures. The Committee is submitting a resolution to shareholders for approval of the LTIP at the January 2008 AGM. 

The Board unanimously recommends that shareholders vote to approve the Report on Directors’ remuneration, and to support  
the proposed LTIP. 

On behalf of the Board 

Fritz Ternofsky 
Remuneration Committee Chairman 
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Introduction 
This report has been prepared in accordance with The Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 (‘the Regulations’). The report 
also meets the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and describes how the Board  
has complied with the provisions of the Combined Code (‘the Code’) relating to remuneration matters. 

The report is divided into two parts. The first part contains the commentary of remuneration policy, which is not required to be audited.  
The second part contains the remuneration tables that have been audited in accordance with the relevant statutory requirements. 

Unaudited information 
The Remuneration Committee 
The Committee members are: 

Fritz Ternofsky (Chairman) 
Mike Foster 
Peter Cawdron 

They are all independent Non-executive Directors, or, in the case of Peter Cawdron, was independent on his appointment as Chairman 
of Punch Taverns plc. The Committee members have no personal financial interest, other than as shareholders, in the matters to be 
decided. There are no potential conflicts of interest arising from cross-directorships and no day-to-day involvement in running the 
business. The Committee determines the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and any changes to their service contracts,  
as well as the remuneration of other senior executives. The Committee also governs any annual bonus plans, long term incentives  
and employee share plans. The Committee’s terms of reference are available on the Company’s website. 

Advisers to the Committee 
In respect of the 2006 review, the Committee received independent remuneration advice from Halliwell Consulting (Halliwell) and in 
respect of the 2007 review, the Committee received independent remuneration advice from Hewitt Associates (Hewitt). These advisers 
were appointed by the Committee and are accountable to it. Halliwell continue to provide administration services connected to the 
Company’s Executive and all employee share plans and Hewitt provide consulting advice to the Company in respect of its Spirit pension 
schemes and actuarial, investment and other advice to the trustee of the two Spirit pension schemes. The Committee does not believe 
that the independence of its advisers are compromised by these appointments. The Committee also consulted with the Chief Executive, the 
Company Secretary and the Group Director of Human Resources. However, no executive was permitted to participate in discussions 
about their personal remuneration.  

The Committee met five times during the course of the year. 

Remuneration policy 
The Committee’s reward policy is designed to drive business performance and maximise shareholder value. It is based on the  
following principles: 

 that remuneration should be viewed holistically (Total Reward), taking account of all reward elements; 

 that Total Reward should be set at a market competitive level to retain and recruit people of the required talent and experience; 

 that the package should be structured to allow the majority of Total Reward to be dependent on performance; 

 that Total Reward liabilities and costs should be monitored and controlled; and 

 that Total Reward should support the creation of shareholder value. 

Remuneration is benchmarked against two relevant comparator groups: 

Comparator group 1   Comparator group 2 

UK pub, restaurant and hotel sector companies  
(examples provided below)   

UK companies of similar size and complexity  
to Punch Taverns in other relevant sectors 

Enterprise Inns plc 
Mitchells & Butlers plc 
J D Wetherspoon plc 
Whitbread plc 
Greene King plc 

Marstons plc 
Restaurant Group plc 
Luminar plc 
Millennium &  
Copthorne Hotels plc 
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The table below summarises, for 2007 / 2008, each element of the Punch Taverns Total Reward package for Executive Directors and  
its key features: 

Component  Size Market posture Purpose Delivery Other key features 

Base salary Varies by role and 
individual. 

In a range from  
lower quartile  
to median. 

To recognise the 
market value of  
the employee  
and the role. 

 Cash. 
 Monthly. 
 Pensionable. 

 Reviewed annually. 

Annual performance 
bonus plan  
  
  

Individual  
maximums, but  
the cap on these  
is 150% of 
base salary. 

Upper quartile 
opportunity. 

To drive and  
reward annual 
performance of 
individuals, teams  
and the Company. 

 67% cash. 
 33% shares 
(non-matchable). 
 Annual.  
 Non-pensionable. 

Based on annual 
performance:  
 50% personal  
and business unit 
performance; and 
 50% Company 
performance. 

Long term  
incentive plan 
  
  

Maximum award  
level of 200% of  
base salary (face  
value of shares). 

Upper quartile 
opportunity. 

To drive and  
reward sustained 
performance  
of the Company. 

 Free shares subject  
to performance 
conditions. 
 Annual awards 
vesting after three 
years. 
 Non-pensionable.  

 For 2007 / 2008, 
new LTIP proposed: 
50% relative TSR 
and 50% EPS 
growth. 

Pension  
  
  

Between 12.0%  
and 12.5% of  
base salary 

Lower quartile. To provide a 
threshold level of 
retirement benefit, 
which individuals  
can supplement. 

 Defined 
contribution. 

 

The table below shows the relative proportions of pay at risk and not at risk (2007 / 2008 year): 

 Not at risk At risk 

Component Base salary Pension contribution Annual bonus (max) LTIP (max) 

% of Total Reward 22% 3% 32% 43% 

 25% in total 75% in total 

Elements of remuneration 
Base salary 
Policy: lower quartile to median range 
The table below shows the base salaries of each current Executive Director for 2006 / 2007 and salaries that will apply in 2007 / 2008: 

Name Position 2006 / 2007 2007 / 2008 % increase 

Giles Thorley Chief Executive £450,000 £525,000 16.7% 

Phil Dutton Finance Director £39,0001 £350,000 N / A 

Jonathan Paveley Commercial Director £240,000 £274,000 14.2% 

Andrew Knight Managing Director – Spirit £240,000 £274,000 14.2% 

1 Fee as a Non-executive Director. 

The Committee has given careful consideration to the level of base salaries for Executive Directors, and the comparison of these with 
the market. The increases in base salary for the 2007 / 2008 year were required to reflect the Committee’s policy of positioning base 
salary in a range between market lower quartile and median. Despite these increases, the base salaries for these positions remain 
below the relevant market median. The Committee also took the view that increases should be immediate rather than phased over  
number of years to enable the retention of key talent and to reward people appropriately against comparator companies. 
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Annual bonus 
Policy: maximum bonus to be upper quartile 
2006 / 2007 bonus year  
The table below explains the structure of annual bonus for the 2006 / 2007 performance year. The maximum annual bonus available 
was 100% of base salary, with amount paid being split part cash (75%) and part Punch Taverns plc shares (25%), with further 
matching shares released after three years (for further information see section under Long term incentives). 

The performance conditions for the Executive Directors were structured as follows:  

Key performance area Weighting 

Company financial results 60% 

Performance of individual’s own business area or function (for Chief Executive this is Company as a whole) 30% 

Other personal contribution 10% 

The bonuses earned for 2006 / 2007 for each current Executive Director are shown in the table below: 

Name Position Annual bonus paid % of base salary 

Giles Thorley Chief Executive £335,700 74.6% 

Phil Dutton Finance Director Nil N / A 

Jonathan Paveley Commercial Director £162,240 67.6% 

Andrew Knight Managing Director – Spirit £126,240 52.6% 

2007 / 2008 bonus year 
For the 2007 / 2008 financial year, the Committee has implemented the following changes to the annual bonus plan: 

 the maximum annual bonus available has increased from 100% to 150% of base salary. This was necessary to maintain annual 
bonus at an upper quartile level, whilst the base salary continues to be contained in a range of lower quartile to median and 
pension is limited to the lower quartile; 

 the maximum bonus of 150% of base salary will only be payable if both individual and Company performance is outstanding; and 

 one third of the annual bonus will be delivered in shares that must be retained for at least two years and there will be no 
matching opportunity on these shares. 
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Long term incentives 
Policy: maximum long term incentives should be upper quartile for upper quartile performance 
Punch Taverns plc LTIP 

Awards made during the 2006 / 2007 financial year under this LTIP have the following features: 

 performance shares; 

 three year vesting period; 

 three year performance period (measured from November 2006 to November 2009); 

 a relative TSR performance condition; and  

 maximum award size of 200% of base salary (face value). 

Relative TSR is measured against the following companies: 

Carnival plc Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc 
Enterprise Inns plc Mitchells & Butlers plc 
Gondola Holdings plc MyTravel Group plc 
Greene King plc Rank Group plc 
Intercontinental Hotels Group plc Restaurant Group plc 
J D Wetherspoon plc Whitbread plc 
Marstons plc William Hill plc 

The vesting scale is as follows: 

Ranking in the peer group % of award that vests 

Upper quartile or above 100% 

Between median and upper quartile Straight line pro-ration 

Median 25% 

Below median 0% (with no re-testing of performance) 

Relative TSR was selected as an appropriate performance metric as it is a direct measure of shareholder value creation, relative to the 
shareholder value generated by other companies. Vesting is also subject to the Committee being satisfied that the TSR achieved is a 
genuine reflection of the underlying financial performance. 

The table below shows the levels of LTIP award made to the current Executive Directors during the 2006 / 2007 year, the fair value  
of those awards (taking account of the performance condition) and the face value at median and upper quartiles: 

Name Position 
% of salary 

awarded Number of shares Fair value 

Face value  
(at median 

performance) 

Face value 
(at upper quartile 

performance) 

Giles Thorley Chief Executive 200% 79,787 £493,140 £225,000 £900,000 

Phil Dutton Finance Director N / A N / A N / A N / A N / A 

Jonathan Paveley Commercial Director 200% 39,007 £251,091 £110,000 £440,000 

Andrew Knight Managing Director – Spirit 200% 42,553 £263,007 £120,000 £480,000 

2007 / 2008 financial year 
The Committee has proposed a new LTIP to replace the existing Plan. The proposed LTIP will have the same maximum award size of 
200% of base salary. The proposed performance conditions are relative TSR and EPS growth, with half of each award related to each 
of the two metrics. The Committee is submitting a resolution to shareholders for approval of the LTIP at the January 2008 AGM. Full 
details of the proposed LTIP will be included in the AGM circular to shareholders. 
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Punch Taverns plc Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSB) 
In addition to the LTIP, Executive Directors also participated in the DSB. As described in the section of this report relating to annual 
bonus, 25% of annual bonus was delivered in shares. Provided these shares (net of tax) are retained for at least three years, the 
individual remains in employment with Punch Taverns plc for the three years, and a performance condition is met, the gross value of 
the amount of bonus that was originally delivered in shares is matched one-for-one. The performance condition is that the Company’s 
EPS growth must be at least equal to RPI (Retail Price Index inflation) +5% p.a. 

The table below shows the levels of DSB matching shares awarded in respect of bonuses paid to current Executive Directors for the 
2005 / 2006 financial year in November 2006: 

Name Position Annual bonus 
% of this annual bonus 

awarded in shares 
Face value of the DSB 

matching shares 
Fair value of the DSB 

matching shares 

Giles Thorley Chief Executive £307,500 25% £76,873 £75,878 

Phil Dutton Finance Director N / A N / A N / A N / A 

Jonathan Paveley Commercial Director £100,700 25% £25,177 £24,851 

Andrew Knight Managing Director – Spirit £121,900 25% £30,479 £30,084 

Dilution 
In accordance with shareholder guidelines, the Committee applies a limit on the amount of shares than can be issued to satisfy all its 
employee share plan awards of 10% of the Company’s issued share capital in any rolling ten year period. Of this 10%, only 5% can  
be issued to satisfy awards under discretionary plans that apply to executives and senior managers only. The current position against 
these limits is shown below. It should be noted that the figures below exclude 3.21% of dilution relating to options granted prior to 
the Company’s flotation in May 2002 and therefore not subject to the ABI guidelines. 

Limit Current dilution level 
Additional dilution during the 2006 / 2007 financial year 

(included in the previous column) 

10% in 10 years 1.58% 0.22% 

5% in 10 years 1.29% 0.21% 

Shareholding requirement 
The Committee requires that all individuals who participate in the Company’s LTIP satisfy a minimum shareholding requirement. The 
table below shows the shareholding requirement for Executive Directors and their current personal shareholding: 

Name Position 

Shareholding 
requirement 

% of base salary To be achieved by 

Current actual 
shareholding as a 
% of base salary 

Giles Thorley Chief Executive 200% August 2009 399% 

Phil Dutton Finance Director 150% August 2012 26% 

Jonathan Paveley Commercial Director 150% August 2009 36% 

Andrew Knight Managing Director – Spirit 150% August 2012 5% 

The original target date set in 2004 for achieving shareholding targets was 2009 but for those Directors who have recently joined the 
Board a period of five years has been set. 
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Pension 
Policy: lower quartile 
Executive Directors are entitled to receive a defined contribution to pension from the Company of between 12.0% and 12.5% of  
base salary. None of the Executive Directors are accruing benefits under a defined benefit pension plan. 

Benefits 
Policy: consistent with general market practice 
The Company’s policy is to provide Executive Directors with a market-competitive level of benefits, including company car or car allowance, 
private medical insurance, lump sum life insurance for death-in-service and income protection insurance for long term disability. 

Total compensation 
Policy: upper quartile (but with at least two thirds of total compensation subject to performance) 
The Committee’s policy is that Executive Directors should have the opportunity to earn upper quartile total compensation for upper 
quartile performance. The table below shows for the Company’s current Executive Directors: 

 total compensation for 2006 / 2007; 

 total compensation for 2007 / 2008, incorporating changes to base salaries, and annual bonus opportunity; and 

 approximate market upper quartile total compensation for the market benchmark (being a peer group of companies in the same 
sector and companies of similar size across sectors). 

Name Position 
2006 / 2007 actual 
total compensation1 

2007 / 2008 total  
compensation2 

Approximate market upper 
quartile total compensation3 

Giles Thorley Chief Executive £1,368,000 £1,779,000 £1,800,000 

Phil Dutton Finance Director N / A £1,193,000 £1,100,000 

Jonathan Paveley Commercial Director £695,000 £940,000 £1,000,000 

Andrew Knight Managing Director – Spirit N / A £940,000 £1,000,000 

1 2006 / 2007 actual total compensation is the sum of; base salary, actual bonus, approximate fair value of DSB and LTIP grants made during the year, Company 
pension contribution and other benefits. 

2 2007 / 2008 total compensation is the sum of; new base salary, new target bonus, approximate fair value of LTIP grants expected to be made during the year, 
Company pension contribution and other benefits. 

3 Approximate market upper quartile total compensation is calculated using; base salary, actual bonus paid, approximate fair value of long term incentive awards 
made, Company pension contribution and other benefits. 

Other remuneration matters 
All employee share arrangements 
The following table summarises the main features of the Group’s all employee share arrangements and their current status: 

Name Status Eligibility Main features 
Percentage of eligible 

employees participating 

SIP Operated during  
2006 / 2007 and  
will be operated for  
2007 / 2008 

All employees of Punch 
Taverns including the  
Executive Directors. The  
Plan has been extended  
to Spirit employees in  
2007 / 2008. 

The Plan provides 
employees with the 
opportunity of 
purchasing £1,500  
of shares a year out  
of pre-tax salary  
and the Company 
providing additional 
matching shares on a  
1:1 ratio. These matching 
shares will normally be 
released three years after 
they have been awarded 
provided that the 
associated shares 
purchased by the 
employee have been 
retained and provided  
the employee is still 
employed by a group 
company at this time. 

64% 

SAYE scheme The Plan is in the  
run-off stage with  
no new invitations  
since May 2003.  
It is not currently  
intended to  
operate the Plan  
in the future. 

N / A Options are granted  
over Company shares at  
a discount of up to 20%  
of the market value on 
the date of grant, which 
subject to the satisfaction 
of conditions can be 
exercised after either 
three or five years. 

N / A 
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Directors’ contracts 
The policy on termination is that the Group does not make payments beyond its contractual obligations. In addition, Executive 
Directors will be expected to mitigate their loss. The Remuneration Committee ensures that there have been no unjustified payments 
for failure. None of the Executive Directors’ contracts provides for liquidated damages. There are no special provisions contained in any 
of the Executive Directors’ contracts which provide for longer periods of notice on a change of control of the Company. Further, there 
are no special provisions providing for additional compensation on an Executive Director’s cessation of employment with the Group. 

Executive Directors Company notice period Contract date 
Unexpired term 

of contract 

Potential  
termination  

payment 

Potential payment 
on change of 

control / liquidation 

Giles Thorley 12 months 17 August 2001 Rolling contract1 12 months salary Nil 

Phil Dutton 12 months 24 July 2007 Rolling contract1 12 months salary Nil 

Jonathan Paveley 12 months 3 May 2004 Rolling contract1 12 months salary Nil 

Andrew Knight 12 months 12 July 2007 Rolling contract1 12 months salary Nil 
1 Contract will continue until terminated by notice either by the Company or the Director. 

Non-executive Directors Company notice period Contract date 
Unexpired term 

of contract (months) 

Peter Cawdron 12 months 18 June 2003 9 

Mike Foster 12 months 3 May 2002 9 

Ian Fraser 1 month 22 Sept 2004 10 

Randl Shure 12 months 29 July 2003 9 

Fritz Ternofsky 12 months 3 May 2002 9 

It should be noted that the fees paid for the services of Randl Shure and Mike Foster are paid to third parties. 

Non-executive Directors’ fees 
Policy: median level fees 
All Non-executive Directors have specific terms of engagement and their remuneration is determined by the Board based upon 
recommendations from the Chairman and Chief Executive (or, in the case of the Chairman, is determined by the Remuneration 
Committee based on recommendations from the Senior Independent Non-executive Director and the Chief Executive) within the limits 
set by the Articles of Association and based on the median level of fees payable to peers in the same Comparator Group as that used 
for Executive Directors’ remuneration. Non-executive Directors cannot participate in any of the Company’s share incentive schemes or 
performance-based plans and are not eligible to join any of the Group’s pension schemes. 

It is the Board’s policy to take into account the following factors in determining the fees of the Non-executive Directors: 

 the median level of fees for similar positions in the Comparator Group; and 

 the time commitment each Non-executive Director makes to the Group (through membership of the Audit, Remuneration and 
Nomination Committees). 

The following table sets out the non-executive fees for 2006 / 2007 and the fees for 2007 / 2008: 

   2006 / 2007 2007 / 2008 

Basic fee £39,000 £42,000 
Senior Independent Non-executive Director £42,000 £45,000 
Additional fees for chairing the Audit or Remuneration Committee £10,000 £10,000 
Additional fee for chairing the Nominations Committee  Nil £5,000 

The fee paid to Peter Cawdron, Chairman of the Company, for 2007 / 2008 will be £155,000 p.a. (2006 / 2007: £145,000 p.a. since 
appointment as Chairman in January 2007). 
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Total shareholder return performance graph 
The graph shows the Company’s performance, measured by total shareholder return (TSR), compared with the FTSE 350 Travel and 
Leisure Index and FTSE 100 Index. The Remuneration Committee considers these to be relevant indices for TSR comparison as the 
Travel and Leisure Index members represent a range of UK quoted leisure companies, and the FTSE 100 is the index of the 100 largest 
UK companies by market capitalisation.  

Punch Taverns
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The graph shows the value, at 18 August 2007, of £100 invested in Punch Taverns plc on 17 August 2002, compared with the value 
of £100 invested in the FTSE 350 Travel and Leisure Index and £100 invested in the FTSE 100 Index, for the same period. The other 
points plotted are the values at intervening financial year ends. 

The graph shows that at the end of the 2006 / 2007 financial year, a hypothetical £100 invested in Punch Taverns plc on 17 August 
2002 would have generated a total return of £458, compared with a total return of only £156 if invested in the FTSE 350 Travel  
and Leisure Index, and £66 if invested in the FTSE 100 Index, for the same period. 

40 
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Audited information 
The total of Directors’ emoluments in the period was £2,646,000 (2006: £2,502,000), including pension contributions of £149,000 
(2006: £352,000). The remuneration and interests in the Group share plans of the Directors at the end of the period, from the  
date of their appointment as Directors, was as follows: 

Annual remuneration 
             Basic salary / fees          Benefits1          Bonus2          Total          Pension 

 
2007
£000

2006 
£000 

2007
£000

2006
£000 

2007
£000

2006
£000 

2007
£000

2006 
£000 

2007
£000

2006
£000 

Executive Directors      
Giles Thorley 450 410 35 28 336 308 821 746 54 49 
Robert McDonald 257 240 21 16 229 130 507 386 31 2543

Jonathan Paveley  228 190 28 22 162 101 418 313 28 23 

Andrew Knight4 138  – 6  – 74  – 218  – 17  – 

Non-executive Directors      
Ian Fraser 45 37  –  –  –  – 45 37  –  – 
Peter Cawdron7 104 44  –  –  –  – 104 44  –  – 
Phil Dutton4 23  –  –  –  –  – 23  –  –  – 
Mike Foster 39 37  –  –  –  – 39 37  –  – 
Randl Shure 39 37  –  –  –  – 39 37  –  – 
Fritz Ternofsky 52 47  –  –  –  – 52 47  –  – 

Former Directors      
Adrian Fawcett5 153 215 12 16  – 116 165 347 19 26 
Martin Glenn6 16 37  –  –  –  – 16 37  –  – 
Phil Cox6 50 117  – 2  –  – 50 119  –  – 

Total 1,594 1,411 102 84 801 655 2,497 2,150 149 352 

Pension 
Giles Thorley, Robert McDonald, Jonathan Paveley and Andrew Knight are entitled to receive a Group contribution into their personal 
pension arrangements representing between 12.0% and 12.5% of their pensionable salary. 

Prior to the demerger of the Spirit Group in 2002, Robert McDonald and Andrew Knight were members of the Spirit Group Pension 
Scheme, a defined benefit salary scheme, and the Group contributed 23% of Robert McDonald’s and 13% of Andrew Knight’s 
pensionable salaries into the scheme. Pursuant to the demerger of the Spirit Group, the Group ceased to participate in the scheme  
on 5 April 2003. Their pension entitlements under this scheme are as follows: 

 

Accrued annual  
benefit as at 18 

August 2007 
£000 

Change in 
accrued benefit 

over the year
£000 

Transfer value at 
18 August 

20078 

£000 

Transfer value at 
19 August 

20068

£000 

Change in transfer 
value over the year 

less Director’s 
contributions 

£000 

Change in accrued 
benefit in excess 

of inflation
£000 

Robert McDonald 85 3 1,389 1,150 239  – 
Andrew Knight 27 – 249 182 67 – 

1 Benefits include the following elements; health cover, car, fuel, death in service and income protection. 
2 These figures include the amount of the annual performance related bonus (25%) deferred to buy shares (bonus shares) in line with the Punch Taverns plc 

Deferred Share Bonus Plan approved by shareholders at the AGM on 15 January 2004. Full details of the operation of the Plan are contained in the first part  
of this Report. 

3 Of this amount, £28,800 relates to normal contributions at 12% of salary for the 2005 / 2006 financial year, £17,723 relates to pension payments from 
September 2006 to March 2007 paid in advance prior to changes in pension legislation (‘A’ day) introduced on 6 April 2006 and the balance of £207,014 
relates to compensation paid for the discontinuance of his participation in the Spirit Group Defined Benefit Pension Scheme following the Company’s demerger 
in 2002. 

4 Appointed 24 January 2007. 
5 Resigned 30 March 2007. 
6 Resigned 24 January 2007. 
7  Replaced Phil Cox as Chairman on 24 January 2007. 
8 Transfer values have been calculated in accordance with Guidance Note GN11 issued by the Faculty and Institute of Actuaries. The transfer values represent  

the actuarial liability of the pension plan and not the sum paid or due to an individual. 
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Directors’ interests in the Group’s share plans 
Deferred Share Bonus Plan  
The following table sets out the awards of Deferred Bonus Shares made under this Plan. Full details of the operation of the Plan are  
set out in the first part of this report. 

   Value of shares conditionally awarded  

Executive Directors Date of award Date of release 

Share price 
at date of 
grant (£) £000 

Awarded  
during the  

period 

Number as at 
18 August 

2007 

Giles Thorley 17.11.04 17.11.07 5.55 70  – 12,589 
 10.11.05 10.11.08 7.46 48  – 6,451 
 13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 77 6,815 6,815 

Total      25,855 

Robert McDonald 17.11.04 17.11.07 5.55 39  – 7,024 
 10.11.05 10.11.08 7.46 29  – 3,954 
 13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 32 2,872 2,872 

Total      13,850 

Jonathan Paveley 17.11.04 17.11.07 5.55 7  – 1,249 
 10.11.05 10.11.08 7.46 22  – 2,895 
 13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 25 2,232 2,232 

Total      6,376

Andrew Knight 13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 30 2,702 2,702 

Total      2,702

Awards of Deferred Bonus Shares will only be released if the Group’s average EPS before exceptional items (tax normalised) growth  
is equal to or exceeds RPI +5% p.a. over the three year holding period from the date of grant, and the associated Bonus Shares are retained 
by the Executive Director over this period. Full details of the performance conditions are contained in the first part of this report. 

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) 
The following table sets out the grants made under this Plan. Full details of the operation of the Plan are set out in the first part of this report.  

   Value of shares conditionally awarded  Value of shares released  

Executive Directors Date of award Date of release 

Share price 
at date of 
award (£) £000 

Percentage 
of salary at 

date of 
award 

Awarded 
during the 

period 

Number 
as at 

19 August 
2006 

Released 
during the 

period 

Market 
price at 
date of 

release (£) 

Gain on 
release 

£000 

Number 
as at 

18 August 
2007 

Giles Thorley 02.03.04 02.03.07 5.19 657 200  – 126,711 126,711 11.13 1,410 – 
 18.11.04 17.11.07 5.55 466 133  – 84,076 – – – 84,076 
 16.11.05 16.11.08 7.67 547 133  – 71,273 – – – 71,273 
 13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 900 200 79,787  – – – – 79,787 

Total       282,060    235,136 

Robert McDonald 02.03.04 02.03.07 5.19 190 100 – 36,644 36,644 11.13 408 – 
 18.11.04 17.11.07 5.55 133 67 – 24,022 – – – 24,022 
 16.11.05 16.11.08 7.67 240 100 – 31,291  – – – 31,291 
 13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 514 200 45,567 – – –  – 45,567 

Total       91,957    100,880 

Jonathan Paveley 15.06.04 15.06.07 4.87 50 31 – 10,266 10,266 13.30 137 – 
 18.11.04 17.11.07 5.55 107 67 – 19,217 – – – 19,217 
 16.11.05 16.11.08 7.67 190 100 – 24,772 – – – 24,772 
 13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 440 200 39,007  – – – – 39,007 

Total       54,255    82,996 

Andrew Knight 31.01.06 31.01.09 8.66 153 67 – 17,706  – – – 17,706 
 13.11.06 13.11.09 11.28 480 200 42,553 – – – – 42,553 

Total       17,706    60,259 
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Awards under the LTIP will only be released if the Group’s comparative total shareholder return (TSR) is equal to or greater than  
the median level of performance of the Comparator Group over the three year holding period from the date of grant, at which point 
25% of the award will be released (30% for grant made in November 2004). Full release of the award will occur for upper quartile 
performance with straight line release between the median and upper quartile positions. Full details of the performance conditions  
are contained in the first part of this report. 

Inland Revenue Approved Share Incentive Plan (SIP) 
The SIP is the current all employee share plan operated by the Group. The following table sets out the shares purchased and awarded 
under the Plan in respect of the Executive Directors. Full details of the operation of the Plan are set out in the first part of this report. 

Executive Directors Date of award 
Date of 
release

Share price  
at date of 

purchase of 
Partnership 
shares and 

award of 
Matching 
shares (£) 

Partnership 
shares 

purchased 
during the 

period

Matching 
shares 

conditionally 
awarded 

during the 
period

 Dividend 
shares 

acquired 
during the 

period

Number 
as at 

19 August 
2006

Partnership 
shares 

released 
during the 

period

Matching 
shares 

released 
during the 

period 

Market price 
at date of 
release (£) 

Gain on 
release of 
Matching 

shares 
£000

Number 
as at 

18 August 
2007

Giles Thorley 30.06.04 30.06.07 5.10  –  –  – 588 294 294 12.30 4  –

 31.01.05 31.01.08 6.64  –  –  – 5  –  –  –  – 5

 27.06.05 27.06.08 7.10  –  –  – 422  –  –  –  – 422

 01.07.05 01.07.08 7.40  –  –  – 3  –  –  –  – 3

 27.01.06 27.01.09 8.97  –  –  – 8  –  –  –  – 8

 19.06.06 19.06.09 8.44  –  –  – 356  –  –  –  – 356

 30.06.06 30.06.09 8.61  –  –  – 6  –  –  –  – 6

 30.01.07 30.01.10 11.45  –  – 11  –  –  –  –  – 11

 15.06.07 15.06.10 13.16 114 114  –  –  –  –  –  – 228

 29.06.07 29.06.10 12.31  –  – 5  –  –  –  –  – 5

Total   1,388   1,044

Robert McDonald 30.06.04 30.06.07 5.10 – –  – 588 294 294 12.30 4  –

 31.01.05 31.01.08 6.64 – –  – 5  –  –  –  – 5

 27.06.05 27.06.08 7.10 – –  – 422  –  –  –  – 422

 01.07.05 01.07.08 7.40 – –  – 3  –  –  –  – 3

 27.01.06 27.01.09 8.97 –  –  – 8  –  –  –  – 8

 19.06.06 19.06.09 8.44 –  –  – 356  –  –  –  – 356

 30.06.06 30.06.09 8.61 –  –  – 6  –  –  –  – 6

 30.01.07 30.01.10 11.45 –  – 11  –  –  –  –  – 11

 15.06.07 15.06.10 13.16 114 114  –  –  –  –  –  – 228

 29.06.07 29.06.10 12.31 –  – 5  –  –  –  –  – 5

Total   1,388   1,044

Jonathan Paveley 30.06.04 30.06.07 5.10 –  –  – 588 294 294 12.30 4  –

 31.01.05 31.01.08 6.64 –  –  – 5  –  –  –  – 5

 27.06.05 27.06.08 7.10  –  –  – 422  –  –  –  – 422

 01.07.05 01.07.08 7.40  –  –  – 3  –  –  –  – 3

 27.01.06 27.01.09 8.97  –  –  – 8  –  –  –  – 8

 19.06.06 19.06.09 8.44  –  –  – 356  –  –  –  – 356

 30.06.06 30.06.09 8.61  –  –  – 6  –  –  –  – 6

 30.01.07 30.01.10 11.45  –  – 11  –  –  –  –  – 11

 15.06.07 15.06.10 13.16 114 114  –  –  –  –  –  – 228

 29.06.07 29.06.10 12.31  –  – 5  –  –  –  –  – 5

Total   1,388   1,044
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Discretionary Share Plan 
The Discretionary Share Plan is a legacy option scheme. The Company does not intend to make any future grants under this Plan.  
The last award under the Plan was made in January 2006. 

  Exercise period       

Executive Directors 
Date of 

grant From To 
Exercise 
price (£) 

Number of 
options at 
19 August 

2006 

Number of 
options at 
18 August 

2007 

Number of 
options 
already  
vested 

Number of 
options not 

yet vested 
Performance 

condition 

Giles Thorley 01.12.01 27.05.02 25.05.12 1.98 1,251,230 1,251,230 1,251,230 –  – 
 01.12.01 27.05.02 25.05.12 2.05 344,780 344,780 344,780 –  – 
 05.12.02 05.12.05 05.12.12 1.94 154,639 154,639 154,639 – C1 
 02.03.04 02.03.07 01.03.14 5.19 63,355 63,355 63,355 – C2 
 17.11.04 17.11.07 17.11.14 5.51 42,470 42,470 – 42,470 C3 
 16.11.05 16.11.08 16.11.15 7.67 35,637 35,637 – 35,637 C3 

Total     1,892,111 1,892,111 1,814,004 78,107  

Robert McDonald 02.03.04 02.03.07 01.03.14 5.19 18,322 18,322 18,322 – C2 
 17.11.04 17.11.07 17.11.14 5.51 12,134 12,134 – 12,134 C3 
 16.11.05 16.11.08 16.11.15 7.67 15,645 15,645 – 15,645 C3 

Total     46,101 46,101 18,322 27,779  

Jonathan Paveley 17.11.04 17.11.07 17.11.14 5.51 9,707 9,707 – 9,707 C3 
 16.11.05 16.11.08 16.11.15 7.67 12,386 12,386 – 12,386 C3 

Total     22,093 22,093 – 22,093 

Andrew Knight 31.01.06 31.01.09 31.01.16 8.66 8,856 8,856 – 8,856 C3 

Total     8,856 8,856 – 8,856  

No options were granted, lapsed or exercised during the period. 

Performance conditions for option vesting 
Reference Condition 

C1 Vests if EPS growth is at least RPI +3% p.a. 

C2 40% of options vest if EPS growth of RPI +12% p.a., 100% vests if EPS growth of RPI +15% p.a. 

C3 40% of options vest if EPS growth of RPI +8% p.a., 100% vests if EPS growth of RPI +12% p.a. 

Inland Revenue approved SAYE share option scheme 

Executive Director 
Date of 

grant 
Exercise 

date 
Exercise 

price 

Number 
as at 

19 August 
2006 

Granted 
during the 

period 

Exercised 
during the 

period 

Gain on 
exercise 

£000 

Number 
as at 

18 August 
2007 

Robert McDonald 27.05.02 01.07.07 £2.00 8,275 – 8,275 85 – 

The share price at the close of business on 18 August 2007 was £9.905. During the period the highest share price was £14.21 and  
the lowest was £9.01. 
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f Directors’ responsibilities
in relation to the financial statements 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Financial Statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom 
law and those International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.  

The Directors are required to prepare financial statements for each financial period, which present fairly the financial position of the 
Company and of the Group and the financial performance and cash flows of the Company and of the Group for that period. In 
preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and  
understandable information;  

provide additional disclosures when compliance with specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient to enable users to understand  
the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and  

state that the Group has complied with IFRSs, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements.  

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of 
the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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Consolidated income statement 

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

  52 weeks to 18 August 2007 52 weeks to 19 August 2006 

 Notes 

Before
exceptional

items
£m

Exceptional
items

(note 6) 
£m

Total
£m

Before 
exceptional 

items 
£m 

Exceptional 
items

(note 6) 
£m 

Total
£m 

Revenue 2 1,704.9  – 1,704.9 1,546.1  – 1,546.1 
Operating costs before depreciation and amortisation  (1,042.9) (20.3) (1,063.2) (939.8) (8.2) (948.0)
Share of post-tax profit from joint venture  1.6  – 1.6  –  –  – 

EBITDA1 2 663.6 (20.3) 643.3 606.3 (8.2) 598.1 
Depreciation and amortisation  (56.5)  – (56.5) (46.1)  – (46.1)

Operating profit  3 607.1 (20.3) 586.8 560.2 (8.2) 552.0 
Profit on sale of non-current assets  3.0  – 3.0 1.4  – 1.4 
Finance income 4 20.2  – 20.2 19.1  – 19.1 
Finance costs 5 (348.6) (10.9) (359.5) (331.1) (0.1) (331.2)
Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps 6  – 54.2 54.2  – 39.7 39.7 

Profit before taxation  281.7 23.0 304.7 249.6 31.4 281.0 
UK income tax (charge) / credit  8 (57.7) 31.4 (26.3) (54.8) 20.6 (34.2)

Profit for the financial period  
attributable to equity shareholders  224.0 54.4 278.4 194.8 52.0 246.8 

Earnings per share  9       
Basic (pence)  84.4  104.9 74.9  94.9 
Diluted (pence)  82.6  101.2 73.6  92.4 

Dividend per share paid or  
proposed in respect of the period (pence) 10 15.3   13.4 
Total dividend paid or  
proposed in respect of the period (£m) 10   40.6   35.4 

1 EBITDA represents earnings before depreciation and amortisation, profit on sale of non-current assets, finance income, finance costs, movement in fair value of 
interest rate swaps and UK income tax. 
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Consolidated statement of
recognised income and expense 

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

 

 Notes 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Income and expense recognised directly in equity:   
Actuarial gains on defined benefit pension schemes 31 26.1 33.8 
Gains on cash flow hedges  34.0 48.8 
Tax on equity component of convertible bonds   9.0 (9.0)
Tax credit related to indexation on revalued properties   15.3 5.9 

  84.4 79.5 
Transfers to the income statement:   
On cash flow hedges  (1.9) (13.3)

  82.5 66.2 
Tax on items taken directly to equity  (17.5) (20.8)

Net gain recognised directly in equity  65.0 45.4 
Profit attributable to shareholders  278.4 246.8 

Total recognised income for the period attributable to equity shareholders  343.4 292.2 

   
Effects of changes in accounting policy attributable to equity shareholders:   
Net loss on recognition of derivative financial instruments  
at fair value on first-time application of IAS 39    – (68.6)

   – (68.6)
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Consolidated balance sheet 

at 18 August 2007 

 Notes 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August
2006

£m 

Assets   
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 11 6,495.5 6,506.0 
Goodwill 12 556.2 537.8 
Intangible assets 12 157.3 163.3 
Receivables 14  – 1.4 
Retirement benefit assets 31 10.4  – 
Deferred tax assets 15 123.7 190.6 
Investments in joint ventures 34 38.1  – 
Other investments  3.5  – 
Derivative financial instruments 21 16.1 5.8 

  7,400.8 7,404.9 
Current assets   
Inventories 16 7.9 12.2 
Trade and other receivables 14 101.8 107.4 
Current income tax receivables  37.5 – 
Cash deposits used as security for loan notes 17 14.7 15.8 
Cash and cash equivalents 17 267.7 562.4 

  429.6 697.8 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 18  8.2 28.5 

Total assets  7,838.6 8,131.2 

Liabilities   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 19 (364.5) (443.7)
Short term borrowings 20 (62.2) (85.1)
Current income tax liabilities  – (15.8)
Provisions  22  (18.1) (23.7)

  (444.8) (568.3)
Non-current liabilities   
Borrowings 20 (4,771.1) (5,128.5)
Convertible bonds 20 (253.1) (242.5)
Derivative financial instruments 21 (113.0) (189.8)
Deferred tax liabilities 15 (467.7) (478.4)
Retirement benefit obligations 31 (3.7) (24.7)
Provisions  22 (41.7) (65.5)
Other liabilities 23 (6.6) (6.9)

  (5,656.9) (6,136.3)

Total liabilities  (6,101.7) (6,704.6)

Net assets  1,736.9 1,426.6 

Shareholders’ equity   
Called up share capital 24 0.1 0.1 
Share premium 26 454.7 452.4 
Equity component of convertible bonds 27 30.0 21.0 
Hedge reserve 27 (15.2) (37.6)
Other reserves 27 6.3 4.3 
Retained earnings 26 1,261.0 986.4 

Total shareholders’ equity  1,736.9 1,426.6 

On behalf of the Board 

Giles Thorley   Phil Dutton 
7 November 2007   7 November 2007 
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Consolidated cash flow statement 

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

 Notes 

52 weeks to
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to
19 August 

2006
£m 

Cash flows from operating activities   
Operating profit  586.8 552.0 
Depreciation and amortisation  56.5 46.1 
Decrease in inventories  4.5 0.9 
Decrease in trade and other receivables  11.0 47.2 
Decrease in trade and other payables  (74.0) (32.8)
Difference between pension contributions paid and amounts recognised  
in the income statement  (2.7) (34.0)
Decrease in provisions and other liabilities   (32.6) (12.0)
Share of post-tax profit from joint venture  (1.6) – 

Cash generated from operations  547.9 567.4 
Income tax paid  (18.6) (32.3)

Net cash from operating activities  529.3 535.1 

Cash flows from investing activities   
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 29 (21.1) (205.5)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   
 – acquisitions  (81.0) (65.1)
 – investments  (202.1) (139.0)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  369.9 348.7 
Proceeds from sale of other non-current assets  32.8 479.5 
Purchase of intangible assets  – (2.0)
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets  1.9 – 
Investment in joint venture  (36.5)  – 
Proceeds from sale of joint venture   – 6.8 

Net cash generated from investing activities  63.9 423.4 

Cash flows from financing activities   
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 24 2.3 79.4 
Proceeds from issue of new loans and borrowings  1,255.0 1,216.0 
Issue costs paid  (6.7) (20.9)
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds 20  – 275.0 
Costs of issuing convertible bonds 20  – (9.3)
Net proceeds from issue of derivative financial instruments  – 50.0 
Net proceeds on redemption of derivative financial instruments  5.8  – 
Repayment of borrowings  (1,745.9) (1,966.5)
Interest paid  (347.5) (319.1)
Interest received  19.6 19.4 
Repayments of obligations under finance leases  (6.9) (4.6)
Interest element of finance lease rental payments  (1.6) (1.6)
Costs of terminating financing arrangements1  (25.7) (115.1)
Decrease in cash deposits used as security for loan notes  1.1 187.0 
Dividends paid 10 (37.4) (31.5)

Net cash used in financing activities  (887.9) (641.8)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  (294.7) 316.7 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  562.4 245.7 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  267.7 562.4 

1 In the current period, costs of terminating financing arrangements represents premiums paid to redeem secured loan notes and break costs incurred to cancel 
swap arrangements associated with these loans on the prepayment of the Avebury securitisation on 21 May 2007. In the prior period, costs of terminating 
financing arrangements include outflows of £114.6m on the redemption of swaps following the repayment of £525.0m of bank loans on the acquisition of  
the Spirit group. 
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Company balance sheet

at 18 August 2007 

 Notes 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August
2006

£m 

Assets   
Non-current assets   
Investments in subsidiary undertakings 13 3,308.0 3,306.0 
Receivables 14 1,410.6 1,394.1 
Derivative financial instruments 21 0.8 5.8 
Deferred tax assets 15 0.2 – 

  4,719.6 4,705.9 
Current assets   
Receivables 14 61.2 447.3 
Cash deposits used as security for loan notes 17 14.7 14.7 
Cash and cash equivalents 17 6.5 30.4 

  82.4 492.4 

Total assets  4,802.0 5,198.3 

Liabilities   
Current liabilities   
Other payables 19 (96.9) (965.5)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 20 (14.7) (30.0)

  (111.6) (995.5)
Non-current liabilities   
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 20 (43.1) (596.3)
Derivative financial instruments 21  (0.8) (37.7)
Other liabilities 23 (3,911.9) (2,831.3)
Deferred tax liabilities 15 (0.2) (5.5)

  (3,956.0) (3,470.8)

Total liabilities  (4,067.6) (4,466.3)

   

Net assets  734.4 732.0 

Shareholders’ equity   
Called up share capital 24 0.1 0.1 
Share premium 26 454.7 452.4 
Hedge reserve 27 – 4.0 
Other reserve 27 6.3 4.3 
Retained earnings 26 273.3 271.2 

Total shareholders’ equity  734.4 732.0 

On behalf of the Board 

 

Giles Thorley   Phil Dutton 
7 November 2007   7 November 2007 
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Company statement of recognised
income and expense 

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

 

52 weeks to
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to
19 August 

2006 
£m 

Income and expense recognised directly in equity:  
(Loss) / gain on cash flow hedges (4.7) 4.7 

 (4.7) 4.7 
Transfers to the income statement:  
On cash flow hedges (1.0) 1.0 

 (5.7) 5.7 
Tax on items taken directly to equity 1.7 (1.7)

Net (loss) / gain recognised directly in equity (4.0) 4.0 
Profit attributable to shareholders 39.5 61.1 

Total recognised income for the period attributable to equity shareholders 35.5 65.1 
 

Company income statement 

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 
 

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company’s income statement has not been included in these financial 
statements. The Company’s profit for the financial year was £39.5m (August 2006: £61.1m). 



2 www.punchtaverns.com

 

52 

Company cash flow statement 

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

 Notes 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to
19 August

2006
£m 

Cash flows from operating activities   
Operating profit  1.2 0.1 
Decrease / (increase) in receivables  0.1 (0.1)
Increase / (decrease) in other payables  1.1 (0.2)

Cash inflow / (outflow) from operations  2.4 (0.2)
Income tax paid  –  – 

Net cash from operating activities  2.4 (0.2)

   

Net cash used in investing activities   –  – 

   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 24 2.3 79.4 
Proceeds from issue of new loans and borrowings  430.0 1,216.0 
Deferred issue costs paid   – (20.9)
Net proceeds from issue of derivative financial instruments  18.5 50.0 
Net costs from redemption of derivative financial instruments  (12.5)  – 
Repayment of borrowings  (1,007.5) (595.7)
Interest paid  (37.1) (43.7)
Interest received  2.1 2.3 
Decrease in cash deposits used as security for loan notes   – 0.3 
Net intercompany transfers  615.3 (626.4)
Dividends paid 10 (37.4) (31.5)

Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities  (26.3) 29.8 

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  (23.9) 29.6 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   30.4 0.8 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  6.5 30.4 
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Notes to the financial statements 

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

1 Accounting policies 
Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements presented in this document have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the 
European Union. The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union 
and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985. The Company has taken advantage of the exemption 
provided under s230 of the Companies Act 1985 not to publish its individual income statement and related notes. 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of derivative financial instruments  
to fair value, and in accordance with those parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS as adopted 
by the European Union. New standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), becoming effective during the year, have not had a material  
impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

The Group and Company financial statements are presented in sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest hundred thousand 
pounds, except where indicated. 

Changes in comparative figures 
During the current period, the provisional fair values on the acquisition of the Spirit group have been finalised. This has resulted  
in goodwill and deferred tax for the Group for the period ended 19 August 2006 being restated. The impact has been to increase 
goodwill by £34.4m, deferred tax liabilities by £49.6m and deferred tax assets by £15.2m, as shown in notes 12, 15 and 29 to  
the financial statements. 

The Company figures for the period ended 19 August 2006 have been restated to recognise the capital contributions made to its 
immediate subsidiary undertaking in respect of Company shares granted to employees of another group company in return for  
services provided. The impact has been to increase investments in subsidiary undertakings and amounts owed by group undertakings 
by £4.3m, as shown in note 13 to the financial statements. 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective 
The IASB and IFRIC issued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of these financial 
statements. They have not been adopted early by the Group and the Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these  
standards and interpretations will have a material impact on the Group’s reported income or net assets in the period of adoption. 

Effective for the Group for the financial year beginning 19 August 2007: 

Amendment to IAS 1 ‘Capital Disclosures’ 

IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’ 

IFRIC 10 ‘Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment’ 

IFRIC 11 ‘Group and Treasury Share Transactions’ 

Effective for the Group for future years: 

Amendment to IAS 23 ‘Borrowing costs’ 

IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ 

IFRIC 12 ‘Service Concession Arrangements 

IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ 

IFRIC 14 ‘The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction’ 

Note: The effective dates are in respect of accounting periods beginning on or after the date. 

Basis of consolidation 
Consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the parent company (Punch Taverns plc) and all of its subsidiaries.  

The Group’s interests in its joint ventures are incorporated in the financial statements using the equity method of accounting. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred out of the Group. Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are carried at cost, plus post-acquisition 
changes in the Group’s share of accumulated profits less distributions received and less any impairment in value of any investments,  
in the financial statements of the Company. 

All intra-group balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in full. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 

Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the fair value of  
the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at 
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  

Goodwill carried in the balance sheet is not amortised. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events  
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.  

If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary 
acquired, the gain is recognised immediately in the income statement. 

At the date of transition to IFRS, the Group elected to re-state all business combinations that took place between 1 September 1999 
and 21 August 2004, under IFRS, and restated goodwill accordingly. 
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1 Accounting policies continued
Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are capitalised at cost. Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of intangible assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Software  
3 to 10 years 

Operating leases 
Over the term of the lease 

Payments made on entering into or acquiring operating leases are accounted for as intangible assets and amortised over the lease  
term on a straight-line basis. 

Property, plant and equipment 
Properties held at 22 August 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, were revalued at that date and this revaluation is the deemed cost 
under IFRS. 

Landlord’s fixtures and fittings include removable items, which are generally regarded as within landlord ownership. These are 
depreciated in accordance with the policy detailed below. 

Property, plant and equipment assets are carried at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment 
in value. Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment, less estimated residual values, by equal 
annual instalments as follows: 

Licensed properties, unlicensed properties and owner-occupied properties 
50 years or the life of the lease if shorter 

Landlord’s fixtures and fittings, office furniture and fittings and motor vehicles 
5 to 15 years 

Information technology equipment 
3 years 

Freehold land is not depreciated. 

An annual assessment of residual values is performed and there is no depreciable amount if residual values are the same as, or more 
than, book value. Residual values are based on the estimated amount which would be currently obtainable from disposal of the asset 
net of disposal costs if the asset were already of the age and condition expected at the end of its useful life. 

Impairment
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment and if events or changes  
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. A 
review for indicators of impairment is performed annually. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. Any impairment charge is recognised in the income statement in the year in which it occurs. When an impairment loss, 
other than an impairment loss on goodwill, subsequently reverses due to a change in the original estimate, the carrying amount of  
the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, up to the carrying amount that would have resulted, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic resources as a result  
of past events. 

Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance 
sheet date. Provisions are discounted if the effect of the time value of money is material. The discount rate used to determine the 
present value reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 

Borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with the borrowings.  

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Amortised cost is calculated taking account of any issue costs and any discounts or premiums on settlement. 

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process. 

Equity instruments 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the fair value of the proceeds, net of direct issue costs. 

Convertible bonds 
On issue the debt and equity components of convertible bonds are separated and recorded at fair value net of issue costs. The fair 
value of the debt component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt. This amount  
is classified as a liability and measured on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The 
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option and is recognised in equity, net of income tax effects. The carrying 
amount of the equity component is not re-measured in subsequent years. 
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Notes to the financial statements continued

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

1 Accounting policies continued
Taxation 
Income tax expense comprises both the income tax payable, based on taxable profits for the year, and deferred tax. 

Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts except where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or where the deferred tax asset 
or liability arises on an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward 
of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised. 

Deferred tax is calculated using tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Movements in deferred 
tax are charged or credited in the income statement, except where they relate to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which 
case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. 

For properties acquired as part of a business combination, movements in the deferred tax liability resulting from indexation allowance 
are taken to the income statement until the tax base cost plus indexation allowance reaches the fair value on acquisition, and directly 
to equity thereafter for historic revaluation surpluses. 

Deferred tax balances are not discounted. 

Leasing  
Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as 
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. A corresponding liability is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease 
payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income. 

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. 

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Payments made on entering into or acquiring operating leases are accounted for as intangible assets and amortised over the lease  
term on a straight-line basis. 

Pensions 
The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes which require contributions to be made to separately administered funds. 
The asset or liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the Group’s defined benefit arrangements is the difference between 
the fair value of scheme assets and the present value of scheme liabilities. Defined benefit scheme assets are only recognised to the 
extent that they are recoverable by the Group. The cost of providing benefits under the plans is determined separately for each plan 
using the projected unit credit actuarial method. The current service cost is charged to operating profit. The interest cost and the 
expected return on assets are shown as a net amount within finance income or finance expense. The cumulative net deficits on these 
defined benefit pension schemes have been recognised in full in equity at the date of transition to IFRS and subsequent actuarial gains 
and losses are recognised in full as they occur in the statement of recognised income and expense.  

The Group also contributes to money purchase pension plans for employees. Contributions are charged to the income statement as 
they become payable. 

Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities  
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps to hedge its risk associated with interest rate fluctuations. 
Such derivative financial instruments are initially accounted for and subsequently re-measured to fair value. The fair value of the 
interest rate swap contracts is determined by reference to market values for similar instruments.  

The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if 
so, the nature of the item being hedged. For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either fair value hedges when 
they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability, or cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure 
to variability in forecast transactions. 

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between the hedging instruments and the hedged items,  
as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its 
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are 
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. 

Cash flow hedges 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised 
in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. 

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss.  

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised or no longer qualifies  
for hedge accounting. At that point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is kept in 
equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or  
loss recognised in equity is transferred to the income statement immediately. The replacement or rollover of a hedging instrument  
into another hedging instrument is not an expiry, sale or termination where such replacement or rollover is part of the documented 
hedging strategy. 
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1 Accounting policies continued
Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
Changes in fair value of any derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in 
the income statement.  

Financial guarantee contracts 
Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent movements in fair values are recognised in the income statement. 

Share-based payment transactions 
A number of employees of the Group (including Directors) receive an element of remuneration in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’). 

Equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value of transactions involving the granting of 
shares is determined by the share price at the date of grant. The fair value of transactions involving the granting of share options  
is calculated by an external valuer based on a binomial model, a beta model or the Black-Scholes model dependent upon the most 
appropriate valuation model for the individual scheme. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance 
conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of Punch Taverns plc (‘market conditions’). 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, on a straight-line basis over  
the vesting period based on the Group’s estimate of how many of the awards will eventually vest. No expense is recognised for awards 
that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting 
irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied. 

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been 
modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as 
measured at the date of the modification. 

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated 
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification to  
the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share 
dilution in the computation of earnings per share. 

The Group has taken advantage of the transitional provisions of IFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and has applied IFRS 2  
only to equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested before 1 January 2005. 

Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and 
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and VAT. All operations take place solely in the United Kingdom. 

Drink and food sales  
Revenue in respect of drink and food sales is recognised at the point at which the goods are provided, net of any discounts or volume 
rebates allowed. 

Rents receivable  
Rents receivable are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

Machine income 
The Group’s share of net machine income is recognised in the period to which it relates.  

Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amount. An estimate  
for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off when identified. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits with an original maturity  
of 3 months or less. 

Cash deposits held as security for the benefit of note holders are not classified as cash and cash equivalents. 

Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (calculated on a first in – first out basis) and net realisable value. 

Non-current assets held for sale 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and are  
not depreciated. 

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is available 
for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale and completion should be expected within 
one year from the date of classification. 

Dividend distribution 
Final dividends are recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved  
by the Company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid. 

Exceptional items 
In order to provide a trend measure of underlying performance, profit is presented excluding items which management consider  
will distort comparability, either due to their significant non-recurring nature or as a result of specific accounting treatments.  
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Notes to the financial statements continued

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

1 Accounting policies continued
Significant accounting estimates and judgements 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts  
of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  

On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgements including those relating to income taxes, deferred tax, 
financial instruments, property, plant and equipment, goodwill, intangible assets, valuations, provisions and post-employment benefits. 

Management bases its estimates and judgements on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgements about the carrying value of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily available from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions 
and conditions. 

The estimates and judgements that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are detailed below. 

Goodwill impairment 
The Group assesses whether goodwill is impaired on at least an annual basis. The recoverable amounts of the cash generating units 
(CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require assumptions 
to be made regarding future cash flows and the choice of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash 
flows. These assumptions are disclosed in note 12. Actual outcomes could vary from these estimates. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment if circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
Recoverable amounts are determined based on value-in-use calculations. 

Post-employment benefits 
The present value of defined benefit pension liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and depend on a number of actuarial 
assumptions which are disclosed in note 31. Any change in these assumptions could impact the carrying amounts of pension liabilities. 

Authorisation of financial statements
The Group’s and Company’s financial statements of Punch Taverns plc (the ‘Company’) for the period ended 18 August 2007 were 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 November 2007 and the balance sheets were signed on the Board’s behalf by  
Giles Thorley and Phil Dutton. 

Corporate information 
Punch Taverns plc is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in England. The Company’s shares are listed on the  
London Stock Exchange. 
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2 Segmental analysis
The primary segmental reporting format is determined to be business segments as the Group’s risks and rates of return are affected 
predominantly by differences in the products and services provided.  

The Group operates in two business segments; a leased estate and a managed estate. Between 19 August 2006 and 18 August 2007, 
563 pubs with a fair value of £746.1m have transferred from the managed to the leased estate.  

The Group operates solely in the United Kingdom and therefore has only one geographical segment. 

 2007 

Leased
£m

Managed
£m

Unallocated
£m

Total
£m

Revenue 845.1 859.8  – 1,704.9 
Operating costs1 (365.9) (677.0)  – (1,042.9)
Share of post-tax profit from joint ventures  –  – 1.6 1.6 

EBITDA1 479.2 182.8 1.6 663.6 
Depreciation and amortisation (17.5) (39.0)  – (56.5)

Operating profit before exceptional items 461.7 143.8 1.6 607.1 
Exceptional items (6.1) (14.2)  – (20.3)

Operating profit 455.6 129.6 1.6 586.8 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 1.5 1.2  – 2.7 

Segment result 457.1 130.8 1.6 589.5 
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries and joint ventures  –  – 0.3 0.3 
Net finance costs  –  – (339.3) (339.3)
Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps  –  – 54.2 54.2 
UK income tax expense  –  – (26.3) (26.3)

Profit attributable to shareholders 457.1 130.8 (309.5) 278.4 

1 Pre exceptional items. 

 2006 

 
Leased

£m 
Managed 

£m 
Unallocated

£m 
Total

£m 

Revenue 803.3 742.8  – 1,546.1 
Operating costs1 (367.6) (572.2)  – (939.8)

EBITDA1 435.7 170.6  – 606.3 
Depreciation and amortisation (15.3) (30.8)  – (46.1)

Operating profit before exceptional items 420.4 139.8  – 560.2 
Exceptional items (3.4) (4.8)  – (8.2)

Operating profit 417.0 135.0  – 552.0 
(Loss) / profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (0.1) 2.4  – 2.3 

Segment result 416.9 137.4  – 554.3 
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries and joint ventures  –  – (0.9) (0.9)
Net finance costs  –  – (312.1) (312.1)
Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps  –  – 39.7 39.7 
UK income tax expense  –  – (34.2) (34.2)

Profit attributable to shareholders 416.9 137.4 (307.5) 246.8 

1 Pre exceptional items. 



2 www.punchtaverns.com

 

60 

Notes to the financial statements continued

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

2 Segmental analysis continued

18 August 2007 

Leased
£m

Managed
£m

Unallocated 
£m

Total
£m

Assets and liabilities 
Segment assets 5,415.3 1,911.5  – 7,326.8 
Unallocated assets  –  – 511.8 511.8 

Total assets 5,415.3 1,911.5 511.8 7,838.6 

Segment liabilities (214.0) (181.5)  – (395.5)
Unallocated liabilities  –  – (5,706.2) (5,706.2)

Total liabilities (214.0) (181.5) (5,706.2) (6,101.7)

Net assets 5,201.3 1,730.0 (5,194.4) 1,736.9 
 

 19 August 2006 

 
Leased

£m 
Managed 

£m 
Unallocated 

£m 
Total

£m 

Assets and liabilities     
Segment assets 4,735.9 2,620.8  – 7,356.7 
Unallocated assets  –  – 774.5 774.5 

Total assets 4,735.9 2,620.8 774.5 8,131.2 

Segment liabilities (179.7) (320.0)  – (499.7)
Unallocated liabilities  –  – (6,204.9) (6,204.9)

Total liabilities (179.7) (320.0) (6,204.9) (6,704.6)

Net assets 4,556.2 2,300.8 (5,430.4) 1,426.6 

Capital expenditure 

18 August 2007 

 
Leased

£m
Managed

£m
Total

£m

Acquisition spend1 81.0 150.0 231.0 

Investment spend 116.5 84.4 200.9 

Total capital expenditure 197.5 234.4 431.9 

1 Excludes the transfer of pubs from the managed segment to the leased segment. 

Capital expenditure 

 19 August 2006 

 
Leased 

£m 
Managed 

£m 
Total

£m 

Acquisition spend1 65.4 2,484.1 2,549.5 

Investment spend 103.2 41.3 144.5 

Total capital expenditure 168.6 2,525.4 2,694.0 

1 Excludes the transfer of pubs from the managed segment to the leased segment. 

With the exception of the transfer of pubs, there are immaterial sales between the business segments. Segment assets include 
property, plant and equipment, goodwill, intangible assets, non-current assets held for sale, inventories and receivables, and exclude 
cash, while segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and exclude taxation and corporate borrowings. Capital expenditure 
comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, including additions resulting from acquisitions through 
business combinations. 
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3 Analysis of expenses 
The following items have been included in arriving at operating profit: 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Drink and food costs 516.9 495.6 
Managed pub running costs 358.5 336.4 
Leasehold rentals 51.3 45.9 
Depreciation 47.1 37.1 
Amortisation 9.4 9.0 
Other costs1 136.5 70.1 

Total costs deducted from revenue to determine operating profit 1,119.7 994.1 

1 Included within other costs are £20.3m (August 2006: £8.2m) of exceptional costs. 

Included in operating costs is the auditors’ remuneration, as follows: 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Statutory audit services   
Audit of Group financial statements 0.3 0.4 
Audit of subsidiary companies 0.2 0.2 
Non-audit related services  
Other services1  –  – 

1 In addition to auditors’ remuneration set out above, fees of £0.1m were incurred relating to refinancing (August 2006: £0.2m relating to the acquisition of 
subsidiaries (note 29)). 

4 Finance income 

 

52 weeks to
18 August

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Bank interest receivable 17.6 19.1 
Net pension finance income (note 31) 2.6 – 

Total finance income 20.2 19.1 

5 Finance costs 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Interest payable on bank borrowings 36.7 44.2 
Interest payable on loan notes1 270.8 249.7 
Interest payable on convertible bonds 22.7 15.0 
Interest payable on finance leases 1.6 1.6 
Other interest payable 3.7 2.3 
Net pension finance expense (note 31) – 0.1 
Amortisation of deferred issue costs 11.4 16.1 
Effect of unwinding discounted provisions 1.7 2.1 
Exceptional finance costs (note 6) 10.9 0.1 

Total finance costs 359.5 331.2 

1 Interest payable on loan notes is net of £15.0m credit (August 2006: £12.4m credit) for the amortisation of fair value adjustments.  
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Notes to the financial statements continued

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

6 Exceptional items 
In order to provide a trend measure of underlying performance, profit is presented excluding items which management consider will 
distort comparability, either due to their significant non-recurring nature or as a result of specific accounting treatments. Included in 
the income statement are the following exceptional items: 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Operating  
Redundancy, costs to integrate acquisition of subsidiary, licensing reform costs  
and other related one-off costs (41.8) (8.2)
Movement on property liabilities1 21.5  – 

 (20.3) (8.2)

Finance costs  

Cost of terminating financing arrangements2 (10.9) (0.1)

  

Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps3 54.2 39.7 

 

Total exceptional items before tax 23.0 31.4 

Tax  
Tax impact of exceptional items 11.7 (9.4)
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior periods4 1.7 15.0 
Release of tax provision5 2.5 15.0 
Tax credit in respect of change in tax rate6 15.5 – 

 31.4 20.6 

Total exceptional items after tax 54.4 52.0 

1 Represents the movement in property liabilities in respect of which the relevant statutory limitation period has expired (credit of £27.9m) and provision for rent 
payments following the reversion of eleven onerous leases to the Group (charge of £6.4m). 

2 Represents premiums in excess of the net book value of loans, borrowings and swap arrangements in relation to the redemption of the Avebury securitisation 
on 21 May 2007 and other refinancing.  

3 Represents the movement in the fair value of interest rate swaps which do not qualify for hedge accounting. Whilst the interest rate swaps are considered to 
be effective in matching the amortising profile of existing or planned floating rate borrowings, they do not meet the definition of an effective hedge due to  
the relative size of the mark to market difference of the swap at the date of acquisition or inception.  

4 In the current period, this represents the recognition of losses previously not recognised and adjustments following the finalisation of prior year computations 
together with changes to tax base cost information in relation to property assets. In the comparative period, adjustments to tax in respect of prior periods 
represent adjustments to current tax of £8.6m and deferred tax of £6.4m.  

5 In the current period, this represents the release of a provision following the finalisation of past tax matters. In the comparative period, the tax treatment of  
an onerous contract was clarified and the associated tax provision was released.  

6 A tax credit has been recognised in the period following the enactment of legislation in July 2007 which lowers the standard rate of corporation tax in the  
UK from 30% to 28% with effect from 1 April 2008.  

7 Employees and Directors 
Staff costs 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Wages and salaries 266.2 206.5 
Social security costs 19.2 14.6 
Share-based payments 2.0 2.4 
Other pension costs 4.8 6.3 

 292.2 229.8 
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7 Employees and Directors continued

The average number of employees during the period was as follows: 

 

52 weeks to
18 August

2007
No. 

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
No. 

Management and administration1 1,233 1,094 
Retail staff1 23,706 22,305 

 24,939 23,399 

1 Employee numbers relate to actual employees rather than full time employee equivalents. 

No employees are employed directly by the Company. 

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed in the Report on Directors’ remuneration on pages 32 to 44. 

8 Taxation
(a) Tax on profit on ordinary activities 

Tax charged in the income statement 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Current tax  
UK corporation tax – current year (ongoing items) 27.3 36.4 
UK corporation tax – current year (exceptional items) (27.3) (2.5)
UK corporation tax – adjustments in respect of prior years (ongoing items) – – 
UK corporation tax – adjustments in respect of prior years (exceptional items) (32.7) (23.6)

 (32.7) 10.3 

Deferred tax (note 15)  
Origination and reversal of temporary differences – current year 58.3 23.1 
Origination and reversal of temporary differences – adjustments in respect of prior years 0.7 0.8 

59.0 23.9 

Total tax charge in the income statement 26.3 34.2 

Tax on items (credited) / charged to equity 
In addition to the amount charged to the income statement, tax movements recognised directly in equity were as follows: 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Deferred tax  
Gain on actuarial valuation of pension liability 7.8 10.1 
Deferred tax on effective element of cash flow hedges 9.7 10.7 
Deferred tax on equity component of convertible bonds1 (9.0) 9.0 
Tax credit related to indexation on revalued properties 2 (15.3) (5.9)

Deferred tax (credit) / charge recognised directly in equity (6.8) 23.9 

Tax relating to implementation of IAS 39 – (29.4)

1 In the current period, represents the release of deferred tax on equity element of convertible bonds following agreement of tax treatment. 
2 Includes a tax credit of £8.0m which has been recognised in the period following the enactment of legislation in July 2007 which lowers the standard rate  

of corporation tax in the UK from 30% to 28% with effect from 1 April 2008. 
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8 Taxation continued
(b) Reconciliation of the total tax charge 
The effective rate of tax is lower than the full rate of corporation tax. The differences are explained below:  

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 304.7 281.0 
Tax at current UK tax rate of 30% (2006: 30%) 91.4 84.3 
Effects of:  
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior periods – (0.2)
Net effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes and non-taxable income (2.1) (0.5)
Deferred tax credit on indexation of properties (24.7) (20.1)
Short term temporary differences upon which deferred tax is not recognised – 0.7 
Exceptional tax credits (38.3) (30.0)

Total tax expense reported in the income statement 26.3 34.2 

Details of the exceptional tax credits and debits are included in note 6. 

9 Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number  
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding those held in the employee share trust, which are treated as cancelled. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (after adding back interest on 
dilutive convertible bonds) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (adjusted for the effects  
of dilutive options and dilutive convertible bonds). 

The equity portion of the convertible bonds has been assessed and its impact at 18 August 2007 is dilutive (19 August 2006: dilutive 
on basic earnings and not dilutive on adjusted earnings). 

Reconciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares are set out below: 

 52 weeks to 18 August 2007 52 weeks to 19 August 2006 

 
Earnings

£m

Per share 
amount 

pence
Earnings 

£m 

Per share 
amount

pence 

Basic earnings per share 278.4 104.9 246.8 94.9 

Effect of dilutive options – (1.2)  – (1.6)
Effect of dilutive convertible bonds 17.0 (2.5) 12.3 (0.9)

Diluted earnings per share 295.4 101.2 259.1 92.4 

  
Supplementary earnings per share figures:   
Basic earnings per share 278.4 104.9 246.8 94.9 
Effect of:   
Exceptional items (54.4) (20.5) (52.0) (20.0)

Basic earnings per share before exceptional items 224.0 84.4 194.8 74.9 

Diluted earnings per share 295.4 101.2 259.1 92.4 
Effect of:   
Exceptional items (54.4) (18.6) (52.0) (19.7)
Reverse impact of convertible bonds – – (12.3) 0.9 

Diluted earnings per share before exceptional items 241.0 82.6 194.8 73.6 
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9 Earnings per share continued

The impact of dilutive ordinary shares is to increase weighted average shares by 3.1 million (August 2006: 4.6 million) for employee 
share options and 23.3 million (August 2006: 15.9 million) for convertible bonds. 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August

2007
No. (000) 

52 weeks to
19 August

2006
No. (000) 

Basic weighted average number of shares 265,351 259,953 
Discretionary Share Plan and SAYE scheme 2,157 3,816 
Long Term Incentive Plan 881 687 
Deferred Bonus Shares 105 77 
Potential dilutive impact of convertible bonds 23,341 15,902 

Diluted weighted average number of shares 291,835 280,435 

10 Dividends

 

52 weeks to 
18 August

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Declared and paid during the year:  
Final dividend for 2006 for the 52 weeks ended 19 August 2006 of 9.0p (2005: 7.6p) 23.9 20.0 
Interim dividend for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 of 5.1p (2006: 4.4p) 13.5 11.5 

 37.4 31.5 

In addition, the Directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 18 August 2007 of 10.2 pence per share 
which will absorb an estimated £27.1m of shareholders’ funds. Subject to approval at the AGM, it will be paid on 23 January 2008 to 
shareholders who are on the register of members on 4 January 2008. These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable, 
which has still to be approved by the Company’s shareholders. 
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11 Property, plant and equipment 

 

Land and
buildings

£m 

Public house 
fixtures and 

fittings 
£m 

Other assets 
£m 

Total 

£m 

Cost or deemed cost     
At 20 August 2005 4,270.9 47.8 7.4 4,326.1 
Acquisitions during the year 2,183.4 144.9 7.2 2,335.5 
Additions 145.6 54.2 8.1 207.9 
Transfers to non-current assets classified as held for sale (5.6)  –  – (5.6)
Disposals (275.0) (18.7)  – (293.7)

At 19 August 2006 6,319.3 228.2 22.7 6,570.2 
Acquisitions during the year 140.1 3.6  – 143.7 
Additions 189.6 87.8 4.2 281.6 
Transfers to non-current assets classified as held for sale  (12.5)  (0.3)  –  (12.8)
Disposals (359.1) (27.5) (4.8) (391.4)

At 18 August 2007 6,277.4 291.8 22.1 6,591.3 

     
Accumulated depreciation     
At 20 August 2005 5.0 22.8 4.5 32.3 
Charge for the year 2.8 32.0 2.3 37.1 
Disposals (0.1) (5.0) (0.1) (5.2)

At 19 August 2006 7.7 49.8 6.7 64.2 
Charge for the year 3.4 40.4 3.3 47.1 
Transfers to non-current assets classified as held for sale – (0.1) – (0.1)
Disposals (3.6) (8.1) (3.7) (15.4)

At 18 August 2007 7.5 82.0 6.3 95.8 

     

Net book value at 18 August 2007 6,269.9 209.8 15.8 6,495.5 

Net book value at 19 August 2006 6,311.6 178.4 16.0 6,506.0 

The cost of work in progress within property, plant and equipment at 18 August 2007 was £35.8m (August 2006: £25.7m). 

The Group leases various licensed properties, offices and other commercial properties and other assets under finance leases. The  
leases have various terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. 

Included in property, plant and equipment above are motor vehicles held under finance leases with a net book value of £2.5m (August 
2006: £1.5m), fixtures and fittings held under finance leases with a net book value of £3.1m (August 2006: £5.7m) and properties 
held under finance leases with a net book value of £21.6m (August 2006: £19.9m). 

Also included in land and buildings are properties with a net book value of £6,269.9m (August 2006: £6,311.6m) over which the 
Group’s borrowings are secured by way of fixed and floating charges. 



Punch Taverns plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2007 3

  

67

12 Goodwill and intangible assets 

 

Operating 
leases

£m 

Computer 
software 

£m 

Total 
intangible 

assets
£m 

Restated 
Goodwill

£m 

Cost     
At 20 August 2005 25.0 7.1 32.1 268.8 
Acquisitions during the year 147.3 1.3 148.6 269.0 
Additions 0.4 1.6 2.0  – 
Disposals (6.0)  – (6.0)  – 

At 19 August 2006 166.7 10.0 176.7 537.8 
Acquisitions during the year 6.3 – 6.3 18.4 
Additions – 0.3 0.3 – 
Disposals (3.9) – (3.9)  – 

At 18 August 2007 169.1 10.3 179.4 556.2 

     
Amortisation     
At 20 August 2005 3.1 1.5 4.6  – 
Charge for the year 7.4 1.6 9.0  – 
Disposals (0.2)  – (0.2)  – 

At 19 August 2006 10.3 3.1 13.4  – 
Charge for the year 8.0 1.4 9.4  – 
Disposals (0.7) – (0.7)  – 

At 18 August 2007 17.6 4.5 22.1  – 

     

Net book value at 18 August 2007 151.5 5.8 157.3 556.2 

Net book value at 19 August 2006 156.4 6.9 163.3 537.8 

The acquisitions during the year to goodwill arose on the acquisition of Mill House Inns (note 29). The goodwill acquisitions in the  
prior year arose on the acquisition of the Spirit group. The provisional fair values on the acquisition of the Spirit group have been 
finalised in the current year, resulting in additional goodwill of £34.4m (note 29). The goodwill at 19 August 2006 has been restated 
to reflect this. 

Goodwill is allocated to groups of cash generating units (CGUs) based on the benefits to the Group which arise from each business 
combination. The two groups of CGUs are identified by their pub operating format (leased or managed) and this is the lowest level at 
which goodwill is monitored by the Group. The value of the goodwill was reviewed for impairment during the current financial year by 
means of comparing the recoverable amount of the CGUs to the carrying value of their goodwill. The recoverable amount of the CGUs 
was determined based on value-in-use calculations. No impairment was identified. At 18 August 2007 the goodwill assigned to the  
leased estate is £364.6m (August 2006: £268.7m) and the goodwill assigned to the managed estate is £191.6m (August 2006: £269.1m). 

Value-in-use is calculated using five year financial forecasts. Cash flows beyond this period are extrapolated using a 2.25% growth  
rate (August 2006: 2.25%) for the remaining useful life of the CGUs. This rate does not exceed the average long term growth rate  
for the market and is in line with the UK’s post-war average growth rate. The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 8% 
(August 2006: 8%). 

Included within operating leases are properties with a net book value of £151.5m (August 2006: £156.4m) over which the Group’s 
borrowings are secured by way of fixed and floating charges. 
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13 Investments in subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures 
Company

 
Total

£m

At 19 August 2006 as previously reported 3,301.7 
Restatement for capital contribution 4.3 

At 19 August 2006 as restated 3,306.0 
Additions 2.0 

At 18 August 2007 3,308.0

The figures at 19 August 2006 have been restated for capital contributions made to Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited. During the period, 
the Company made a capital contribution of £2.0m to its immediate subsidiary undertaking, Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited. 

Details of the principal subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures at 18 August 2007 are as follows: 

Name of company Nature of business 

Subsidiary undertakings owned directly:  
Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited Holding company 
All of which are directly or indirectly wholly owned subsidiaries of Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited: 
Punch Taverns (PGRP) Limited Pub operating company 
Punch Taverns (PTL) Limited Pub operating company 
Punch Taverns (Branston) Limited Pub operating company 
Punch Taverns (PML) Limited Pub operating company 
Punch Taverns (Pubs) Limited Pub operating company 
Punch Taverns (Avebury) Limited  Pub operating company 
Spirit Managed Pubs Limited Pub operating company 
Spirit Managed (Trent) Limited Pub operating company 
Spirit (Faith) Limited Pub operating company 
Spirit Group Holdings Limited Intermediate holding company 
InnSpired Group Limited Intermediate holding company 
Avebury Holdings Limited Intermediate holding company 
Broomco (3708) Limited Intermediate holding company 
Punch Taverns (PPCS) Limited Intermediate supply company 
Spirit Supply Company Limited Intermediate supply company 
Punch Taverns Finance plc Financing company 
Punch Taverns Barton Loan Company Limited Financing company 
Punch Taverns Finance B Limited Financing company 
Punch Taverns (Redwood Jerseyco) Limited Financing company 
Punch Taverns (Offices) Limited Property company 
Spirit Group Retail Limited Property company 
Avebury Group Limited Management and administration company 
InnSpired Company Limited Management and administration company 
Spirit Group Limited Management and administration company 
Joint ventures:  
Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited Property company 
Matthew Clark (Holdings) Limited (formerly Dubwath Limited) Intermediate holding company of Matthew Clark 

The Group owns 100% of the ordinary share capital and controls 100% of the voting rights of the companies listed above, with the 
exception of Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited, of which the Company indirectly owns 51% of the ordinary share capital but can 
only exercise joint control, and Matthew Clark (Holdings) Limited, of which the Company indirectly owns 50% of the ordinary share 
capital and exercises joint control. 

All companies are incorporated in England and Wales other than Avebury Holdings Limited, which is incorporated in Guernsey,  
Punch Taverns Finance B Limited, which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and Punch Taverns (Redwood Jerseyco) Limited,  
which is incorporated in Jersey. 

In addition to those investments listed above, the Group also maintains day-to-day control over Spirit Issuer Parent Limited and its 
wholly owned subsidiary, Spirit Issuer plc, a special purpose entity which was set up purely for providing financing to the Spirit group 
of companies. Therefore, although no company in the Group owns any shares either directly or indirectly in Spirit Issuer Parent Limited 
or Spirit Issuer plc, the financial statements are also consolidated into the Group financial statements in accordance with SIC 12. 

Exemption has been taken to exclude subsidiary undertakings from the above disclosure, whose results or financial position do not 
principally affect the financial statements. 
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14 Trade and other receivables 

 Group Company 

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August  
2006 

£m 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

Amounts falling due within one year   
Trade receivables 61.5 57.8  –  – 
Amounts owed by group undertakings  –  – 61.2 446.1 
Prepayments and accrued income 28.6 36.3  – 0.2 
Tax and social security receivable  – 1.0  – 1.0 
Other receivables 11.7 12.3  –  – 

 101.8 107.4 61.2 447.3 

Amounts falling due after more than one year   
Prepayments and accrued income  – 1.4  –  – 
Amounts due from group undertakings  –  – 1,410.6 1,394.1 

  – 1.4 1,410.6 1,394.1 

15 Deferred tax 
The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows: 

Deferred tax 
 Group Company 

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August  
2006 

£m 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

At beginning of period 253.4 255.1 5.5  – 
IAS 39 adjustment – (29.4) –  – 

At beginning of period as previously reported 253.4 225.7 5.5  – 
Restatement following finalisation of fair values 34.4 – – – 

At beginning of period as restated 287.8 225.7 5.5 – 
Acquisitions 2.3 (0.9) –  – 
Disposals 0.7 (19.2) –  – 
Charged / (credited) to income statement 59.0 23.9 (3.8) 3.8 
(Credited) / debited to equity (6.8) 23.9 (1.7) 1.7 
Reclassification 1.0 – – – 

At end of period 344.0 253.4 – 5.5 

Deferred tax has been restated following the finalisation of the fair values on the acquisition of the Spirit group in the previous period 
(see note 29). 

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period are shown below:  

Deferred tax liabilities 
Group

 

Accelerated
capital 

allowances
£m 

Gains on 
property 

£m 
Other

£m 
Total

£m 

At 19 August 2006 as previously reported 138.0 238.9 51.9 428.8 
Restatement following finalisation of fair values 3.3 49.9 (3.6) 49.6 

At 19 August 2006 as restated 141.3 288.8 48.3 478.4 
Charged / (credited) to income statement 12.5 (8.2) (4.6) (0.3)
Credited to equity – (15.3) (9.0) (24.3)
Acquisitions (6.5) 15.2 – 8.7 
Disposals 0.2 0.5 – 0.7 
Reclassification – – 1.0 1.0 
Transfers – 3.5 – 3.5 

At 18 August 2007 147.5 284.5 35.7 467.7 
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15 Deferred tax continued
Group

 

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances
£m 

Gains on 
property 

£m 
Other 

£m 
Total

£m 

At 20 August 2005 84.3 229.7 7.3 321.3 
Credited to income statement (6.0) (21.0) (1.9) (28.9)
(Credited) / debited to equity  – (5.9) 9.0 3.1 
Acquisitions 59.2 55.8 37.5 152.5 
Disposals 0.5 (19.7)  – (19.2)

At 19 August 2006 138.0 238.9 51.9 428.8 

Company

 

Financial 
instruments

£m 

At 19 August 2006 5.5 
Credited to income statement (3.8)
Credited to equity (1.5)

At 18 August 2007 0.2

Company

 

Financial 
instruments

£m 

At 20 August 2005 – 
Charged to income statement 3.8 
Debited to equity 1.7 

At 19 August 2006 5.5 

Deferred tax assets 
Group

 
Tax losses

£m 

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations
£m 

Financial 
instruments 

£m 
Other 

£m 
Total

£m 

At 19 August 2006 as previously reported 41.6 7.4 104.3 22.1 175.4 
Restatement following finalisation of fair values 12.8 – – 2.4 15.2 

At 19 August 2006 as restated 54.4 7.4 104.3 24.5 190.6 
Charged to income statement (20.4) (1.5) (33.1) (4.3) (59.3)
Debited to equity – (7.8) (9.7) – (17.5)
Acquisitions 6.4 – – – 6.4 
Transfers 3.5 – – – 3.5 

At 18 August 2007 43.9 (1.9) 61.5 20.2 123.7 

Group

 
Tax losses

£m 

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations
£m 

Financial 
instruments 

£m 
Other 

£m 
Total

£m 

At 20 August 2005 22.9 2.3 35.6 5.4 66.2 
IAS 39 adjustment  –  – 29.4  – 29.4 

At 20 August 2005 22.9 2.3 65.0 5.4 95.6 
Charged to income statement (9.5) (10.1) (28.3) (4.9) (52.8)
Debited to equity  – (10.1) (10.7)  – (20.8)
Acquisitions 28.2 25.3 78.3 21.6 153.4 

At 19 August 2006 41.6 7.4 104.3 22.1 175.4 
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15 Deferred tax continued
Company

 

Financial 
instruments

£m 

At 19 August 2006 – 
Credited to equity 0.2 

At 18 August 2007 0.2

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £227.1m (August 2006: £216.0m) available for offset against future 
profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £154.7m (August 2006: £138.5m) of such losses. No deferred tax asset 
has been recognised in respect of the remaining £72.4m (2006: £77.5m) of losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. 
Current legislation deems that these losses may be carried forward for an unlimited number of years. 

16 Inventories

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

Goods held for resale 7.9 12.2 

The Group consumed £237.9m of inventories during the year (August 2006: £201.4m) and charged £0.6m to the income statement 
for the write down of inventories during the year (August 2006: £nil).  

17 Cash
 Group Company

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August  
2006 

£m 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

Cash deposits used as security for loan notes 14.7 15.8 14.7 14.7 
Cash and cash equivalents 267.7 562.4 6.5 30.4 

 282.4 578.2 21.2 45.1 

Guaranteed loan notes of £14.7m for the Group (August 2006: £15.8m) and £14.7m for the Company (August 2006: £14.7m)  
are secured against bank deposits of an equal amount guaranteed by Barclays Bank plc.  

18 Non-current assets classified as held for sale 

 

18 August
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 8.2 28.5 

At the current period end, non-current assets classified as held for sale represents a number of pubs from both the leased and the 
managed estates that are individually being actively marketed for sale with varying expected completion dates. 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale at 19 August 2006 included 31 managed pub restaurants that were disposed of on  
17 September 2006, resulting in no profit or loss on disposal. 

19 Trade and other payables 

 Group Company 

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August  
2006 

£m 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

Trade payables 103.4 123.1  –  – 
Amounts owed to group undertakings1  –  – 92.8 961.1 
Other tax and social security payable 34.7 63.9 0.2  – 
Other payables2 46.2 36.4  –  – 
Accruals and deferred income 170.7 211.3 3.9 4.4 
Share of joint venture liabilities 9.5 9.0  –  – 

 364.5 443.7 96.9 965.5 

1 Amounts owed to group undertakings have been increased by £4.3m at 19 August 2006 to reflect a capital contribution (note 13). 
2 £1.2m of other payables at 19 August 2006 has been reclassified as provisions (note 22). 
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20 Financial liabilities 
 18 August 2007 19 August 2006 

 Amounts falling due Amounts falling due  

 

within 
one year

£m

after more 
than one 

year
£m

Total
£m

within  
one year 

£m 

after more 
than one 

year
£m 

Total
£m 

Secured loan notes:    
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc  31.3 2,065.4 2,096.7 31.0 1,730.0 1,761.0 
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance B Limited 4.5 1,304.9 1,309.4 4.3 1,309.4 1,313.7 
Issued by Avebury Properties Limited  –  –  – 4.3 123.0 127.3 
Issued by Spirit Issuer plc 8.0 1,340.3 1,348.3 7.8 1,348.3 1,356.1 

 43.8 4,710.6 4,754.4 47.4 4,510.7 4,558.1 

Punch Taverns plc:    
Guaranteed loan notes 2009 – issued by the Company 14.7  – 14.7 14.7  – 14.7 
Bank loans – held by the Company  – 43.1 43.1 15.3 596.3 611.6 

 14.7 43.1 57.8 30.0 596.3 626.3 

Other Group companies:    
Guaranteed loan notes 2006 – issued by other Group 
companies  –  –  – 1.1  – 1.1 
Bank loans – held by other Group companies  –  –  – 0.1 1.2 1.3 

  –  –  – 1.2 1.2 2.4 

Total interest bearing loans and borrowings 58.5 4,753.7 4,812.2 78.6 5,108.2 5,186.8 
Obligations under finance leases 3.7 17.4 21.1 6.5 20.3 26.8 
Convertible bonds – liability component  – 253.1 253.1  – 242.5 242.5 

Total financial liabilities 62.2 5,024.2 5,086.4 85.1 5,371.0 5,456.1 

The bank loans are secured by charges over various assets of certain Group companies at 18 August 2007 and bear interest at floating 
rates of interest as follows: 

Held by Punch Taverns plc LIBOR1 +1.01% (August 2006: LIBOR1 +2.01%) 
Held by other Group companies nil (August 2006: LIBOR2 +1.32%)  
1 For variable deposit terms. 
2 For 3 month deposits. 

Guaranteed loan notes of £14.7m for the Group (August 2006: £15.8m) and £14.7m for the Company (August 2006: £14.7m) are  
at floating rates of interest based on LIBOR +1.32% for 3 month deposits and are secured against bank deposits of an equal amount 
guaranteed by Barclays Bank plc. The guaranteed loan notes are repayable on demand at the option of the loan holder up to the  
final repayment dates noted above. 

On 5 July 2007 the Group concluded a debt restructure. This eliminated a large proportion of the short term Spirit acquisition facility 
and replaced it with long term securitised debt, all at effectively fixed rates of interest. 
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20 Financial liabilities continued
Secured loan notes 
The secured loan notes have been secured by way of fixed and floating charges over various assets of the Group. 

Interest is paid quarterly in arrears on all secured loan notes. Scheduled capital repayments are made quarterly on those loan notes  
that are amortising. The details for the secured loan notes, including the date of the final scheduled instalment for each class of note 
as indicated in its description are as follows: 

Issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc: 
 18 August 2007 19 August 2006 

 Amounts falling due Amounts falling due  

 

within
 one year

£m

after more
 than one 

year
£m

Total
£m

within 
one year 

£m 

after more 
than one 

year
£m 

Total
£m 

Class A1 secured fixed rate notes repayable by  
April 2022 at 7.274% per annum  – 270.0 270.0  – 270.0 270.0 
Class A2 secured fixed rate notes repayable by  
July 2020 at 6.82% per annum  – 300.0 300.0  – 300.0 300.0 
Class A3 secured floating rate notes repayable by  
April 2009 at LIBOR1 +0.32% per annum  –  –  – 31.8 53.2 85.0 
Class A3(N) secured floating rate notes repayable  
by April 2015 at LIBOR1 +0.13%  31.5 93.5 125.0  –  –  – 
Class B1 secured fixed rate notes repayable by  
April 2026 at 7.567% per annum  – 140.0 140.0  – 140.0 140.0 
Class B2 secured fixed rate notes repayable by  
July 2029 at 8.374% per annum  – 150.0 150.0  – 150.0 150.0 
Class B3 secured floating rate notes repayable by  
July 2031 at LIBOR1 +0.24% to July 2029 and  
LIBOR1 +0.60% thereafter  – 175.0 175.0  –  –  – 
Class C secured fixed rate notes repayable by  
April 2033 at 6.468%  – 215.0 215.0  – 215.0 215.0 
Class M1 secured fixed rate notes repayable by 
October 2026 at 5.883% per annum  – 200.0 200.0  – 200.0 200.0 
Class M2 secured floating rate notes repayable by 
October 2026 at LIBOR1 +1.15% to October 2011  
and LIBOR1 +2.3% thereafter  –  –  –  – 400.0 400.0 
Class M2(N) secured floating rate notes repayable by 
July 2029 at LIBOR1 +0.20% to July 2014 and  
LIBOR1 +0.50% thereafter  – 400.0 400.0  –  –  – 
Class D1 secured floating rate notes repayable by 
October 2032 at LIBOR1 +0.82% to July 2024 and 
LIBOR1 +2.05% thereafter  – 125.0 125.0  –  –  – 

 31.5 2,068.5 2,100.0 31.8 1,728.2 1,760.0 
Add: premium arising from fair value adjustment 0.9 10.8 11.7 0.8 11.7 12.5 
Less: deferred issue costs (1.1) (13.9) (15.0) (1.6) (9.9) (11.5)

 31.3 2,065.4 2,096.7 31.0 1,730.0 1,761.0 

1 For 3 month deposits. 

The Group’s debt restructure completed on 5 July 2007 and resulted in the following changes to the Punch Taverns Finance plc debt 
structure: 

The Class A3 and Class M2 loan notes were redeemed in full on 5 July 2007; and 

£825.0m of new loan notes (Class A3(N), Class B3, Class M2(N) and Class D1) were issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc. 
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20 Financial liabilities continued
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance B Limited: 
 18 August 2007 19 August 2006 

 Amounts falling due  Amounts falling due  

 

within
 one year

£m

after more
 than one 

year
£m

Total
£m

within 
 one year 

£m 

after more
 than one 

year
£m 

Total
£m 

Class A3 secured fixed rate notes repayable by  
June 2022 at 7.369% per annum  – 201.0 201.0  – 201.0 201.0 
Class A6 secured fixed rate notes repayable by 
December 2024 at 5.943% per annum  – 220.0 220.0  – 220.0 220.0 
Class A7 secured fixed rate notes repayable by  
June 2033 at 4.767% per annum  – 250.0 250.0  – 250.0 250.0 
Class A8 secured floating rate notes repayable by 
June 2033 at LIBOR1 +0.28% until June 2014 and 
LIBOR1 +0.7% thereafter  – 250.0 250.0  – 250.0 250.0 
Class B1 secured fixed rate notes repayable by  
June 2025 at 8.44% per annum   – 77.5 77.5  – 77.5 77.5 
Class B2 secured fixed rate notes repayable by  
June 2028 at 6.962% per annum  – 125.0 125.0  – 125.0 125.0 
Class C secured floating rate notes repayable by  
June 2035 at LIBOR1 +1.1% until June 2014 and 
LIBOR1 +2.75% thereafter   – 125.0 125.0  – 125.0 125.0 

 – 1,248.5 1,248.5  – 1,248.5 1,248.5 
Add: premium arising from fair value adjustment 5.4 63.5 68.9 5.2 68.9 74.1 
Less: deferred issue costs (0.9) (7.1) (8.0) (0.9) (8.0) (8.9)

 4.5 1,304.9 1,309.4 4.3 1,309.4 1,313.7 

1 For 3 month deposits. 

Issued by Avebury Properties Limited: 
 18 August 2007 19 August 2006 

 Amounts falling due  Amounts falling due  

 

within
 one year

£m

after more
 than one 

year
£m

Total
£m

within 
 one year 

£m 

after more
 than one 

year
£m 

Total
£m 

Class A1 secured floating rate notes repayable by 
February 2011 at LIBOR1 +1.15% per annum  –  –  – 2.8 12.3 15.1 
Class A2 secured fixed rate notes repayable by 
February 2024 at 7.51% per annum  –  –  –  – 60.0 60.0 
Class B secured fixed rate notes repayable by  
February 2030 at 8.36% per annum  –  –  –  – 31.0 31.0 

  –  –  – 2.8 103.3 106.1 
Add: premium arising from fair value adjustment  –  –  – 1.5 19.7 21.2 

  –  –  – 4.3 123.0 127.3 

1 For 3 month deposits. 

The loan notes issued by Avebury Properties Limited were redeemed in full on 21 May 2007. 
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20 Financial liabilities continued
Issued by Spirit Issuer plc: 

 18 August 2007 19 August 2006 

 Amounts falling due Amounts falling due  

 

within 
one year

£m

after more 
than one 

year
£m

Total
£m

within 
 one year 

£m 

after more 
than one 

year
£m 

Total
£m 

Class A1 secured floating rate debenture notes 
repayable by September 2026 at LIBOR1 +0.22%  
per annum to September 2011 and LIBOR1  
+0.55% thereafter  – 150.0 150.0  – 150.0 150.0 
Class A2 secured floating rate debenture notes 
repayable by June 2029 at LIBOR1 +1.08% per annum 
to September 2011 and LIBOR1 +2.7% thereafter  – 200.0 200.0  – 200.0 200.0 
Class A3 secured fixed / floating rate debenture  
notes repayable by September 2019 at 5.860% to 
September 2014 and LIBOR1 +0.55% thereafter  – 250.0 250.0  – 250.0 250.0 
Class A4 secured fixed / floating rate debenture  
notes repayable by March 2025 at 6.582% to 
September 2018 and LIBOR1 +2.775% thereafter  – 350.0 350.0  – 350.0 350.0 
Class A5 secured fixed / floating rate debenture  
notes repayable by December 2032 at 5.472% to 
September 2028 and LIBOR1 +0.75% thereafter  – 300.0 300.0  – 300.0 300.0 

  – 1,250.0 1,250.0  – 1,250.0 1,250.0 
Add: premium arising from fair value adjustment 8.0 90.3 98.3 7.8 98.3 106.1 

 8.0 1,340.3 1,348.3 7.8 1,348.3 1,356.1 

1 For 3 month deposits. 

Interest rate swaps 
The Group has taken out various interest rate swaps to reduce the interest rate risk associated with floating rate loans as follows: 

Punch Taverns Finance plc 
Interest rate swap agreements have been entered into which swap the LIBOR interest rate on the Class A3(N), Class B3, Class M2(N) 
and Class D1 floating rate notes to a fixed rate of 5.954%. The capital amount of these swaps reduces over time to match the 
contractual repayment profile of the floating rate notes. At August 2006 interest rate swaps were in place which swapped the LIBOR 
interest rate on the Class A3 and Class M2 floating rate notes to a fixed rate of 6.275%.  

Punch Taverns Finance B Limited 
Interest rate swap agreements have been entered into which swap the LIBOR interest rate on the Class A8 and Class C notes to a fixed 
rate of 5.1% and 4.7577% respectively. The capital amount of these swaps reduces over time to match the contractual repayment 
profile of the floating rate notes.  

Spirit Issuer plc 
Interest rate swap agreements have been entered into which swap the LIBOR interest rate to a fixed rate of 6.581% on the Class A1 
and Class A2 debenture notes and, after their respective step-up dates, 4.555% on the Class A3, Class A4 and Class A5 debenture 
notes. The capital amount of these swaps reduces over time to match the contractual repayment profile of the floating rate notes. 
Although these swaps ensure that cash flows are perfectly hedged over the life of the notes they were deemed ineffective at the time 
of acquisition of the Spirit group, in accordance with the requirements of IAS 39, and accordingly all future movements in fair value 
will be recognised in the income statement. 

Bank loans – held by Punch Taverns plc 
Interest rate swap agreements have been entered into which swap the LIBOR interest rate to a fixed rate of 4.572%. The capital 
amount of these swaps reduces over time to match the contractual repayment profile of the bank loans.  

The interest rate exposure on the guaranteed loan notes is mitigated by the interest earned on the cash deposits used as guarantee.  
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20 Financial liabilities continued
After taking account of the various interest rate swaps entered into by the Group, the interest rate exposure of the Group’s financial 
liabilities are as set out below. There are no financial liabilities other than short term payables excluded from this analysis. 

 18 August 2007 19 August 2006 

 
Fixed

£m
Floating

£m
Total

£m
Fixed 

£m 
Floating

£m 
Total

£m 

Secured loan notes:    
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance plc 2,096.7  – 2,096.7 1,761.0  – 1,761.0 
Issued by Punch Taverns Finance B Limited 1,309.4  – 1,309.4 1,313.7  – 1,313.7 
Issued by Avebury Properties Limited  –  –  – 127.3  – 127.3 
Issued by Spirit Issuer plc 1,348.3  – 1,348.3 1,356.1  – 1,356.1 

Total secured loans 4,754.4  – 4,754.4 4,558.1  – 4,558.1 

    

Punch Taverns plc:    
Guaranteed loan notes 2009 – issued by the Company  – 14.7 14.7  – 14.7 14.7 
Bank loans – held by the Company 43.1  – 43.1 611.6  – 611.6 

 43.1 14.7 57.8 611.6 14.7 626.3 

Other Group companies:    
Guaranteed loan notes 2006 – issued by other  
Group companies  –  –  –  – 1.1 1.1 
Bank loans – held by other Group companies  –  –  – 1.3  – 1.3 

  –  –  – 1.3 1.1 2.4 

Total loans and borrowings 4,797.5 14.7 4,812.2 5,171.0 15.8 5,186.8 

Obligations under finance leases 21.1  – 21.1 26.8  – 26.8 
Convertible bonds – liability component 253.1  – 253.1 242.5  – 242.5 

Total financial liabilities 5,071.7 14.7 5,086.4 5,440.3 15.8 5,456.1 

Maturity of interest bearing loans and borrowings 
The maturity profile of interest bearing loans and borrowings is as follows: 

 Group Company 

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006 

£m 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August
2006

£m 

Within one year 58.5 78.6 14.7 30.0 
Within one to two years 88.7 455.7 43.1 397.1 
Within two to five years 252.0 433.7  – 199.2 
After five years 4,413.0 4,218.8  –  – 

 4,812.2 5,186.8 57.8 626.3 

The Company has various interest and non-interest bearing loans with Group undertakings. These are detailed in note 34. 

Interest rate analysis 
The weighted average effective interest rates of interest bearing loans and borrowings, including the effect of interest rate swaps,  
at the balance sheet date are as follows: 

18 August 
2007

%

19 August 
2006

% 

Secured loan notes 6.6 6.8 
Bank loans – held by Punch Taverns plc 5.6 6.6 
Bank loans – held by other Group companies  – 6.5 
Finance leases 6.5 6.5 
Convertible bonds 9.2 9.2 

The average interest rate for Group loans and borrowings is 6.7% (August 2006: 6.9%). 

Borrowing facilities 
The Company has total bank facilities of £93.1m (August 2006: £761.6m) of which £43.1m was drawn as at 18 August 2007  
(August 2006: £611.6m).  
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20 Financial liabilities continued
Obligations under finance leases 
The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows: 

 18 August 2007 19 August 2006 

 

Minimum lease 
payments

£m

Present value 
of future 

obligations 
£m

Minimum lease 
payments

£m 

Present value 
of future 

obligations
£m 

Within one year 4.1 3.7 7.4 6.5 
Within one to five years 7.4 6.0 10.0 8.1 
Over five years 50.7 11.4 56.2 12.2 

 62.2 21.1 73.6 26.8 

Convertible bonds 
The Group issued £275.0m 5.0% convertible bonds at a nominal value of £275.0m on 14 December 2005. The bonds mature 5 years 
from the issue date and can be redeemed at that date for 107.21% (£294.8m) of their principal amount or can be converted, at the 
option of the holder, into shares at an initial conversion price of £11.782. The conversion price is subject to adjustment following 
capital distributions (whether by cash dividend, dividend in specie, scrip dividend, capitalisation issue or otherwise). The share price  
at the date of pricing of the convertible bonds in the market was £8.60. 

The fair values of the liability component and equity component were determined at issuance of the bonds. The fair value of the 
liability component was calculated using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond. The residual amount, representing  
the value of the equity conversion component, is included in shareholders’ equity as a separate reserve (note 27). 

The value of convertible bonds recognised in the balance sheet is calculated as follows: 

 £m 

Face value of convertible bonds issued on 14 December 2005 275.0 
Deferred issue costs paid (9.3)

Net proceeds 265.7 
Equity component (30.0)

Liability component at 14 December 2005 235.7 
Finance cost (note 5) 15.0 
Cash interest paid (9.3)
Amortisation of deferred issue costs 1.1 

Liability component at 19 August 2006 242.5 
Finance cost (note 5) 22.7 
Cash interest paid (13.7)
Amortisation of deferred issue costs 1.6 

Liability component at 18 August 2007 253.1

Finance cost on the bonds is calculated using the effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate of 9.23% (August 2006: 9.23%). 

21 Financial instruments 
All derivative financial instruments are held on the balance sheet at fair value; the effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
derivative financial instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating 
to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the 
income statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss. Changes in fair value of any derivative financial 
instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income statement. 

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivative financial instruments, comprise borrowings, cash and liquid 
resources. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various 
other financial instruments such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations. 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk and liquidity risk. There is no currency exposure as all 
material transactions and financial instruments are in sterling. The Group has no material exposure to equity securities or commodity price 
risk and it is the Group’s policy that no speculative trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken. There are no significant concentrations 
of credit risk within the Group. The maximum credit risk exposure relating to financial assets is represented by the carrying value as at the 
balance sheet date. The Board reviews and agrees policies for each of these risks and they are summarised below: 

Interest rate risk 
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, other than cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s income and operating  
cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. Income and cash flows from cash and cash equivalents 
fluctuates with interest rates.  
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21 Financial instruments continued
The Group finances its operations through a mixture of equity shareholders’ funds, loan notes, bonds, and bank loans. The Group 
borrows at both fixed and floating rates of interest and then employs derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps to 
generate the desired interest rate profile and to manage the Group’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations. The cash balances attract 
interest at floating rates.  

Where over-hedging arises (for example, due to early repayment of floating rate notes) the Group will seek to eliminate the over-
hedging, where this is financially practicable, either by embedding the cost in new swaps or by terminating the over-hedge. 

The Group has taken out derivative financial instruments such that 99.7% of all loans at 18 August 2007 (August 2006: 99.7%)  
were either at fixed rate or were converted to fixed rate as a result of swap arrangements (note 20) thereby largely eliminating the 
Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates.  

Whilst cash flow interest rate risk is largely eliminated, the use of fixed rate borrowings and derivative financial instruments exposes  
the Group to fair value interest rate risk such that the Group would not benefit from falls in interest rate and would be exposed to 
unplanned costs should debt or derivative financial instruments be restructured or repaid early. 

Liquidity risk 
The Group’s funding strategy is to ensure a mix of financing methods offering flexibility and cost effectiveness to match the 
requirements of the Group. The Group is primarily financed by secured loan notes, with approximately 93% (August 2006: 93%)  
of the capital balance on these loan notes being repayable after more than five years from the balance sheet date, subject to relevant 
covenants being met. The Board continues to review alternative sources of finance. The Group’s objective is to smooth the debt 
maturity profile, to arrange funding ahead of requirements and to maintain a strong credit rating so maturing short term debt may  
be refinanced as it falls due. Cash balances are invested in short term deposits such that they are readily available to settle short  
term liabilities or to fund capital additions. 

Derivative financial instruments 
The carrying values of derivative financial instruments in the balance sheet are as follows (all non-current): 

 Group Company 

 18 August 2007 18 August 2007 

 

Non-current 
assets

£m

Non-current 
liabilities 

£m

Non-current 
assets

£m

Non-current 
liabilities

£m

Interest rate swaps 16.1 (113.0) 0.8  (0.8)
Forward interest rate swaps  –  –  –  – 

 16.1 (113.0) 0.8  (0.8)
 

 Group Company 

 19 August 2006 19 August 2006 

 

Non-current 
assets

£m 

Non-current 
liabilities 

£m 

Non-current 
assets 

£m 

Non-current 
liabilities

£m 

Interest rate swaps 5.8 (152.1) 5.8 – 
Forward interest rate swaps  – (37.7)  – (37.7)

 5.8 (189.8) 5.8 (37.7)

The interest rate swaps replace the LIBOR rate on the Group’s secured floating rate loan notes and bank loans with a fixed rate. The 
capital amount of the swaps reduces over time to match the contractual repayment profile of the associated notes over their life (see 
note 20 for more detail). Of the total carrying value of the interest rate swaps £49.5m (August 2006: £53.7m) qualify as, and are 
treated as, cash flow hedges in accordance with IAS 39 and movements in their fair values are recognised directly in equity. The 
remaining £47.4m (August 2006: £92.6m) do not qualify for hedge accounting with movements in their fair value being recognised 
in the income statement. 

Fair value of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities 
With the exception of the Group’s secured loan notes and convertible bonds, there are no material differences between the carrying 
value of non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities and their fair values as at the balance sheet date. 

The carrying value of the Group’s secured loan notes at 18 August 2007 is £4,754.4m (August 2006: £4,558.1m) and the fair value, 
measured at market value or the market value of equivalent loans, of this debt at that date is £4,808.2m (August 2006: £4,753.2m). 
The carrying value of the convertible bonds is £253.1m at 18 August 2007 (August 2006: £242.5m) and the fair value, measured  
using present value of discounted cash flows, of these bonds is £255.5m (August 2006: £245.3m). 
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22 Provisions
Group

 

Compensation
payments

£m 

Onerous 
contracts

£m 

Property 
leases 

£m 
Insurance1

£m 
Total

£m 

At 19 August 2006 19.5 31.4 32.2 6.1 89.2 
On acquisitions   –  – 1.5 – 1.5 
Unwinding of discount effect of provisions 0.7 0.7 0.3 – 1.7 
Charged to income statement  – 0.4 9.1 2.3 11.8 
Utilised during the period (14.2) (11.0) (11.3) (1.9) (38.4)
Released during the period (1.5)  (3.8)  (0.7) – (6.0)

At 18 August 2007 4.5 17.7 31.1 6.5 59.8 

1 Reclassified from other payables at 19 August 2006 (see notes 19 and 23). 

Provisions have been analysed between current and non-current as follows: 

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

Current  18.1 23.7 
Non-current 41.7 65.5 

 59.8 89.2 

Compensation payments 
The compensation payments provision relates to the termination costs due in respect of a beer supply contract. The termination costs 
are payable over seven years having commenced in April 2000, and the annual amount payable can vary according to annual volume 
commitment, the percentage increase / decrease in the UK beer market and the UK Retail Price Index. 

Onerous contracts 
The onerous contracts provision relates to the termination costs for supply contracts that extend for five years. The onerous cost 
element of these contracts has been provided for based on anticipated future volumes and the difference between contract prices  
and market prices. 

Property leases 
The provision for property leases has been set up to cover operating costs of vacant or loss making premises. The provision covers  
the expected shortfall between operating income and rents payable. Payments are expected to be ongoing on these properties for  
a number of years. 

Insurance
The provision for insurance relates to insurance for which annual amounts vary according to claims made. The majority of this  
provision is expected to be utilised within five years of the balance sheet date.  

23 Other non-current payables 

 Group  Company

 

18 August
 2007

£m

19 August  
2006 

£m 

18 August
 2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

Other payables1  6.6 6.9  –  – 
Amounts owed to group undertakings  –  – 3,911.9 2,831.3 

 6.6 6.9 3,911.9 2,831.3 

1 £4.9m of other payables at 19 August 2006 has been reclassified as provisions (note 22). 

24 Share capital 

 

18 August 
2007

No. (000) 

18 August  
2007

£m

19 August 
2006 

No. (000) 

19 August 
2006

£m 

Authorised   
Ordinary shares of 0.04786p 104,479,333 50.0 104,479,333 50.0 

   

Allotted, called-up and fully paid   
Ordinary shares of 0.04786p 265,953 0.1 264,685 0.1 
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24 Share capital continued
The movements in the called-up share capital are set out below: 

 
Ordinary shares 

No. (000) 
Ordinary shares

£m 

At 20 August 2005 253,200 0.1 
Issued on exercise of share options 2,764  – 
New shares issued 8,721  – 

At 19 August 2006 264,685 0.1 
Issued on exercise of share options 1,268  – 

At 18 August 2007 265,953 0.1 

Changes in share capital 
Under the Discretionary Share Plan, 792,506 (August 2006: 2,550,940) ordinary shares were issued during the period at an average 
price of £2.79 (August 2006: £1.98) per share. Under the Long Term Incentive Plan, 372,712 ordinary shares were issued at par 
consideration (August 2006: nil). Under the SAYE scheme 38,063 and 14,799 ordinary shares were issued to employees at prices of 
£2.00 and £1.66 respectively (August 2006: 2,945 and 152,679 at prices of £2.00 and £1.66 respectively). Under the Share Incentive 
Plan, 26,457 (August 2006: 37,939) matching shares were issued at par consideration. Under the Deferred Share Bonus Plan, 23,271 
(August 2006: 19,527) ordinary shares were issued at par consideration. See note 25 for further details of these schemes. In the prior 
period, the company issued 8,721,000 new shares as part of a placing in the market. These shares were placed at £8.60. 

The issue of these shares resulted in net cash proceeds of £2.3m (August 2006: £79.4m). 

The Group issued £275.0m convertible bonds at a nominal value of £275.0m on 14 December 2005. The bonds mature five years 
from the issue date and can be redeemed at that date for 107.21% (£294.8m) of their principal amount or can be converted, at the 
option of the holder, into shares at an initial conversion price of £11.782. The conversion price is subject to adjustment following 
capital distributions (whether by cash dividend, dividend in specie, scrip dividend, capitalisation issue or otherwise). The share price  
at the date of pricing of the convertible bonds was £8.60. 

No conversions have been made as at 18 August 2007 (August 2006: £nil). 

Rights of shareholders  
All ordinary shares in issue at 18 August 2007 rank pari passu in all respects. 

25 Share-based payments 
The Company has five share incentive schemes by which Directors and employees are able to acquire shares in the Company. All of 
these schemes are equity-settled schemes. IFRS 2 has been applied to all grants of equity-settled awards after 7 November 2002 that 
had not vested before 1 January 2005. 

SAYE Scheme 
The first scheme is the savings related scheme which was open to all employees, whereby the proceeds from a ‘Save As You Earn’ 
savings contract, of either three or five years duration, are used to exercise rights to acquire shares granted at the commencement of 
the savings contract at a discount of 20% to the market value of the shares at the date of grant. Options may be exercised within six 
months of the maturity of the contract. This scheme was introduced during the period ended 17 August 2002 with a further invitation 
to join during the period ended 23 August 2003. There were no options granted under this scheme in the period ended 18 August 2007 or 
period ended 19 August 2006. 

Discretionary Share Plan 
The second scheme is a Discretionary Share Plan (DSP) whereby options are granted to senior management over ordinary shares in the 
Company, at the prevailing market price at time of grant. These options vest after a three year performance period, with performance 
targets set by the Remuneration Committee, and are then exercisable for a period of seven years. Performance targets for options 
granted on 31 January 2006 and 16 November 2005 are set on a sliding scale of earnings per share growth with 40% of options 
vesting on growth of RPI +8% per annum up to 100% vesting on growth of RPI +10% per annum. Performance targets for options 
granted on 17 November 2004 are set on a sliding scale of earnings per share growth with 40% of options vesting on growth of RPI 
+8% per annum up to 100% vesting on growth of RPI +12% per annum. Performance targets for options granted on 2 March 2004 
are set on a sliding scale of earnings per share growth with 40% of options vesting on growth of RPI +12% per annum up to 100% 
vesting on growth of RPI +15% per annum. Performance targets for options granted between 5 December 2002 and 19 August 2003 
are set at earnings per share growth of RPI +3% per annum. The options granted under this scheme prior to 5 December 2002 do not 
have performance criteria, and will vest provided the employee to whom the options were granted remains within the Group up to the 
exercise date. 

Long Term Incentive Plan 
The third scheme is a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) whereby senior management will receive conditional rights over ordinary  
shares in the Company. Eligible employees are awarded rights to the issue of a maximum number of shares at the beginning of a  
three year period, a proportion of which they will be entitled to receive at the end of that period depending on the extent to which  
the performance conditions set by the Remuneration Committee at the time the allocation is made are satisfied. Further information 
on the performance conditions of the Long Term Incentive Plan are shown in the Report on Directors’ remuneration. At 18 August 
2007 eligible employees hold rights over ordinary shares which may result in the issue of 207,833 shares on 18 November 2007, 
237,866 shares on 16 November 2008, 51,635 shares on 31 January 2009 and 468,544 shares on 13 November 2009. 
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25 Share-based payments continued
Deferred Share Bonus Plan 
The fourth scheme is a Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSB) whereby senior management receive part of their post-tax annual bonus in 
shares. These shares are held on behalf of the senior management in a trust and if certain performance and eligibility conditions are 
met then a further award of shares is made after three years. Further information is provided in the Report on Directors’ remuneration 
on pages 32 to 44. At 18 August 2007, 50,788 shares are held within the trust and eligible employees hold additional rights over 
ordinary shares that may result in the future issue of up to 43,548 on 17 November 2007, 27,117 shares on 10 November 2008  
and 32,844 shares on 13 November 2009. 

Share Incentive Plan 
The fifth scheme is a Share Incentive Plan (SIP) open to all eligible employees, whereby proceeds contributed by employees are used  
to buy shares in the Company at prevailing market values. These shares are called Partnership Shares and are held in a trust on behalf 
of the employee. For every Partnership Share bought by the employee the Company will give the employee one share free of charge 
(‘Matching Share’). The employees have to take their shares out of the plan on leaving the Group and will not be entitled to the Matching 
Share if they leave within three years of buying the Partnership Shares. If the Company awards dividends to its shareholders, the 
employee will receive a dividend on each of the Partnership and Matching Shares they hold. The Company arranges for the dividends 
to be used to buy extra shares (‘Dividend Shares’). Dividend Shares must be held in the plan for three years before they can be removed 
unless the employee leaves the Group in which case they must be taken out. The scheme was introduced in June 2004 with shares 
being acquired at market values on an annual or monthly basis. As at 18 August 2007 160,661 shares (August 2006: 134,204 shares) 
had been issued by the Company to the trust at par value. The par value of the shares issued which has been deducted from reserves  
is negligible. The market value of these shares at 18 August 2007 was £1.6m (August 2006: £1.2m). 

Fair value of share awards 
The fair value is measured using the valuation technique that is considered to be the most appropriate to value each class of award.  

Discretionary Share Plan 
There were no awards made in relation to the Discretionary Share Plan during the period. The key assumptions for awards made in  
the previous period are detailed below: 

Grant date 
31 January 

2006 
16 November 

2005 

Valuation model Binomial Binomial 
Share price at date of grant £8.66 £7.67 
Shares under option 64,257 149,996 
Vesting period 3 years 3 years 
Expected volatility 27.30% 23.29% 
Expected life 5 years 5 years 
Risk free rate 4.2958% 4.3127% 
Expected dividend yield 1.64% 1.64% 
Expectation of meeting performance criteria 100% 100% 
Fair value per option £2.34 £2.14 

Expected volatility has been calculated based on the historic volatility of the Company’s share price corresponding to the expected life 
of the option or share award. 

The expected term of the options is based on the life to the point of expected exercise. This is determined through analysis of 
historically evidenced exercise patterns of option holders. 

The risk free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life. 

Long Term Incentive Plan 
The fair value of awards made under the Long Term Incentive Plan in the year have been determined using the beta valuation model taking 
into account the TSR performance condition attached to the awards and the expected dividend yield. The estimated fair value of the awards 
made in the year is £6.18 for those awarded on 13 November 2006 (£3.83 for those awarded on 16 November 2005 and £4.34 for those 
awarded on 31 January 2006). These fair values are based on an expected dividend yield of 0.85% (August 2006: 1.64%). 

Share Incentive Plan 
The fair value of the Matching Shares issued under the Company’s Share Incentive Plan is recognised as the market value of the shares 
issued at the date of purchase. This charge is spread over the three year vesting period on a straight line basis. 

Deferred Share Bonus Plan 
The estimated fair value of the deferred bonus shares awarded in the year is determined based on the market value of shares on the 
date of grant discounted by the expected dividend yield. The estimated fair value of shares granted in the year, under this scheme,  
is £11.13 (August 2006: £7.36) based on an expected dividend yield of 0.85% (August 2006: 1.64%). 



2 www.punchtaverns.com

 

82 

Notes to the financial statements continued

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

25 Share-based payments continued
Movements in options and awards under share-based payment schemes 
A reconciliation of movements for the DSP, SAYE, DSB, LTIP and SIP schemes over the 52 weeks to 18 August 2007 are shown below: 

Discretionary Share Plan 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
No. 

52 weeks to  
18 August  

2007
WAEP1

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006 
No. 

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006 
WAEP1

Outstanding at beginning of period 3,221,888 292 5,592,898 231 
Granted during the period – – 214,253 797 
Expired during the period (40,887) 652  –  – 
Exercised during the period (792,506) 279 (2,550,940) 198 
Forfeited during the period  –  – (34,323) 546 

Outstanding at end of period 2,388,495 290 3,221,888 292 

   

Exercisable at end of period 2,015,876 218 2,532,518 204 

1 Weighted average exercise price (pence). 

SAYE Scheme 

 

52 weeks to
18 August

2007
No. 

52 weeks to  
18 August  

2007
WAEP1

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006 
No. 

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006 
WAEP1 

Outstanding at beginning of period 123,715 175 283,358 170 
Reinstated during the period 8,275 200  –  – 
Exercised during the period (52,862) 190 (155,624) 167 
Expired during the period  –  – (4,019) 170 

Outstanding at end of period 79,128 168 123,715 175 

   

Exercisable at end of period 4,137 200 14,799 166 

1 Weighted average exercise price (pence). 

Deferred Share Bonus Plan 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
No. 

52 weeks to
19 August

2006 
No. 

Outstanding at beginning of period 136,870 84,927 
Granted during the period 58,421 52,623 
Removed during the period (11,305) (252)
Expired during the period (1,924) (428)
Forfeited during the period (15,520)  – 
Released during the period (1,871)  – 

Outstanding at end of period 164,671 136,870 

Long Term Incentive Plan 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
No. 

52 weeks to
19 August

2006 
No. 

Outstanding at beginning of period 1,039,497 613,727 
Granted during the period 529,155 428,482 
Expired during the period (103,761) (2,712)
Forfeited during the period (117,090)  – 
Released during the period (381,923)  – 

Outstanding at end of period 965,878 1,039,497 
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25 Share-based payments continued
Share Incentive Plan 

 

52 weeks to
18 August

2007
No. 

52 weeks to
19 August

2006 
No. 

Outstanding at beginning of period 118,028 98,395 
Granted during the period 38,714 35,809 
Expired during the period  –  – 
Forfeited during the period (11,946) (16,176)1

Released during the period (33,198)  – 

Outstanding at end of period 111,598 118,028 

1 The brought forward SIP shares forfeited during the period ended 19 August 2006 have been restated following reassessment of the numbers by the Group’s 
Share Plan Administrators. 

Outstanding options 
Options outstanding at 18 August 2007 comprise the following: 

Discretionary Share Plan 

Exercise date 
Number of 

share options 
Exercise price 

pence per share 

27 May 2002 to 29 November 2010 1,251,230 198 
3 December 2002 to 3 December 2011 391,811 205 
5 December 2005 to 5 December 2012 251,355 194 
2 March 2007 to 2 March 2014 121,480 519 
17 November 2007 to 17 November 2014 178,469 551 
16 November 2008 to 16 November 2015 129,252 767 
31 January 2009 to 31 January 2016 64,898 866 

 2,388,495  

SAYE Scheme 

Exercise date 
Number of 

share options 
Exercise price 

pence per share 

1 July 2005 to 1 January 2008 4,137 200 
1 August 2006 to 1 February 2009 74,991 166 

 79,128  

The weighted average share price during the period for options exercised was £11.97 (August 2006: £8.76). The options outstanding 
at 18 August 2007 had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 5.1 years (August 2006: 6.1 years).  

The total charge for the year relating to employee share-based plans was £2.0m (52 weeks ended 19 August 2006: £2.4m) all of 
which related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions.  
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26 Analysis of changes in shareholders’ equity 
Group

 

Share 
capital

£m 

Share
 premium

£m 

Other reserves 
 (note 27) 

£m 

Retained 
earnings 

£m 
Total

£m 

At 20 August 2005 0.1 373.0 1.9 747.7 1,122.7 
Effect of implementing IAS 32 / 39  –  – (62.5) (6.1) (68.6)

At 21 August 2005 0.1 373.0 (60.6) 741.6 1,054.1 
Total recognised income and expense for the period  –  – 15.9 276.3 292.2 
Shares issued  – 74.1  –  – 74.1 
Exercise of share options  – 5.3  –  – 5.3 
Share-based payments  –  – 2.4  – 2.4 
Equity dividends  –  –  – (31.5) (31.5)
Equity component of convertible bonds  –  – 30.0  – 30.0 

At 19 August 2006 0.1 452.4 (12.3) 986.4 1,426.6 
Total recognised income and expense for the period  –  – 31.4 312.0 343.4 
Exercise of share options  – 2.3  –  – 2.3 
Share-based payments  –  – 2.0  – 2.0 
Equity dividends  –  –  – (37.4) (37.4)

At 18 August 2007 0.1 454.7 21.1 1,261.0 1,736.9 

Company

 

Share 
capital

£m 

Share 
premium

£m 

Other reserves 
 (note 27)  

£m 

Retained 
earnings 

£m 
Total

£m 

At 20 August 2005 0.1 373.0 1.9 241.6 616.6 
Effect of implementing IAS 32 / 39  –  –  –  –  – 

At 21 August 2005 0.1 373.0 1.9 241.6 616.6 
Total recognised income and expense for the period  –  – 4.0 61.1 65.1 
Shares issued  – 74.1  –  – 74.1 
Exercise of share options  – 5.3  –  – 5.3 
Share-based payments  –  – 2.4  – 2.4 
Equity dividends  –  –  – (31.5) (31.5)

At 19 August 2006 0.1 452.4 8.3 271.2 732.0 
Total recognised income and expense for the period  –  – (4.0) 39.5 35.5 
Exercise of share options  –  2.3 – – 2.3 
Share-based payments  –  – 2.0 – 2.0 
Equity dividends  –  – – (37.4) (37.4)

At 18 August 2007 0.1 454.7 6.3 273.3 734.4 
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27 Other reserves 
Group

 

Equity 
component of 

convertible 
bonds

£m 

Hedge  
reserve 

£m 

Other 
reserve

£m 
Total

£m 

At 20 August 2005  –  – 1.9 1.9 
Effect of implementing IAS 32 / 39  – (62.5)  – (62.5)

At 21 August 2005  – (62.5) 1.9 (60.6)
Total recognised income and expense for the period  – 24.9  – 24.9 
Share-based payments  –  – 2.4 2.4 
Equity component of convertible bonds 30.0  –  – 30.0 
Tax on equity component of convertible bonds (9.0)  –  – (9.0)

At 19 August 2006 21.0 (37.6) 4.3 (12.3)
Total recognised income and expense for the period  9.0 22.4  – 31.4 
Share-based payments  –  – 2.0 2.0 

At 18 August 2007 30.0 (15.2) 6.3 21.1 

Company

 

Hedge 
reserve 

£m 

Other 
reserve

£m 
Total

£m 

At 20 August 2005  – 1.9 1.9 
Effect of implementing IAS 32 / 39  –  –  – 

At 21 August 2005  – 1.9 1.9 
Total recognised income and expense for the period  4.0  – 4.0 
Share-based payments  – 2.4 2.4 

At 19 August 2006 4.0 4.3 8.3 
Total recognised income and expense for the period (4.0) – (4.0)
Share-based payments – 2.0 2.0 

At 18 August 2007 – 6.3 6.3 
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28 Net debt
(a) Analysis of net debt 

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August
2006

£m 

Secured loan notes (4,598.5) (4,364.6)
Bank loans (43.1) (621.9)
Convertible bonds (275.0) (275.0)

Gross debt (4,916.6) (5,261.5)
Cash and cash equivalents 267.7 562.4 

Nominal value of net debt (4,648.9) (4,699.1)

Capitalised debt issue costs 29.5 37.5 
Fair value adjustments on acquisition of secured loan notes (178.9) (213.8)
Fair value of interest rate swaps (96.9) (184.0)
Net equity component of convertible bonds1 15.4 24.3 
Finance lease obligations (21.1) (26.8)

Net debt (4,900.9) (5,061.9)

 
Balance sheet:  
Borrowings (4,833.3) (5,213.6)
Convertible bonds (253.1) (242.5)
Derivative financial instruments (96.9) (184.0)
Cash deposits used as security for loan notes 14.7 15.8 
Cash and cash equivalents 267.7 562.4 

Net debt (4,900.9) (5,061.9)

1 Represents equity component of convertible bonds less subsequent accretion of liability to redemption value on maturity. 

(b) Analysis of changes in net debt 

 

At 19 August 
2006

£m 
Acquisitions

£m 
Cash flow 

£m 

Non-cash 
movements 

£m 

At 18 August 
2007

£m

Current assets     
Cash at bank and in hand 562.4 4.8 (299.5)  – 267.7
Cash deposits 15.8  – (1.1)  – 14.7

Cash and cash deposits 578.2 4.8 (300.6)  – 282.4

    
Debt     
Borrowings (5,197.8) (132.4) 491.0 20.6 (4,818.6)
Guaranteed loan notes (15.8)  (12.4) 13.5 – (14.7)
Derivative financial instruments (184.0)  (0.1)  (5.8) 93.0 (96.9)
Debt component of convertible bonds (242.5)  –  – (10.6) (253.1)

 (5,640.1) (144.9) 498.7 103.0 (5,183.3)

Net debt per balance sheet (5,061.9) (140.1) 198.1 103.0 (4,900.9)

Net debt incorporates the Group’s borrowings, bank overdrafts, derivative financial instruments and obligations under finance leases, 
less cash and cash equivalents and cash deposits. The cash deposits are used as security for loan notes. 
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28 Net debt continued
(c) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt 

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents in the period (294.7) 316.7 
Cash outflow from change in cash deposits (1.1) (187.0)
Cash inflow from issue of convertible bonds  – (265.7)
Cash outflow from change in debt financing 491.8 771.4 

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows 196.0 635.4 

Bank and other loans of subsidiaries acquired in the period (132.5) (2,505.1)
Other non-cash movements in net debt 91.8 (163.1)

Change in net debt resulting from non-cash flows (40.7) (2,668.2)

Obligations under finance leases 5.7 (16.4)

Movement in net debt 161.0 (2,049.2)
Net debt at beginning of period (5,061.9) (3,012.7)

Net debt at end of period (4,900.9) (5,061.9)

Non-cash movements relate to amortisation of deferred issue costs and premium on loan notes and convertible bonds, the equity 
component of convertible bonds and fair value movement in derivative financial instruments. 

29 Business combinations 
Acquisition of subsidiaries in the current period: Mill House 
On 14 September 2006 the Group acquired the entire share capital of Broomco (3708) Limited, the holding company of the Mill House 
group which operated a managed estate of 82 pubs at the date of acquisition. 

From the date of acquisition to the year end, the Mill House group contributed £43.6m to Group revenues and £9.6m to EBITDA. If 
the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues for the year would have been £3.4m higher 
and Group EBITDA would have been £0.8m higher. All intangible assets were recognised at their respective fair values. The residual 
excess over the net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill in the financial statements.  

The adjustments applied to the book values of the assets and liabilities of the Mill House group in order to present the net assets  
at fair values in accordance with Group accounting principles were £16.3m, details of which are in the table on page 88. 

Acquisition of subsidiaries in the prior period: Spirit  
On 5 January 2006 the Group acquired the entire share capital of Spirit Group Holdings Limited, on a cash and debt free basis for 
£2,695.3m, including acquisition costs of £16.3m, resulting in a total consideration paid of £439.6m. The Spirit group operated a 
managed estate of 1,830 pubs at the date of acquisition. 

From the date of acquisition to the year ended 19 August 2006, the Spirit group contributed £744.6m to Group revenues and £171.6m 
to EBITDA. If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the previous financial year, Group revenues for the previous year 
would have been £480m higher and Group EBITDA would have been £106m higher. All intangible assets were recognised at their 
respective fair values. The residual excess over the net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill in the financial statements.  
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29 Business combinations continued

 20071 20062 

 

Pre-acquisition
IFRS values

£m

Fair value 
adjustments

£m
Fair values

£m

Pre-acquisition 
IFRS values 

£m 

Fair value 
adjustments 

£m 
Fair values

£m 

Goodwill 19.5 (19.5)  – 65.7 (65.7)  – 
Intangible fixed assets 4.2 2.1 6.3 147.6 1.0 148.6 
Property, plant and equipment 117.2 26.5 143.7 2,277.7 57.8 2,335.5 
Assets held for resale  – 12.0 12.0  – 569.8 569.8 
Investments in joint ventures  –  –  – 6.8  – 6.8 
Inventories 0.5 – 0.5 15.9  – 15.9 
Current taxation  –  –  – 0.6  – 0.6 
Deferred taxation  – (2.3) (2.3) 14.6 (48.1) (33.5)
Receivables 2.9 – 2.9 80.8  – 80.8 
Cash and cash equivalents 4.8 – 4.8 234.1  – 234.1 
Payables and provisions (12.8) (2.4) (15.2) (434.8) (21.6) (456.4)
Loans and swaps (132.4) (0.1) (132.5) (2,625.1) (106.5) (2,731.6)

Net assets acquired 3.9 16.3 20.2 (216.1) 386.7 170.6 

Goodwill   18.4   269.0 

Consideration   38.6   439.6 

    
Consideration satisfied by:    

Cash   26.2   439.6 
Loan notes issued   12.4    – 

Total consideration   38.6   439.6 

1 2007 fair values relate to the acquisition of Broomco (3708) Limited on 14 September 2006. 
2 2006 fair values relate to the acquisition of Spirit Group Holdings Limited on 5 January 2006. 

In the current year, the fair value adjustments primarily relate to the revaluation of freehold and leasehold trading properties and the 
recognition of deferred tax liabilities on revalued properties. 

Included in the £18.4m (August 2006: £269.0m) of goodwill recognised above are certain intangible assets that cannot be individually 
separated and reliably measured due to their nature. These items include an assembled workforce and operating synergies. 

The fair values that were disclosed in the prior year for the Spirit group were finalised at 5 January 2007. The impact was to reduce  
the fair value of net assets acquired by £34.4m due to the recognition of additional deferred tax liabilities on properties following  
the finalisation of tax base costs. The updated numbers have been shown in the table above. 

Net cash flow on acquisitions 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August

 2006
£m 

Cash paid for subsidiaries (26.2) (439.6)
Cash acquired 4.8 234.1 
Accrued fees 0.3 – 

Net cash outflow (21.1) (205.5)

Effect of acquisitions during the year on the Group cash flow statement 
Post-acquisition the effect on the Group cash flow was an inflow of £9.6m (August 2006: £158.6m), being a cash inflow from 
operations of £9.6m (August 2006: £7.5m) and a cash inflow from investing activities of £nil (August 2006: £151.1m). 
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30 Disposals
On 17 September 2006, the Group disposed of its wholly owned subsidiary Spirit Managed (Old Orleans) Limited, which operated  
31 managed pub restaurants, for consideration of £25.6m in cash. 

In the prior year, on 1 June 2006, the Group sold GRS Inns Limited for proceeds of £0.3m and on 25 June 2006 the Group sold Punch 
Taverns (Redwood Newco 1) Limited for net proceeds of £475.0m, which included settlement of £475.0m of intercompany debt. 

On the face of the cash flow, proceeds from sale of subsidiaries are presented within proceeds from sale of non-current assets and  
are net of cash disposed. 

Total net assets comprised the following assets and liabilities: 

 

20071

£m 

20062

£m 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 25.2 491.5 
Inventories 0.3 2.7 
Receivables 0.4 5.6 
Amounts owed by group undertakings – 2.5 
Deferred tax assets 0.2 0.5 
Cash 0.1 1.2 

Total assets sold 26.2 504.0 

Payables (1.0) (24.3)
Amounts owed to group undertakings repaid prior to acquisition – (477.2)
Provisions – (1.6)

Total liabilities sold (1.0) (503.1)

Total net assets sold 25.2 0.9 

1 2007 net assets relate to the net assets of Spirit Managed (Old Orleans) Limited, which was sold on 17 September 2006. 
2 2006 net assets relate to the net assets of GRS Inns Limited, which was sold on 1 June 2006, and Punch Taverns (Redwood Newco 1) Limited, which was  

sold on 25 June 2006. 

During the period, the Group disposed of a package of 869 pubs from the leased estate for proceeds of £328m resulting in a loss  
of £0.7m, which is presented within profit on sale of non-current assets in the income statement. 

31 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits 
During the previous period, the Group operated four funded defined benefit pension schemes: the Pubmaster Pension Scheme,  
the InnSpired Group Limited Scheme, the Spirit Group Pension Scheme (SGPS) and the Spirit Group Retail Pension Plan (SGRPP).  
On 6 April 2007, the InnSpired Group Limited Scheme was merged into the Pubmaster Pension Scheme. The SGPS and SGRPP  
were acquired during the previous period, on the acquisition of the Spirit group on 5 January 2006.  

The pension plans have not invested in any of the Group’s own financial instruments nor in properties or other assets used by the Group. 

The tables below illustrate the impact of defined benefit schemes on the income statement and the balance sheet and relate to the 
Pubmaster Pension Scheme, InnSpired Group Limited Scheme, SGPS and SGRPP. In the prior period, the amounts included for SGPS 
and SGRPP are for the period from acquisition of the Spirit group to the balance sheet date. 

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows: 

Analysis of amounts charged to operating costs: 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Current service cost (0.4) (0.3)

Analysis of amounts credited / (charged) to finance income / costs: 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August

2006
£m 

Expected return on assets 22.0 12.6 
Interest on scheme liabilities (19.4) (12.7)

Net credit / (charge) 2.6 (0.1)
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31 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

Analysis of amounts recognised in the SORIE in the period: 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Actual return less expected return on assets (1.7) 4.8 
Experience loss on liabilities 27.8 29.0 

Actuarial gains recognised in the SORIE 26.1 33.8 

Cumulative amounts recognised in the SORIE: 

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

At beginning of period 33.8  – 
Net actuarial gains in the period 26.1 33.8 

At end of period 59.9 33.8 

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows: 

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

Present value of scheme liabilities (373.3) (393.5)
Fair value of scheme assets 380.0 368.8 

Retirement benefit asset / (obligations) recognised in the balance sheet 6.7 (24.7)

Movements in the present value of scheme liabilities are as follows: 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Present value of scheme liabilities at beginning of year 393.5 47.7 
Present value of scheme liabilities acquired in the year  – 368.9 
Current service cost 0.4 0.3 
Interest cost 19.4 12.8 
Actuarial gains (27.8) (29.0)
Contributions paid by employees 0.1 0.1 
Benefits paid (12.3) (7.3)

Present value of scheme liabilities at end of year 373.3 393.5 

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows: 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to
19 August 

2006
£m 

Fair value of scheme assets at beginning of year 368.8 40.1 
Fair value of scheme assets acquired in the year  – 284.3 
Expected return on scheme assets 22.0 12.5 
Actuarial (losses) / gains (1.7) 4.8 
Contributions paid by employer 3.1 34.3 
Contributions paid by employees 0.1 0.1 
Benefits paid (12.3) (7.3)

Fair value of scheme assets at end of year 380.0 368.8 

Scheme assets are stated at their market values at the balance sheet date and the expected return on scheme assets is derived as a 
weighted average of the expected return on each asset class, recognising the proportions of the assets invested in each. The expected 
return on each asset class is determined after taking external expert advice and by reference to relevant equity and bond indices. 
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31 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued
The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows: 

 
18 August 

2007
19 August 

2006 

Equities 60.5% 58.7% 
Bonds 27.8% 24.5% 
Property 9.6% 8.9% 
Other 2.1% 7.9% 

The history of experience adjustments on the schemes for the current and previous financial years is as follows: 

 

18 August  
2007

£m

19 August 
2006 

£m 

20 August  
2005 

    £m 

Present value of retirement benefit obligations (373.3) (393.5) (47.7) 
Fair value of plan assets 380.0 368.8 40.1 
Net asset / (liability) in the scheme 6.7 (24.7) (7.6) 
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities 27.8 29.0 – 
Percentage of scheme liabilities 7.4% 7.4% – 
Experience adjustments on scheme assets (1.7) 4.8 4.8 
Percentage of scheme assets 0.4% 1.3% 12.0%

The expected contributions to defined benefit schemes for the next financial year, beginning 19 August 2007, are £17.5m. 

Scheme Funding 
Pubmaster Pension Scheme 
The Pubmaster Pension Scheme is a defined benefit scheme operated in the UK. The values of the scheme’s liabilities have been 
determined by a qualified actuary based on the results of an actuarial valuation as at 6 April 2004, updated to 18 August 2007, the 
balance sheet date. The mortality assumptions at the year end are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mortality 
improvements. The assumptions are that the life expectancy of a member who retires at the age of 65 is as follows: 

 
18 August 

2007
19 August 

2006 

Male currently aged 50 21.7 years 20.1 years 
Male currently aged 65 20.2 years 19.4 years 
Female currently aged 50 23.3 years 22.7 years 
Female currently aged 65 22.4 years 22.1 years 

The assumptions used in determining the valuations are as follows: 

 
18 August 

2007
19 August 

2006 

Rate of increase of salaries 4.50% 4.25% 
Rate of increase in pensions 3.00% 2.75% 
Discount rate 5.80% 5.05% 
Inflation assumption 3.25% 3.00% 
Revaluation of deferred pensions 3.25% 3.00% 
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Notes to the financial statements continued

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

31 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued 

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were: 

 

Long term 
rate of return 

expected at 
18 August 

2007 

Value at  
18 August  

2007 
£m 

Long term 
rate of return 

expected at 
19 August 

2006 

Value at 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Equities 8.00% 28.8 7.50% 19.8 
Bonds 5.50% 15.0 5.00% 10.1 
Insured pensions 5.80% 3.6 5.25% 4.0 
Property 7.00% 0.1  –  – 
Cash 5.50% 0.1 4.50% 0.1 

Total market value of assets  47.6  34.0 
Present value of scheme liabilities  (51.3)  (39.9)

Net pension liability before deferred tax  (3.7)  (5.9)
Deferred tax asset  1.0  1.8 

Net pension liability  (2.7)  (4.1)

InnSpired Group Limited Scheme 
InnSpired Group Limited operated a defined benefit scheme in the UK until the scheme was merged into the Pubmaster Pension 
Scheme at 6 April 2007. The values of the scheme’s liabilities have been determined by a qualified actuary based on the results of an 
actuarial valuation as at 5 April 2002 updated to 6 April 2007, at which point the scheme ceased to exist. The mortality assumptions  
at 6 April 2007 are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mortality improvements. The assumptions are that the 
life expectancy of a member who retires at the age of 63 is as follows: 

 
6 April 

2007 
19 August 

2006 

Male currently aged 50 23.4 years 21.9 years 
Male currently aged 65 22.1 years 21.1 years 
Female currently aged 50 25.1 years 24.6 years 
Female currently aged 65 24.2 years 23.9 years 

The assumptions used in determining the valuations are as follows:  

 
6 April 

2007 
19 August 

2006 

Rate of increase of salaries n / a n / a 
Rate of increase in pensions 3.50% 3.50% 
Discount rate 5.30% 5.05% 
Inflation assumption 3.00% 3.00% 

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were: 

 

Long term 
rate of return 

expected at 
6 April 

2007 

Value at  
6 April  

2007 
£m 

Long term 
rate of return 

expected at 
19 August 

2006 

Value at 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Equities  –  – 7.50% 7.0 
Bonds  –  – 5.00% 3.3 
Property  –  – 6.50% 0.4 
Cash and other investments  –  – 4.50% 0.2 

Total market value of assets  –  –  10.9 
Present value of scheme liabilities   –  (14.0)

Net pension liability before deferred tax   –  (3.1)
Deferred tax asset   –  0.9 

Net pension liability   –  (2.2)
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31 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

Spirit Group Pension Scheme 
The SGPS is a defined benefit scheme operated in the UK. The values of the scheme’s liabilities have been determined by a qualified 
actuary based on the results of an actuarial valuation as at 5 April 2004, updated to 18 August 2007, the balance sheet date. The 
mortality assumptions at the year end are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mortality improvements. The 
assumptions are that the life expectancy of a member who retires at the age of 65 is as follows: 

 
18 August 

2007
19 August 

2006 

Male currently aged 45 22.1 years 20.1 years 
Male currently aged 65 20.2 years 19.4 years 
Female currently aged 45 23.6 years 22.7 years 
Female currently aged 65 22.4 years 22.1 years 

The assumptions used in determining the valuations are as follows: 

 
18 August 

2007
19 August 

2006 

Rate of increase of salaries 3.25% 3.00% 
Rate of increase in pensions 3.25% 3.20% 
Discount rate 5.80% 5.05% 
Inflation assumption 3.25% 3.00% 

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were: 

 

Long term 
rate of return 

expected at 
18 August 

2007

Value at  
18 August  

2007
£m

Long term 
rate of return 

expected at 
19 August 

2006 

Value at 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Equities 8.00% 64.1 7.50% 53.7 
Government bonds 5.00% 14.7 4.50% 14.4 
Property 7.00% 9.8 6.50% 8.8 
Other 5.50% 4.1 4.50% 12.8 

Total market value of assets  92.7  89.7 
Present value of scheme liabilities  (90.4)  (97.3)

Net pension asset / (liability) before deferred tax  2.3  (7.6)
Deferred tax (liability) / asset  (0.6)  2.3 

Net pension asset / (liability)  1.7  (5.3)

Spirit Group Retail Pension Plan 
The SGRPP is a defined benefit scheme operated in the UK. The values of the scheme’s liabilities have been determined by a qualified 
actuary based on the results of an actuarial valuation as at 31 October 2003, updated to 18 August 2007, the balance sheet date.  
The mortality assumptions at the year end are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mortality improvements.  
The assumptions are that the life expectancy of a member who retires at the age of 65 is as follows: 

 
18 August

2007
19 August 

2006 

Male currently aged 45 22.1 years 20.1 years 
Male currently aged 65 20.2 years 19.4 years 
Female currently aged 45 23.6 years 22.7 years 
Female currently aged 65 22.4 years 22.1 years 
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Notes to the financial statements continued

for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

31 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

The assumptions used in determining the valuations are as follows: 

 
18 August 

2007
19 August 

2006 

Rate of increase of salaries 3.25% 3.00% 
Rate of increase in pensions 1.50% 1.40% 
Discount rate 5.80% 5.05% 
Inflation assumption 3.25% 3.00% 

The assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return were: 

 

Long term 
rate of return 

expected at 
18 August 

2007

Value at  
18 August  

2007
£m

Long term 
rate of return 

expected at 
19 August 

2006 

Value at 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Equities 8.00% 137.1 7.50% 136.1 
Government bonds 5.00% 51.2 4.50% 42.0 
Corporate bonds 5.50% 24.8 5.00% 20.7 
Property 7.00% 26.4 6.50% 23.7 
Other 5.50% 0.2 4.50% 11.7 

Total market value of assets  239.7  234.2 
Present value of scheme liabilities  (231.6)  (242.3)

Net pension asset / (liability) before deferred tax  8.1  (8.1)
Deferred tax (liability) / asset  (2.3)  2.4 

Net pension asset / (liability)  5.8  (5.7)

On the acquisition of the Spirit group in the prior period, the Group undertook to make the following schedule of contributions  
to reduce the pension scheme deficits on acquisition, as described below, over the three years to 2010. At the period end date,  
the August 2007 payment had not been made. This was paid subsequent to the period end, on 28 August 2007. 

 

SGPS 
payments 

£m 

SGRPP
payments

£m 

August 2007 6.4 6.1 
August 2008 3.4 6.1 
August 2009 3.4 6.1 
August 2010 4.4 6.1 

Total 17.6 24.4 

The pension costs for the defined contribution schemes are as follows: 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Defined contribution schemes 4.4 6.0 
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32 Operating lease commitments – minimum lease payments
Group

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases:  
Within one year 50.7 53.2 
Between one and five years 193.3 199.4 
After five years 1,038.5 1,616.4 

 1,282.5 1,869.0 

The future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases when discounted to present value are £554.6m  
(August 2006: £603.8m). 

The Group leases various licensed properties, offices and other commercial properties under non-cancellable operating lease 
agreements. The leases have various terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The Group also leases vehicles under non-cancellable 
operating lease agreements. 

The total future minimum sublease payments expected to be received are £212.8m (August 2006: £112.0m). 

The Group is a lessor of licensed properties to retailers. The leases have various terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.  

The total future minimum lease payments expected to be received are: 

 

Land and 
buildings 

18 August 
2007

£m

Land and 
buildings 

19 August 
2006

£m 

Within one year 225.7 201.9 
Between one and five years 782.7 672.5 
After five years 1,210.2 1,004.8 

 2,218.6 1,879.2 

The Company has no operating lease commitments at 18 August 2007 (August 2006: £nil). 

33 Capital and other financial commitments 
Capital commitments for property, plant & equipment  
Group

 

18 August
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

Contracted but not provided 22.2 15.3 

The Company has no capital commitments at 18 August 2007 (August 2006: £nil). 

The Company acts as guarantor for the convertible bonds issued by its wholly owned subsidiary, Punch Taverns (Redwood Jerseyco) 
Limited for sums payable or ordinary shares due under the terms of the convertible bonds. Further details of the convertible bonds  
are provided in note 20. 
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for the 52 weeks ended 18 August 2007 

34 Related party transactions 
Group
Transactions with key management personnel 
The key management personnel of the Group comprise members of the Punch Taverns plc Board of Directors and other nominated 
Senior Executives. 

The key management personnel compensation is as follows: 

 

52 weeks to 
18 August 

2007
£m

52 weeks to 
19 August 

2006
£m 

Short term employee benefits 3.3 2.4 
Post-employment employee benefits 0.2 0.4 
Share-based payments  2.0 1.7 

 5.5 4.5 

Robert McDonald and Andrew Knight, by virtue of their employment within the Punch Group prior to the demerger of the Spirit 
Group from Punch Group Limited in March 2002 are deferred members of the Spirit Group Pension Scheme. Details of their defined 
benefit pension entitlements under this scheme are disclosed in the Report on Directors’ remuneration. 

Transactions with joint ventures 
On 17 April 2007, Punch Taverns (PGE) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the acquisition of fifty percent of 
the entire issued share capital of Matthew Clark (Holdings) Limited (formerly Dubwath Limited), the holding company of the Matthew 
Clark group of companies. Under the terms of the arrangement, Punch and Constellation Europe each hold a fifty percent ownership 
in Matthew Clark. The consideration for the acquisition was £35.0m in cash from existing resources. The Group’s investment in this 
joint venture at 18 August 2007 of £38.1m includes costs of investment of £1.5m and the Group’s share of the joint ventures profit 
after tax for the period to 18 August 2007 of £1.6m. The Group had transactions of £0.1m with Matthew Clark during the period,  
all of which was owing to Matthew Clark at the period end. 

A joint venture, Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited, was acquired during the prior year as part of the acquisition of the Spirit group. 
Spirit Group Limited has paid invoices and raised sales invoices on behalf of Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited which have been 
recharged via an intercompany account. At the period end, Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited owed Spirit Group Limited £0.1m 
(August 2006: Spirit Group Limited owed Allied Kunick Entertainments Limited £0.2m). 

Year end balances arising from transactions with joint ventures 

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

Unsecured loan stock receivable 8.6 7.9 
Amounts owed from / (to) joint ventures – (0.2)

Total amounts due from joint ventures 8.6 7.7 

All rights, together with the joint venture partner, to receive interest, have been waived. 
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34 Related party transactions continued
Company
Transactions with key management personnel 
The key management personnel of the Company comprise members of the Punch Taverns plc Board of Directors. The Directors do  
not receive any remuneration from the Company (August 2006: £nil) as their emoluments are borne by other Group companies.  
The Company did not have any transactions, with the exception of transactions related to share-based payments, with the Directors 
during the financial year (August 2006: £nil). Details of these transactions are provided in the Report on Directors’ remuneration. 

Transactions with subsidiary undertakings 
The Company enters into loans with its subsidiary undertakings at both fixed and floating rates of interest on a commercial basis. 
Hence, the Company incurs interest expense and earns interest income on these loans and advances.  

 

52 weeks to 
18 August

 2007
£m

52 weeks to
19 August 

2006
£m 

Loans and advances   
Increase in loan notes owed by subsidiary undertakings 73.5 45.4 
(Decrease) / increase in loans owed by subsidiary undertakings (564.5) 781.6 
Increase in other loans and advances owed to subsidiary undertakings (78.8) (73.4)

The loans are repayable on demand but the Company will not request repayment for at least 12 months. 

Year end balances arising from transactions with subsidiary undertakings

 

18 August 
2007

£m

19 August 
2006

£m 

Receivables 1,471.8 1,840.2 
Payables (4,004.7) (3,792.4)

The amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings include £101.8m (August 2006: £103.7m) of subordinated loans which are interest 
bearing and £690.6m of loan notes, of which £564.1m (August 2006: £490.6m) are interest bearing. The subordinated loans accrue 
interest at rates ranging between LIBOR +2.5% and LIBOR +2.75%, which is capitalised quarterly in arrears. The loan notes accrue 
interest at fixed rates ranging between 12% and 15%, which is capitalised quarterly in arrears. In addition, the Company has 
intercompany loans of £214.4m (August 2006: £777.0m) owed by subsidiary undertakings that are non-interest bearing and  
£25.5m (August 2006: £25.5m) of loans owed to subsidiary undertakings that are non-interest bearing. 
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Independent auditor’s report to  
the members of Punch Taverns plc

We have audited the Group and Company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Punch Taverns plc for the 52 week 
period ended 18 August 2007 which comprise the Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated and Company balance sheets, 
the Consolidated and Company cash flow statements, the Consolidated and Company statement of recognised income and expense 
and the related notes 1 to 34. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have 
also audited the information in the Directors’ remuneration report that is described as having been audited. 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them  
in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual report, the Directors’ remuneration report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union as set out in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities. 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited in accordance 
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view, the financial statements and the part of 
the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 
4 of the IAS Regulation and whether the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.  

We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions are 
not disclosed. 

We review whether the Corporate governance statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC 
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are 
not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures. 

We read other information contained in the Annual report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. 
The other information comprises only the Directors’ report, the unaudited part of the Directors’ remuneration report, the Business 
review and the Corporate governance statement. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information. 

Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices 
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and 
judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to 
provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration 
report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our 
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the 
Directors’ remuneration report to be audited. 

Opinion 
In our opinion: 

the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state 
of the Group’s affairs as at 18 August 2007 and of its profit for the period then ended; 

the Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union as applied  
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 18 August 2007; 

the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and 

the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements. 

Ernst & Young LLP 
Registered Auditor  
Birmingham 
7 November 2007 
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Five year financial record

Group trading results 

 

IFRS
18 August

2007
as reported

£m

IFRS
19 August

2006
as reported

£m 

IFRS 
20 August 

 2005 
as reported 

£m 

UK GAAP
21 August 

2004
as reported

£m 

UK GAAP
23 August 

20031 

as reported
£m 

Revenue2 1,704.9 1,546.1 770.1 637.6 429.0 
Operating expenses before depreciation and amortisation (1,042.9) (939.8) (356.6) (298.2) (194.4)
Share of post-tax profit from joint venture 1.6 – – – – 

EBITDA2 663.6 606.3 413.5 339.4 234.6 
Depreciation and amortisation (56.5) (46.1) (13.5) (16.2) (7.2)

Operating profit2 607.1 560.2 400.0 323.2 227.4 
Profit on sale of non-current assets 3.0 1.4  –  – 2.5 
Net finance costs (328.4) (312.0) (193.2) (166.8) (116.6)

Profit before tax2 281.7 249.6 206.8 156.4 113.3 
Taxation (57.7) (54.8) (39.6) (34.9) (15.7)

Profit after tax2 224.0 194.8 167.2 121.5 97.6 

Exceptional items 54.4 52.0 (20.9) (19.0)  – 
Earnings per share:     
Basic adjusted (pence)3 84.4 74.9 66.4 48.8 39.3 

1 The period ended 23 August 2003 relates to a 53 week period. 
2 Before exceptional items. 
3 Earnings adjusted for the impact of exceptional items.  

Group balance sheets 

 

IFRS
18 August

2007
as reported

£m

IFRS
19 August

2006 
as restated1 

£m 

IFRS 
20 August 

2005 
as reported 

£m 

UK GAAP
21 August

2004
as reported

£m 

UK GAAP
23 August

2003
as reported

£m 

Property, plant and equipment 6,495.5 6,506.0 4,293.8 3,569.0 2,221.4 
Goodwill 556.2 537.8 268.8 104.6 23.5 
Intangible assets 157.3 163.3 27.5  –  – 
Other non-current assets 191.8 197.8 77.9  –  – 

Total non-current assets 7,400.8 7,404.9 4,668.0 3,673.6 2,244.9 
Current assets 429.6 697.8 527.0 323.5 241.2 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 8.2 28.5 6.4  –  – 
Current liabilities (444.8) (568.3) (500.2) (335.0) (324.7)
Non-current liabilities (5,656.9) (6,136.3) (3,578.5) (2,862.5) (1,530.1)

Net assets 1,736.9 1,426.6 1,122.7 799.6 631.3 

     
Share capital 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 
Reserves 1,736.8 1,426.5 1,122.6 799.5 631.2 

Shareholders’ equity 1,736.9 1,426.6 1,122.7 799.6 631.3 

Net debt (4,900.9) (5,061.9) (3,012.7) (2,635.1) (1,449.8)

1 The period ended 19 August 2006 has been restated to reflect the finalisation of the fair values on the acquisition of the Spirit group. 
2 Net debt at 19 August 2006 has been adjusted to include the fair value of derivative financial instruments.
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Financial glossary 

Beta model 
A model for pricing share options which applies the same 
principles as the binomial model but takes into account the 
relationship of the share price to a portfolio of a comparator 
group companies’ shares. 

Binomial model 
A model for pricing share options which applies the same 
principles as decision tree analysis by considering the  
possibilities that prices may increase or decrease by a  
pcertain percentage. 

Black-Scholes model 
A model for pricing share options using the share price, the time 
to expiration of the option, the risk-free interest rate and the 
expected standard deviation of the share return. 

Cash flow hedges 
A hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows. 

Collateralised cash 
Cash pledged as security. 

Combined Code 
The Combined Code on corporate governance sets out standards 
of good practice in relation to issues such as board composition 
and development, remuneration, accountability and audit, and 
relations with shareholders. 

Convertible bond 
A corporate bond that can be exchanged for a specific number of 
ordinary shares. Convertible bonds generally have lower interest 
rates than non-convertible bonds because they accrue value as 
the price of the underlying shares rise. Convertible bonds 
therefore reflect a combination of the benefits of shares and 
corporate bonds. 

Corporate governance 
Corporate governance describes the system by which an 
organisation is directed and controlled. 

Curtailment gains / losses 
Curtailment gains / losses arise on the curtailment or settlement  
of a defined benefit pension plan. A curtailment occurs when a 
company is demonstrably committed to make a material reduction 
in the number of employees covered by the plan or amends the 
terms of the plan such that a material element of future service  
by current employees will no longer qualify for benefits. 

Debenture notes 
A form of bond taken out by a company, which it agrees to repay 
at a specified future date and which bears interest (either fixed or 
variable) until maturity. 

Derivative financial instruments 
Financial instruments whose value changes in response to 
changes in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, 
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, or other variable, and 
are settled at a future date. 

Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share is earnings per share after allowing for the 
dilutive effect of the conversion into ordinary shares of the weighted 
average number of options outstanding during the period and shares 
from the assumed conversion of convertible bonds. 

Dividend cover 
A performance measure which shows the number of times that 
profit for the year covers dividends paid and proposed. 

Earnings per share (EPS) 
Earnings per share is a performance measure that expresses the 
earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period. 

EBITDA
EBITDA represents earnings before finance income, finance costs, 
movement in fair value of interest rate swaps, UK income tax, 
depreciation, amortisation and profit on sale of non-current assets. 

EBITDAR
EBITDAR represents earnings before finance income, finance 
costs, movement in fair value of interest rate swaps, UK income 
tax, depreciation, amortisation, rental costs and profit on sale of 
non-current assets. 

Effective interest rate method 
A method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset  
or financial liability and of allocating the interest income or 
expense over the relevant period. 

Experience gains / losses 
Changes in the valuation of a defined benefit pension scheme 
which arise when events have not coincided with the actuarial 
assumptions made for the previous valuation. 

Fair value 
The amount at which assets can be exchanged, or liabilities 
settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s 
length transaction. 

Finance lease  
A method of purchasing an asset by making rental payments 
throughout the expected lifetime of the asset. The lessee shows 
an asset and a corresponding liability in the balance sheet. Finance 
lease payments are accounted for as a reduction in the liability. 

Goodwill
Goodwill is the excess of the amount paid for a company over  
the fair value of the net assets acquired at the date of acquisition. 

IAS
International Accounting Standards 

IASB
International Accounting Standards Board 

IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards 

IFRIC
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 

Indexation allowance 
Indexation allowance is tax relief given when calculating capital 
gains which takes into account inflation based on the Retail Prices 
Index (RPI). Indexation allowance can only reduce an unindexed 
gain to nil and cannot create or increase a capital loss. 

Interest cover 
A performance measure which shows the number of times 
EBITDA and net finance income and finance cost covers the net 
finance income and finance cost. 

Interest rate swap 
A derivative financial instrument used to minimise exposure to 
changes in interest rates by payment to receive a fixed interest rate  
in exchange for a floating rate interest rate, or payment to receive  
a floating rate interest rate in exchange for a fixed interest rate. 

LIBOR
London Inter Bank Offered Rate. Interest rate quoted between 
banks which is a recognised basis for calculating a floating 
interest rate. 

Operating lease 
A method of renting assets over a period which is less than the 
expected life of the asset. The lessee does not show an asset or 
liability on their balance sheet and periodic payments are accounted 
for by the lessee as operating expenses in the period. 
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Operating result 
Profit after deducting all operating expenses including 
depreciation and amortisation. 

Over-hedge
An over-hedge occurs when the notional principal amount of  
the hedging instrument is greater than that of the hedged item. 

Net debt 
Loans, convertible bonds and finance leases net of other interest 
bearing deposits and cash and cash equivalents. 

Exceptional items 
Items which management consider will distort comparability, 
either due to their significant non-recurring nature or as a result 
of specific accounting treatments. These are separately identified 
in order to provide a trend measure of underlying performance. 

PBT
Profit before tax 

Projected unit credit method 
The accounting method used to calculate provisions for pensions. 
It includes not only the pensions and vested interests accrued at 
the date of calculation, but also anticipated increases in salaries 
and pensions. 

Securitisation 
The process of raising finance by creating a financial instrument 
secured by pooling other financial assets to back the instrument. 

Segmental reporting 
Information regarding the financial position and results of 
operations in different business areas. 

Total Shareholder Return (TSR) 
The growth in value of a shareholding over a specific period, assuming 
that dividends are reinvested to purchase additional shares. 

UK GAAP 
UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

Working capital 
Short-term disposable capital used to finance day-to-day 
operations. It is calculated as current assets less current liabilities. 
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Company information 

Registered office Company number 
Jubilee House 3752645 
Second Avenue  
Burton upon Trent  
DE14 2WF  
+44 1283 501600  

Advisers
Auditors Solicitors 
Ernst & Young LLP Slaughter and May 
No. 1 Colmore Square One Bunhill Row 
Birmingham London 
B4 6HQ EC1Y 8YY 
+44 121 535 2000 +44 20 7600 1200 
Nominated Adviser & Broker Joint Broker 
Merrill Lynch International Morgan Stanley & Co International 
Merrill Lynch Financial Centre 20 Cabot Square 
2 King Edward Street Canary Wharf 
London London 
EC1A 1HQ E14 4QW 
+44 20 7996 9777 +44 20 7425 8000 
Principal Bankers Registrar 
Barclays Bank plc Computershare Investor Services plc 
15 Colmore Row PO Box 82 
Birmingham The Pavilions 
B3 2EP Bridgwater Road 
+44 121 480 5562 Bristol 
 BS99 7NH 
 +44 870 702 0000 

Financial calendar 
Q1 Interim Management Statement 16 January 2008 
Annual General Meeting 16 January 2008 
2006 / 07 final dividend payment 23 January 2008 
Half year end 1 March 2008 
Interim results announcement May 2008 
Interim dividend June 2008 
Q3 Interim Management Statement July 2008 
Year end 23 August 2008 
Preliminary results announcement November 2008 
2007 / 08 final dividend payment January 2009 

Directors of the Company 
Peter Cawdron Chairman 
Phil Dutton Finance Director 
Mike Foster Non-executive Director 
Ian Fraser Non-executive Director 
Andrew Knight  Managing Director – Spirit  
Jonathan Paveley Commercial Director 
Randl Shure Non-executive Director 
Fritz Ternofsky Senior Non-executive Director 
Giles Thorley Chief Executive 
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